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Our North Star:

To be the leading 
supplier of regulatory 
and compliance software 
solutions globally.

Customer 
success
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Ideagen Plc
Who we are
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Ideagen at a glance
We are a SaaS business
We are a leader in the $31.2 billion1  regulatory and compliance software market, serving highly regulated industries such as 
life sciences, healthcare, financial services, aerospace and defence, and more. Our software helps companies comply with 
regulation and manage risk.

Highlights

Ideagen is headquartered in the UK, listed on the London Stock Exchange AIM market (Ticker: IDEA.L), and has key hubs in the 
UK, EU, US, Middle East and South East Asia.

+$30bn
Market 

opportunity

28%
5-year revenue 

CAGR

+6,000
corporate 
customers

28%
5-year revenue 

CAGR

83%
of revenue is 

recurring

21
Successful  

acquisitions

Revenue by Industry
Life science

Healthcare

Accounting & finance

Industrial

Government & Public Sector

Aerospace & Defence

Aviation

Other

Revenue by Geography
UK

US

Europe

RoW

Employees by Location
UK - Office based

UK - Home based

Malaysia

USA

RoW 
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What we do

Assurance: Instilling confidence in world 
class quality whilst ensuring a safe, legal 
and efficient operation that satisfies 
customers, regulators and the wider 
society.

Compliance: Ensuring adherence 
to evolving industry regulations and 
keeping abreast of legal obligations 
to avoid fines, protect corporate 
reputation and satisfy end users.

Collaboration: A cloud-based 
platform for secure, efficient online 
working between colleagues, clients, 
suppliers and project teams. Improves 
productivity, governance and visibility to 
drive more effective outcomes.

Assurance. Compliance. Collaboration.

Our software portfolio helps clients reduce costs, strengthen compliance and anticipate and manage every detail of risk.

Quality 
We help businesses manage, embed 
and centralise quality throughout 
their organisation with intuitive, multi-
functional quality software solutions.

Safety 
Our products help protect businesses 
with a unified approach to safety and 
incident management via our safety 
software solutions.

Environmental 
A cloud-based platform for secure, 
efficient online working between 
colleagues, clients, suppliers and 
project teams. Improves productivity, 
governance and visibility to drive 
more effective outcomes.

Documents 
Our document management solutions 
help companies control data, secure 
information streams and connect 
their business to a single source of 
truth.

Audit 
We help businesses modernise their 
approach to governance, risk and 
compliance. From assessing individual 
business processes to fully risk-based 
internal audits, we have a solution to 
suit every need.

Regulatory 
Our regulatory compliance software 
solutions help businesses ease the 
compliance burden, embed good 
practice and meet legal requirements.

Risk 
Our risk software solutions provide 
actionable insights to enhance 
operational efficiency and facilitate 
stronger governance, performance 
and accountability.

Governance 
We help businesses to ensure they 
comply with relevant legislation and 
make good governance easier to 
achieve.

Sustainability 
Our software solutions help 
businesses embed sustainable 
practices at the heart of their 
organisation.
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Non-Executive Chairman’s Review

Chair’s statement
A successful year
It is with great pleasure that I write my first annual statement as Chairman and share with you my reflections on our 2021 financial 
year. To grow so significantly, despite the unprecedented disruption from the greatest global crisis in decades, underlines the 
resilience and sustainability of the Group’s business model.  It was another year of progress for Ideagen, reflecting the quality of 
our commercial proposition, processes and the talent and commitment of our people.  

I would like to take this opportunity to recognise the contribution of David Hornsby to Ideagen following his retirement as Executive 
Chairman in May 2021. David’s tenure is exceptional in current times, serving as Executive Chairman for three years, and before 
that CEO for nine years. As part of these changes, I became Non-Executive Chair, and Ben Dorks (CEO) and Emma Hayes (CFO) 
took on David’s executive responsibilities. David’s legacy is a strong leadership team with a clear strategy to grow Ideagen in the 
highly attractive compliance software market.  

Positioned for sustainable growth
The compliance software market in which Ideagen is a leader, is global and highly attractive. Simply put, Ideagen serves 
businesses which have to meet ever-more complex regulatory and compliance requirements. This is a long-term, structural 
growth driver which is accelerating.    

Evolving our leadership
Ideagen strengthened its leadership with the appointment of Emma Hayes as CFO in July 2020. Emma has added significant 
expertise to the leadership team and Board from her previous roles including Group Finance Director - Capital Delivery & 
Commercial at Severn Trent, and corporate finance adviser at Deloitte.  

Governance
My role at Ideagen is to ensure a disciplined and rigorous approach to governance.  I have been impressed by the leadership 
within the Group since joining the Board in 2019. The Board was delighted to welcome Julian Clough as a Non-Executive Director 
in November 2020. Julian adds considerable experience of the audit and financial services sectors from a 40-year career at a 
number of leading accountancy firms.  As previously announced, Alan Carroll has agreed to postpone his planned retirement 
as a Non-Executive Director of the Group to provide continuity and maintain levels of experienced Non-Executive board 
representation. During the year Barnaby Kent stood down from the Board as a statutory director.  He remains a member of the 
Group’s senior leadership team as Chief Operating Officer.

Acquisitions
Ideagen completed three acquisitions during the year, for a combined consideration of approximately £54m.  Our shareholders 
share the Board’s confidence in the strength of our business model and the opportunity ahead, as shown by the successful 
placing and open offer in December 2020, which raised gross proceeds of £49m and was heavily over-subscribed. Our acquisition 
pipeline remains healthy. The Board evaluates each acquisition on its merits to ensure it represents good use of Ideagen’s financial 
resources and will support the Group’s long-term strategy.

Financial progress and dividends
I am pleased to announce that Ideagen grew revenues and EBITDA by 16% and 24% respectively during the year, and met 
external performance expectations.  

The Board’s confidence in the Group is reflected in a recommended final dividend of 0.25p per share giving a total dividend for 
the year of 0.37p, an increase of 15.6%. The final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the forthcoming AGM and will 
be paid on 24th November 2021 to shareholders on the register by 5th November.  The corresponding ex-dividend date is 4th 
November 2021. 

Summary
I would like to thank all Ideagen stakeholders especially all Ideagen employees around the world who have had to cope with 
an extraordinary working environment. Also, our customers and our investors who in combination have all helped to build our 
business in an important year for Ideagen.  
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Non-Executive Chairman’s Review

2020/21 has been another successful year for Ideagen, marking the 12th successive year of growth. Ideagen’s leadership team, 
strategy and goals are focused on continuing to drive organic growth within the compliance software market, which continues 
to offer new opportunities for the Group and its products. The Group is in a very strong financial position with the resources and 
flexibility to support growth organically and by acquisition. In this light, I have every confidence in the outlook and prospects of 
the business for the future.

 

Richard Longdon 
Non-Executive Chairman 
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Chief Executive Officer’s review 
Purpose and business model
Ideagen has a clear and simple purpose. We make it easier and more cost effective for businesses to comply with regulations 
and mitigate risk: contributing where it matters for our clients.  

This purpose is reflected in our business model.  

We focus on three areas – Assurance, Compliance and Collaboration. Assurance: Helping our customers to maintain safe, 
legal and efficient operations that satisfy customers, regulators and the wider society. Compliance: Helping our customers to 
navigate confidently through ever-changing industry regulations that apply to them and how best to meet their obligations.  
Collaboration: Our customers can work together in a secure virtual workspace platform, connecting people from multiple diverse 
locations to make project delivery faster and more efficient.

Our software helps companies manage many areas of risk and compliance by solving complex quality, risk, audit, and compliance 
challenges. Our customers operate in highly regulated industries including life sciences, healthcare, aviation, banking and finance 
and insurance.  

Market opportunity and growth strategy
Ideagen is a leader in the $31.2 billion2  regulation and compliance software market.

Businesses around the world need innovative software and services to help them meet increasingly stringent compliance, quality, 
safety, and regulatory risk requirements. This is the fundamental structural growth driver for Ideagen.

We are set up to deliver sustainable long-term growth, organically and via acquisitions, to build our leadership in the global 
compliance software market.

To capture this market opportunity, we have built our business around three core pillars: our People, our Customers and our 
Products. These pillars are the foundation of our culture.  We invest in our people to build great products for our customers. These 
customers in turn provide the revenue to feed back into the cycle for continuous improvement of our people, our products and 
then back onto our customers.

We continue to invest in product development to ensure we are at the heart of the accelerating shift towards a cloud and 
subscription economy. We ensure consistent delivery across all our platforms, unified under and distributed through Ideagen 
Common Services Architecture (ICSA) and licensed software technology to deliver world class governance, risk and compliance 
outcomes for our customers on a long-term basis. ICSA provides a common user interface for all products integrated in the 
platform, delivering consistency in service delivery and user experience.   

SaaS model driving organic growth
Ideagen’s SaaS model drives organic growth, greater visibility of revenues and higher quality of earnings. We see recurring 
revenue as our primary metric and driver for long-term value.  ARR recognised during the financial year was up 26% to £54.2 
million (2020: £43.1 million), and now accounts for 83% of total revenues (2020: 76%). 

The ARR book of contracted revenue to be recognised over the coming 12 months increased by 50%, reflecting strong organic 
growth of approximately 13% in addition to acquisitions. 

The Group reported total revenue up 16%, and adjusted EBITDA up 24% to £22.9 million, with organic growth driven by expanding 
existing customers and winning new customers in core sectors such as Life Sciences, Healthcare and Financial Services. The 
Group won approximately 550 new customers this year, including global leaders such as the World Health Organisation, Baker 
Tilly, Voyageur, PHI Aviation and Sipchem. In the financial year Ideagen grew international revenues by 13%, which account for 
56% of total revenues.

Our SaaS model also supports excellent cash generation.  Operational cashflow was 109% of adjusted EBITDA. Ideagen is in an 
excellent position to fund organic growth and pursue its strategy of acquiring businesses that extend or reinforce its leadership 
in compliance software for regulated industries, with a robust balance sheet and net debt at the period end of £11.0 million. This 
platform for investment is further strengthened by our recent refinancing. Ideagen now has total available debt facilities of up 
to £100 million.
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Chief Executive Officer’s Review

Consolidating a fragmented market
To complement our market leadership, we have made 21 acquisitions in just over a decade as part of our consolidation of a 
fragmented market. Ideagen has a track record of adding technological innovation in the regulatory and compliance market, 
improved speed to market, and superior access to markets and customers via acquisition.  

Ideagen remains committed to the active integration of every acquisition, based on a proven 72-point framework. Our model is 
designed to enable all parts of our company to replicate best practice, share domain expertise, benefit from our integrated IT, 
finance and support functions and centralised infrastructure.

Ideagen made three acquisitions in the year, for a combined consideration of c.£54m.  

To further strengthen our current QMS platforms, we acquired Qualsys, a fast-growing supplier of cloud-based Quality 
Management Software to a number of highly regulated industries, serving customers such as Diageo, Unilever, Honeywell and BT.  

To integrate with PleaseReview and support ongoing demand to meet regulatory requirements and the increased need for 
people to be able to work collaboratively from multiple locations, we acquired Huddle, a leading supplier of SaaS based 
regulated collaboration software primarily in the UK and USA.  Huddle serves customers such as the Department of Defense, the 
UK Home Office, and EDF Energy.

To support our growth in the key US market, and enhance our existing offering, we acquired Qualtrax, whose software products 
help companies meet their assurance obligations. Qualtrax has 340 customers including Colorado Bureau of Investigation.  
Qualtrax’s Chief Executive Officer has moved into a new position within Ideagen, Senior Vice President for North America. This 
provides in geography leadership across our US operations from someone with sector experience and a proven track record, 
creating a strong structure with which to grow our North American business.   

On track for long-term targets
Ideagen has a clear and long-term plan to grow at pace by increasing the level of recurring revenue, generating strong, 
sustainable EBITDA margins and converting high levels of cash. Organic growth is at the heart of this plan, with strategically 
complementary acquisitions fuelling the pace of growth. 

Ideagen’s long-term plan is to build upon its SaaS business model and market leadership in quality, risk, audit, and compliance 
software in the next three years.  

COVID
Given the unprecedented economic and social disruption that COVID-19 created, we are pleased with the Company’s resilient 
performance and robust position this year. This reflects the resilience of the Group’s business model, the defensive markets in 
which we operate and, most importantly, the character and determination of our employees.

We acted swiftly and decisively to realign our cost model to prevailing trading patterns at the beginning of our financial year, 
including pragmatic measures to reduce our annual cost base by approximately £4 million. A small level of UK Government 
support was claimed at the start of the pandemic via the furlough scheme (£0.1 million) but was repaid in full during the year.

I am particularly proud of the way the Ideagen team has pulled together through various lockdowns, during which the health 
and safety of our employees has been our primary concern. Our colleagues moved to a home working environment and our 
offices remained closed throughout the majority of our 2021 financial year, opening only when it was safe to do so in order to 
provide a place for those who wanted to work in the office for personal and mental health reasons. The business continues to 
operate effectively due to our tight integration and investment in cloud-based IT infrastructure and our business continuity and 
risk management plan is available to all customers via our customer portal.

Ideagen’s model is also well placed for a post-COVID world: it is highly resilient, focused on organic growth and the fragmented 
market offers opportunities to extend Ideagen’s market position via acquisition.
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Chief Executive Officer’s Review

Environmental, Sustainability and Governance 
Ideagen is intrinsically linked with the values that are known collectively as ESG and its products enable customers to support 
their own purpose and goals in these areas. In the ESG Report we are proud to report progress made during the year across a 
range of environmental, social and governance measures and excited to announce an ambitious carbon reduction plan that 
will take us to Net Zero status by 2030. We have also committed to Think Big a long-term social mobility and tech-inclusion 
programme, the first of its kind for Ideagen, which will be delivered in conjunction with the Nottingham Forest Community Trust.    

Current trading and outlook
Trading for the year has started well and is in line with management expectations, supported by high levels of recurring revenue 
from our 6,000-strong customer base.  We are in an excellent position to fund acquisitions, based on the strength of our balance 
sheet and cash generation, as we pursue a healthy acquisition pipeline. We remain confident of the Group’s prospects for the 
future based upon the structural drivers and market opportunity in the sector, as well as the continued execution of the Group’s 
strategy.  We look forward to updating shareholders on progress during our 2022 financial year.

 

Ben Dorks 
Chief Executive Officer 



12 12 

Whilst carrying out numerous initiatives for Rugby’s growing number of residents, Rugby Borough 
Council must also manage a wide spectrum of risks. Christopher Trezise is responsible for risk 
management, performance and action planning across all the Council’s 33 departments.  

“There are three areas of risk that the organisation must continually monitor. We have our strategic risks, operational risks and 
COVID-related risks where we look to mitigate issues arising from the current pandemic.” 

As a local authority, risk management is high on the agenda and one of the most important functions within the Council. 

The challenge 
From a services perspective, Rugby Borough Council must meet 
the ever-increasing demands of the local community. Activity is 
being managed by 33 departments under eight different service 
areas and the Council required a robust communication and 
reporting tool that would provide full visibility of risks.

“To allow us to report as a whole, we needed to be able to pull 
together information from all areas. With a system to facilitate a 
golden thread reporting line, we’d be able to see everything from 
the Executive Director’s office all the way down to lower levels of 
performance.” 

The solution 
As the lead administrator of the Pentana Risk system, Christopher 
explains how his team use the solution: “I use Pentana Risk to 
ensure everything is up to date for the different managers as well 
as conducting the quality performance reporting which takes 
place each quarter.”  

“Since we also do our risk assessments on a quarterly basis, our 
team provides guidance to those who use the system less frequently, to ensure information is recorded accurately and actions 
are carried out as required. 

“Having invested in a site licence, anyone at the Council can use the software - from our senior management team to the heads 
of each department and even our counsellors, who are key stakeholders. Some users require access for read-only purposes, so 
they are able to log in but not actually change anything.” 

The results 
Now that the Council has moved onto Pentana’s cloud-hosted solution, the team has witnessed an even greater uptake in its 
use across the organisation. 

“Not only have employees been a lot more creative with the system since we made the switch, but it has also made our lives a 
lot easier for training new starters on Pentana Risk during the recent times of increased remote working.” 

Christopher continues: “The efficiencies are clear to see, it’s just so easy to get the information that we need. I have to deliver a 
quarterly performance report for the counsellors year-on-year and all of the data for those reports comes from Pentana Risk. It 
is a primary part of my working life and is essential to help me do my job. 

Case Study 1 - Assurance

Rugby Borough Council

”Not only have employees 

been a lot more creative with 

the system since we made the 

switch, but it has also made our 

lives a lot easier for training new 

starters on Pentana Risk during 

the recent times of increased 

remote working.” 
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Case Study 2 – Compliance

Mettle Ops

As a contractor operating in the aerospace sector, Mettle Ops was striving for quality and 
efficiency across their customer and internal teams. They also needed a documented quality 
management system with ISO 9001 and AS9100 accreditation.   

Prior to implementing Q-Pulse Cloud, Mettle Ops were heavily reliant on forms and spreadsheets to manage their quality on a 
day-to-day basis.  This manual maintenance of important documents caused disorganisation and led to the company receiving 
several improvement recommendations at their annual audit inspection. 

A digital, centralised, cloud-based system was identified by Mettle Ops as the crucial next step for embedding quality 
improvement and passing their Stage 2 audit.

Mettle Ops chose the risk, document and issue management modules of Q-Pulse Cloud. As well as meeting their system 
requirements, the team were also impressed with the customer service from Ideagen during the scoping stage. 

Katie Bigelow, President of Mettle Ops, believes the platform has made a significant impact: 

“The issue management module gives us reminders to ensure that we maintain our quality management system.  

 “A big part for us was active maintenance, which I think was probably the most important feature that we needed - especially 
as both ISO 9001 and AS9100 audits involve lots of requirements.

“I now receive daily reminders via routine emails which I can assign to members of my team and ensure accountability across 
Mettle Ops.” 

Q-Pulse Cloud has given Mettle Ops the ability to report issues, audit findings, quality improvement suggestions and more into 
a centralised database, as well as building customised workflows to manage risks by routing actions to members of the team. 
Katie enjoys full visibility of Mettle Ops’ quality landscape and can plan and drive improvement more easily.

The document management module provides a centralised location for business documents including contracts, product 
specifications and SLAs, from where staff can access and share information quickly and easily. 

Within just two months of implementing Q-Pulse Cloud, Mettle Ops 
passed Stage 2 of their AS9100 audit with zero non-conformances.  

Katie credits a digital QMS as a major factor in gaining the 
accreditation, which has led to fresh bidding opportunities for 
contracts:  

“After the initial audit for AS9100, we decided that we had some 
work to do. Our choices were to either hire somebody to be in 
charge of our quality management or implement software that 
would allow us to manage it ourselves.  

“We found that with the software, the requirements were much 
easier to meet as it tracks key information such as the changes we 
made and saved us a lot of time and effort. 

What does the future hold for Mettle Ops? 
Preserving and expanding accreditation is essential in the competitive aerospace and defence industry, and Katie believes 
Q-Pulse Cloud will be a key support for this area: 

“Our aim is to continue to grow in the defence market. Having a quality management system will help us to adhere to our 
requirements when we make bids in the future.  As a relatively new company, it is important that we continue to attain certifications 
that older companies have and become more competitive.  

”As a relatively new company, it 

is important that we continue to 

attain certifications that older 

companies have and become 

more competitive.” 
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Case Study 3 – Collaboration

Ecovis

Operating across more than 80 countries with almost 9,000 employees, Ecovis is a consulting 
firm specialising in the areas of tax, accounting, auditing and legal advice. 

Emilio Martinotti, Managing Partner at Ecovis’s Italian operation, Ecovis STLex Studio, explains how Huddle has helped the 
company provide secure portals to its clients and a reliable document collaboration tool.

“In its consulting work, Ecovis STLex Studio concentrates mainly on mid-sized firms. We turn to our clients as partners, and we 
aim to support them with technically complex financial and legal issues. Our main focus is to build lasting relationships with them 
based on high-quality standards together with an innovative and personalised approach.” 

Ecovis needed a software tool that would help securely deliver its world-class expertise. “We need to follow thousands of 
regulation laws for tax, anti-money laundering, corporate support, payroll and legal to name a few.” 

Previous cloud-based software used by the company struggled to keep up with the demand of documents, often failing to reach 
size and format requirements. Huddle provided Ecovis with the perfect solution - a more enabled, collaborative, secure and 
transparent way of working with its clients. 

“We needed a safer and cleaner space for information, easily accessible for both employees and clients. As Huddle is a 
representation of the company, it was important for us that we were able to show the clients an organised portal for all their 
information with intelligent collaboration.” 

 How did Huddle solve this?  
 “As soon as we discovered Huddle, we immediately felt that we had found the perfect strategic partner. 

“Huddle provided us with a client portal that we knew would be secure. If you imagine each portal as a locker, the client owns the 
key to this locker, and we both have a collaborative decision on what is held in this locker.  

Emilio explains: “It allows both us and the clients to feel incredibly 
comfortable that any information is kept safe and secure. With 
restricted access to those who have the key, everything fits 
perfectly in place.”  

With 1TB storage allowance, Huddle enables Ecovis to upload 
multiple sizable documents in any form with free client licenses, 
external users and customised branding. “It enables us to release 
higher quality documents to the client with the confidence of 
added protection. Within the portal, everything is fresh, clean, 
and well organised. Which in my view, creates a sense of trust and 
reliability between us and our clients.”  

The document collaboration tool also allows for all employees of Ecovis to work harmoniously. “You have a complete view of 
the changes of all files, and you can immediately see when someone has received, read, made or accepted changes to any 
documents, resulting in a sort of audit trail for the sharing of a document. 

It was totally compatible with the format of all our files and our hardware. From PDFs to Excel spreadsheets, we haven’t had any 
issues and we are incredibly happy with the technology.”   

”As soon as we discovered 

Huddle, we immediately felt 

that we had found the perfect 

strategic partner.” 
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Contributing where it matters

Our business is built around three core pillars: our People, our Customers, and our Products. 

These pillars provide the foundation for the company’s culture and identity, which revolves around 
investment in our people to build great products to meet the evolving needs of our customers. 

This simple approach is at the heart of our business, whereby all functions and teams believe they contribute to the success of 
Ideagen and feel empowered to contribute to the delivery of our vision – to be the leading supplier of regulatory and compliance 
software solutions globally.

PEOPLE

PRODUCTS CUSTOMERS

Ideagen is only as strong as the people 
who contribute to its success. We strive 
to provide an environment that enriches 
an individual and aim to provide the 
opportunity to develop and fulfil potential, 
with no ceiling or barriers.

We are passionate about doing what is right – 
contributing where it matters. We are focused on 
investing in and developing products which are business 
critical to customers. We always seek to ensure that 
our products are reliable, of high quality and relevant 
to our customers in any environment. We strongly value 
our customers and seek to deliver world-class products 
backed by industry-leading customer service and 
support.

We strive to make the customer experience as simple, 
efficient and effective as possible, helping clients reduce 
time to value and achieve their desired outcomes 
using our solutions. We believe in empowering our 
customers and recognise the trust they place in us as 
an organisation. We see this as a partnership built upon 
mutual respect and aspiration.
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Contributing Where It Matters

Growth strategy 
The core values make Ideagen ‘who we are’. They are always front and centre. Everything we do at Ideagen is underpinned by 
the principles that guide us, that we work towards, and that we expect every employee to stand behind. In a turbulent world it is 
these ideals that keep us connected and proud of the company we represent.

Every moment of every day we seek to deliver value. Our strategy is to develop, in conjunction with our 6,000 global customers, 
leading proprietary software technology that acts as a competitive differentiator. This enables us to drive excellent investment 
returns and world class outcomes for our customers while providing high-quality long-term recurring revenue. We look to make 
strategically driven acquisitions which deliver high value IP and strong recurring revenue growth.

Our strategy is underpinned by eight growth levers that we seek to build on in the next 12 months and beyond. 

Positivity &  
Perseverance

Pace &  
Momentum

Problem  
Solving

Pride &  
Excellence

Humility & 
Courage

Honesty & 
Trust

Compliance 
need rising1

Shift to 
technology 
solutions2

Leading  
brand3

Expanding 
TAM, 
geographic 
reach

4

Product 
Innovation5

Improved 
revenue 
mix6

Clear 
operational 
leverage7

Superior 
cash 
generation8

Structural Platform Product Performance
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Contributing Where It Matters

Our Vision

To be the leading supplier of regulatory and  
compliance software solutions globally

Our Purpose

To make complying with regulations easy,  
quick and cost effective

Targets Measures of Success

Pr
od

uc
t

SaaS is our business

Industry leading software product set across quality, 
risk, audit and compliance

Double-digit organic growth

Strategic acquisitions with strong returns

Organic growth in Annual Recurring Revenue

Number of new logo wins and increasing Customer 
Lifetime Value

Average Revenue per Customer / Organisation

EPS and TSR

C
us

to
m

er

Upper Quartile Customer retention

Increasing upsell / cross-sell

Global customer footprint

Gross Revenue Retention

Net Revenue Retention 

Expanding global footprint

Pe
op

le
 &

 
So

ci
et

y

An aspirational employer focused on developing our 
people

Strong values and actions on environmental and 
social issues

Upper quartile employee engagement 

ESG programme with tangible results
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Growth Strategy

‘Buy and build’
We operate in a fragmented market with plentiful acquisition opportunities. Targeted M&A activity remains a key component of 
our strategy. We are focused on acquiring companies that bring a combination of technological innovation, innovation in the 
regulatory and compliance market, improved speed to market, superior access to markets and customers, profitable growth, 
strong IP and a recurring revenue model.

Active integration is a cornerstone of our acquisition philosophy, as we aim to reduce risk, increase scalability and drive efficiency 
and productivity. Ideagen actively integrates acquisitions using a proven framework that minimises organisational debt. Our 
model is designed to enable all parts of our company to replicate best practice and skills, share domain expertise, benefit from 
our integrated IT, finance, support and centralised infrastructure.

Delivery across our platforms is unified and distributed through Ideagen Common Services Architecture (ICSA) and licensed 
software technology to deliver world class governance, risk and compliance outcomes for our customers on a long-term basis. 
ICSA provides a common user interface for all products integrated in the platform, delivering consistency in service delivery and 
user experience. 

Our detailed integration process enables us to implement best practice into the acquired companies and deliver the added 
advantage of cost savings through synergies. We have successfully integrated 18 products to date, with a further three in the 
near completion stage. 

Qualsys – £15.6m – August 2020 Huddle – £27.9m – December 2020 Qualtrax –  £10.8m – March 2021

ARR - £2.9M (5.3x)

Innovative, cloud-based Quality 
Management Software sold into a 
number of highly regulated industries

150 Customers – Diageo, Unilever, 
Honeywell, BT, FujiChem and IQE

Rationale – Consolidation with 
Ideagen’s QMS platforms enabling 
significant synergies. Assimilation of 
some of the Qualsys cloud platform 
modules in to the wider Ideagen ICSA 
platform delivering an accelerated 
time to market

ARR - £10.3M (2.7x)

Established position as a leading 
supplier of SaaS based regulated 
collaboration, primarily in the UK and 
USA

380 Customers – FAA, DoD, UK 
Home Office, EDF Energy, Baker Tilly 
International

Rationale – Integration with 
PleaseReview and the ongoing 
growth in regulatory requirements 
and the increased need for people to 
be able to work across an extended 
enterprise, while maintaining the 
ability to collaborate on projects

ARR - £3.7m (2.9x)

Helps companies meet their 
assurance obligations with 
compliance management solutions

340 clients - Arkansas State Crime 
Lab, DC Office of the Chief Medical 
Examiner

Rationale –  Qualtrax’s product, 
customer base and reputation in 
the US market enhances our existing 
compliance offering in this key growth 
market for Ideagen
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Delivering strong results 
Ideagen has grown both organically and through a number of strategic acquisitions with this year’s results representing the 12th 
consecutive year of growth in revenue, adjusted EBITDA* and adjusted earnings per share**.

Despite the significant obstacles arising as a result of COVID-19, we remained focused on our near-term objectives and 
demonstrated clear progress towards our long-term vision. 

* Before share-based payments, costs of acquiring businesses, restructuring costs, RDEC grant income and exceptional items

** Before share-based payments, amortisation of acquisition intangibles, costs of acquiring businesses, restructuring costs, RDEC grant income, exceptional items and 

the related tax effects
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Key Performance Indicators
The Board measures the performance of the Group against budgets and its strategic objectives on a regular basis. The following 
key financial performance indicators are used by management as part of this ongoing assessment.

Performance indicator 2021 2020 Commentary

ARR book (£million) 69.3 46.2
ARR is the Group’s primary growth metric and the key 
driver of long-term value for the Group.

Reported Revenue (£million) 65.6 56.6
Total revenue recognised during the period, includes 
recurring and non-recurring.

Recurring revenue as a percentage 
of total revenue

83% 76%
One of the Group’s strategic aims is to increase the 
proportion of contracted recurring revenues in the 
medium term.

Recurring revenue growth 26% 38%

Recurring revenue growth is used as the quantitative 
measure of the SaaS transition and an internal 
assessment of how the Group is performing against 
strategy.

Organic revenue growth 3% 5%

Organic revenue growth is calculated based on a 
comparison of current year revenue with prior year 
revenue as adjusted for constant currency and to 
include acquisitions for the same period as the current 
year.

Adjusted EBITDA (£million) 22.9 18.5

EBITDA adjusted for share-based payment charges, 
cost of acquiring businesses, restructuring costs, RDEC 
grant income and exceptional items. Management 
consider this to be a more appropriate measure of the 
underlying performance of the Group.

Adjusted EBITDA margin 35% 33% Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue.

Profit / (loss) after tax (£million) 0.6 (0.2) Statutory profit / (loss) after tax.

Adjusted diluted earnings per share 
(pence)

6.18 5.36
The calculation of adjusted earnings per share 
is detailed in note 8 to the financial statements. 
Management consider that adjusted earnings 
per share is a better indicator of the underlying 
performance of the Group than unadjusted earnings 
per share.

Adjusted diluted earnings per share 
growth

15% 12%

Cash generated by operations as a 
percentage of adjusted EBITDA

109% 97%
This is a measure of the rate of conversion of adjusted 
EBITDA into operating cash flow.

Free cash flow as a percentage of 
Revenue

19.9% 19.6%

Free cash flow is defined as net cash generated by 
operating activities less all capital expenditure and 
capitalised costs. It is a measure of the cash gener-
ated by the Group which is available for investing in 
business acquisitions before taking into account any 
financing cash flows.
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Our response to Covid-19
We have continued to place an increasing focus on the three core business areas that underpin our strategy: our people, our 
products, and our customers. This approach enabled us to prioritise and align our resources and to meet customer demand and 
capitalise on market trends, as well as respond to immediate challenges brought on by Covid-19.  In light of our strong financial 
performance during the pandemic the small level of UK government furlough support that was claimed early in the year was fully 
repaid by the year end.

PEOPLE

PRODUCTS CUSTOMERS

Ideagen implemented a home working policy and, when 
feasible, opened the office for a limited number of staff to 
support those who wanted to work in an office for personal 
and mental health reasons. We encouraged our people 
to focus on family first, i.e. children, elderly and partners in 
the home that may require their attention. We also offered 
a number of stimulating virtual classes to reduce isolation 
and involve people in group activities. Nobody was, or will 
be, required to come to the office until such time as they 
consider it safe to do so.

We continued to invest in and develop our products, 
including the release of a major update to Q-Pulse in 
September.

We also developed specific COVID training that was added 
to our QP WorkRite software.

Products like PleaseReview and Huddle are perfect for the 
remote working environment and enabled companies to 
make the shift to remote working much more easily.

We provided our PleaseReview software completely 
free of charge to the World Health Organisation to 
allow them to hold their first ever digital World Health 
Assembly, whilst tackling the global COVID pandemic. 
Closer to home we offered NHS key workers free access 
to relevant courses on working from home developed on 
our QP WorkRite package.
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Growth opportunities 
Ideagen operates in a global market with a number of drivers for structural growth. 

Businesses around the world need innovative solutions to help them meet increasingly stringent compliance, quality, safety, and 
regulatory risk requirements.

Our product-market strategy is focussed in three areas – Assurance, Compliance and Collaboration.

We focus on markets which are highly regulated, such as life sciences, healthcare, financial services and banking, aviation, 
aerospace, automotive and defence manufacturing.

These provide a global growth opportunity with the accelerating shift towards a cloud and subscription economy.

The introduction of new ISO safety standards and the roll-out of SMCR-type legislation to Singapore, Australia and Ireland is 
fuelling our interest in overseas markets. We are pursuing strategic and measured expansion into these geographical areas as 
the opportunity arises.  

Growth Drivers
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Chief Financial Officer’s Review
Financial Review
In the year ended 30 April 2021, the Group generated revenue of £65.6 million (2020: £56.6 million), an increase of 16%. Recurring 
revenues recognised in the period increased by 26% to £54.2 million (2020: £43.1 million) and represented 83% of total revenue 
(2020: 76%).   

Within our recurring revenues, SaaS increased by 46% to £32.2 million (2020: £22.1 million) which at 49% now represents the largest 
element of total Group revenue.  Recurring Support & Maintenance revenues grew to £22.0 million (2020: £21.0 million).

Revenue by type, 12 months ended 30 April 2021

The Annualised Recurring Revenue book of contracted revenue to be recognised over the coming 12 months increased by 50% 
during the financial year to £69.3 million (2020: £46.2 million)3. This comprises organic growth of 13% with the remainder from the 
three acquisitions made during the year.

Total non-recurring revenues recognised in the year were £11.5 million (2020 £13.5 million), representing 17% of total revenue 
(2020: 24%). This is in line with the Group’s transition towards a fully SaaS model by reducing licence sales and delivering a lower 
relative level of professional services activity. In the year, perpetual licence revenues decreased to £6.3 million (2020: £7.2 million).  
Professional services revenues were £5.2 million (2020: £5.9 million).

Pro-forma organic revenue growth was 3% (2020: 5%). Pro-forma organic revenue growth is calculated by comparing constant 
currency revenue for the year against the previous year, excluding revenues from acquisitions at the point they joined the group.  
Changes in revenue within the core business and from acquisitions after the point of entry into the Group are reflected in organic 
growth.

Adjusted EBITDA increased by 24% to £22.9 million (2020: £18.5 million).  The Group uses adjusted EBITDA to provide a better 
understanding of the underlying operating business performance.  The adjustments to Operating profit are set out below and in 
Note 3.   Costs continued to be very tightly controlled and benefitted from decisions taken during March and April 2020 to reduce 
the cost base through restructuring of certain operational functions.  The adjusted EBITDA margin was 34.9% (2020: 32.7%).  Gross 
margin increased slightly to 92.0% (2020: 90.9%).  We recognise the need to continue targeting investment in our staff and the 
operational systems of the business to support continued growth and provide a strong, scalable platform for long term value 
creation. 

The Group has significant intangible assets, primarily from the acquisitions that it has made. Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 
of £12.1 million (2020: £9.5 million) represents the majority of the total depreciation and amortisation charge of £16.7 million (2020: 
£12.9 million). Amortisation of development costs amounted to £2.5 million (2020: £1.8 million). 

The share-based payment charge of £3.0 million (2020: £1.7 million) relates to the Group’s equity-settled share option schemes 
including the Long-Term Incentive Plans and the Share Incentive Scheme for employees. The charge included £0.7 million (2020: 
£nil) of national insurance costs on the exercise of non-tax efficient options. Excluding the national insurance costs, the share-
based payment charge does not represent a cash cost to the Group. 

3 The April 2021 ARR book of £69.3m comprises contracted revenue that will be recognised over the coming 12 months. The April 2020 comparative of £46.2m is 
calculated on a like for like basis at constant currency rates. The Group’s previous ARR calculations (30 April 2020: £48.7m) comprised all contracted annual recurring 
revenue, valued at prevailing exchange rates. A portion of this revenue was due for recognition beyond a 12 month period, allowing for set up and installation.

Licences

Professional services

Recurring
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Chief Financial Officer’s Review

The Group incurred acquisition costs of £1.3 million, mainly related to the acquisitions of Qualsys, Huddle and Qualtrax during the 
year (2020: £0.4 million). Acquisition costs as a percentage of deal consideration remained consistent year on year at 2% (2020: 2%).

Finance costs for the year were £1.0 million (2020: £0.8 million). Borrowing facilities were used to assist with financing business 
acquisitions made in the year.  

As a result of the above, the Group made a profit before tax of £0.8 million (2020: loss of £0.1 million), the increased profit at a 
pre-tax level being largely due to the £2.0 million exceptional impairment charge against receivables recorded in 2020, which 
did not recur in the year to April 2021. 

A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to profit/(loss) before taxation is given below:

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Adjusted EBITDA 22,893 18,523

Depreciation and amortisation (16,703) (12,927)

Costs of acquiring businesses (1,277) (402)

Restructuring costs (406) (830)

Share-based payment charges (2,997) (1,710)

Exceptional impairment of financial assets (receivables) - (1,989)

Net finance costs (991) (799)

Research and Development grant income (RDEC) 260 -

Profit / (loss) before taxation 779 (134)

The adjusted Group tax charge amounted to £2.5 million (2020: £2.1 million). This has been adjusted to exclude the deferred tax 
effects associated with the amortisation of acquisition intangibles and share based payment charges and the tax effects of the 
exceptional impairment of receivables, restructuring costs and RDEC grant income. The adjusted Group tax charge represents 
14.3% (2020: 14.5%) of adjusted profit before tax of £17.3 million (2020: £14.3 million). The Group’s historical losses and tax deductions 
linked to the exercises of share options in particular have significantly reduced the Group’s cash liability to UK corporation tax on 
the profits for the year.

Adjusted diluted earnings per share increased by 15% to 6.18 pence (2020: 5.36 pence). 

The Group’s financial position has continued to strengthen during the year with net assets increasing to £125.6 million (2020: £76.9 
million).

The value of intangible assets increased to £174.9 million (2020: £113.8 million) mainly due to the in-year acquisitions of Qualsys, 
Huddle and Qualtrax. The Group capitalised £3.9 million (2020: £3.9 million) of R&D development costs during the year which 
represented 5.9% (2020: 6.9%) of total revenues and 37% of total research and development costs (2020: 45%).

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment totalled £2.6 million (2020: £0.9 million). Approximately £2.1 million of this 
related to non-recurring investment in the Group’s new global headquarters in Nottingham.  

Cash generated by operations during the year amounted to £25.0 million (2020: £18.1 million). This represents cash conversion 
of approximately 109% (2020: 97%) of adjusted EBITDA; an increase driven mainly through the focus on cash collection. A review 
of the order to cash process helped identify opportunities to improve the speed of collection and a concerted effort on issue 
resolution helped clear some older outstanding balances. 
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Total trade receivables at 30 April 2021 were £16.1 million (2020: £15.3 million) of which 66% was not yet due (2020: 51%). Cash 
collection has been strong during the year. Days Sales Outstanding were 60 as at 30 April 2021 (2020: 76) based on a count-
back methodology calculated by reference to invoiced sales outstanding at the year end. The deferred income creditor of £34.7 
million (2020: £22.8 million) represents the element of ARR which has been invoiced to customers in advance but is deferred to be 
recognised as revenue in the future. This does not represent a cash liability.

Free Cash Flow, defined as net cash generated by operating activities less capital expenditure and payments for development 
costs, amounted to £13.1 million (2020: £11.1 million). This represents 19.9% of Revenue (2020: 19.6%). Adjusted Free Cash Flow, which 
is before payments of acquisition costs of £1.5 million in the year, was £14.6 million representing 22.2% of Revenue. As noted above, 
the current year’s figures include a one-off £2.1 million capital investment in the Group’s new head office building.

In December 2020, an equity placing representing approximately 9.9% of the Company’s existing share capital raised £47.2 million 
net of associated costs. It was agreed by the Board that the placing would provide enhanced financial strength with which to 
improve the long term prospects of the business. The funds were raised for the execution of identified M&A opportunities to help 
accelerate future growth without the need for additional debt funding. To enable the Group’s retail investor base to participate in 
the fundraising a 1% allocation was made available via Primary Bid. This element of the placing was fully subscribed. The majority 
monies raised were deployed to fund two acquisitions – Huddle and Qualtrax – which had combined consideration of £38.9 
million with the balance of cash used to reduce the Group’s Revolving Credit Facility.  

The Group ended the year with net bank debt of £11.0 million (2020: £16.8 million) representing approximately 0.5 times adjusted 
EBITDA for the year. In May 2021, the Group extended its total available debt facilities to £100 million through a new three year 
committed credit facility of £75 million with a further approved but uncommitted accordion facility of up to £25 million. This 
replaces the Group’s previous banking facilities of up to £50 million.

Outstanding deferred consideration on business acquisitions amounted to £1.9 million at 30 April 2021 (2020: £0.5 million - all paid 
within the financial year ended 30 April 2021), all of which is due for payment in the financial year ended April 2022.

The deferred income tax liability of £18.0 million (2020: £9.1 million) is mainly in respect of the Group’s intangible assets and also 
does not represent a future cash liability for the Group.

A final dividend of 0.25p per share is proposed by the Board and would give a total dividend for the year of 0.37p, an increase 
of 15.6%.  The final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. If approved it will be paid on 24th 
November 2021 to shareholders on the register at 5th November. 

 

Emma Hayes 
Chief Financial Officer
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Strategic Report
Principle Risks and Uncertainties
The board has overall responsibility for ensuring risk is appropriately managed across the Group and has carried out a robust 
assessment of the principal risks and areas of uncertainty that could impact the business. Risk management is an important part 
of the key operational processes across the Group and a framework has been adopted to identify areas of risk and regularly test 
and assess the adequacy of the internal system of controls. 

The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of risks including strategic, economic, operational and financial. The Board together 
with management monitor exposure to these risks and make regular assessment of the adequacy of mitigations in order to 
understand and limit as far as possible the adverse effects of these risks on the performance of the Group.

Strategic. The Group operates in a dynamic market and constantly seeks to ensure the solutions it offers are competitive and 
address the evolving needs of customers.

Economic. A worsening of the economic climate may lead to reduced spend on IT systems and services by customers. The world 
economic climate has been significantly adversely affected by COVID-19 increasing the level of macro uncertainty in the short 
and longer term. The Board has taken a number of measures to ensure the Group’s cost base is aligned to the current operating 
environment. The situation continues to be monitored very closely and the Group has shown significant resilience during the last 12 
months.  Risks are mitigated because the Group has low customer concentration and its client base is diversified geographically 
and across a range of business sectors. The Group provides products and solutions that are business critical to its customers, 
addressing compliance obligations and licence to operate requirements that are a prerequisite to trading, regardless of the 
economic environment. Increasingly, Ideagen’s solutions also help customers to reduce their cost base and effectively operate 
remotely during difficult trading conditions such as the Covid 19 pandemic.

Products. It is vital that the Group offers reliable, high quality and relevant software solutions to meet customer requirements.  
Ideagen has a range of products that are at different stages of their lifecycle and with different maintenance and investment 
needs. Investment decisions take into account each product’s commercial roadmap and customer requirements to ensure 
Ideagen’s long-term revenue streams are protected and growth opportunities are maximised. 

People. It is imperative that we have the right people in the right roles, both now and in the future. We continue to plan our people 
needs well into the future. We invest significantly in learning and development to ensure a high proportion of our future needs can 
be filled via internal promotions whilst building the Ideagen brand to attract high calibre external talent. We work hard to attract, 
engage and retain employees with ongoing initiatives to foster a positive working environment and ensure that remuneration 
packages are competitive in the market.

Information Security. Ideagen is an international SaaS business and therefore needs to manage risks related to cybercrime, 
malware, loss or theft of devices and data exposure. As well as comprehensive insurance cover, the Group has a range of 
administrative and technical controls in place, supplemented by ongoing testing and verification. Ideagen’s legal team is also 
involved in privacy compliance strategies relating to the data of the Group’s customers and other third parties, as well as its 
employees in the various jurisdictions in which it operates. Ideagen relies upon the continued availability and integrity of its IT 
systems. Business critical systems are monitored and disaster recovery plans are in place and reviewed to ensure they remain up 
to date. 

Financial. Management actively reviews the cash flow position of the Group both in the short and medium term and maintains a 
level of cash and debt finance facilities designed to ensure that the Group has sufficient funds for its operations and its strategic 
requirements. The greater part of the Group’s revenues and costs are denominated in sterling however the Group is exposed 
to foreign exchange risk, principally through profits and cash inflows generated in US dollars by the Group’s US subsidiaries 
and through invoicing a proportion of overseas customers in foreign currencies, most notably US dollars and euros. The foreign 
exchange risk is partly addressed by maximising costs denominated in US dollars and partly through the use of forward contracts 
to reduce this risk. A hedging strategy is in place and based on advice from an expert external team. The Group implements 
appropriate credit checks on potential customers before sales are made. The amount of exposure to individual customers is 
subject to a limit which is regularly reassessed.

We do not consider that we have material solvency or liquidity risks. 
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Following the UK Government invoking Article 50 of the Treaty of Lisbon, notifying the European Council of its intention to 
withdraw from the EU, the Board has reviewed the impact that this may have on the Group. The key risk for Ideagen relates to 
the recruitment and retention of EU nationals working in the UK. This is deemed a low risk and plans have been put in place to 
help mitigate the possible impact of these during the transition phase of the UK’s withdrawal from the EU and beyond.

Section 172 Statement
We welcome our responsibilities to promote the success of the group in accordance with section 172(1) of the Companies Act 
2006. The legislation aims to help shareholders better understand how directors have discharged their duty to promote the 
success of companies, while having regard to the matters set out in Section 172(1)(a) to (f) of the UK Companies Act 2006.  Section 
172 defines the duties of company directors to promote the success of companies.  We outline below, through the use of cross 
reference, where we have considered the s172 matters throughout this Annual Report. 

Section 172 matters Specific examples Page

(a) The likely consequences of any 
decision in the long term

• Acquisitions made during the year add quality product 
functionality in attractive segments with robust recurring revenue 
which will enhance shareholder returns in the longer term

• The December 2020 equity fundraising strengthened the Group’s 
balance sheet in order to facilitate execution of strategically 
compelling M&A 

18 

25

(b) The interests of the company’s 
employees

• Protecting our people in the Covid-19 pandemic

• £2.1m investment in Ideagen’s new global head quarters

• Employee engagement 

21 

24 

29

(c) The need to foster the 
company’s business relationships 
with suppliers, customers and 
others

• Becoming Prompt Payment Code signatories

• Customer engagement and focus on retention rates

33 

38

(d) The impact of the company’s 
operations on the community and 
the environment

• Five year funding commitment made to the Think Big campaign

• Net Zero plan launched

• Sustainable only UK energy purchasing, EV charging points 

28 

30 

31

(e) The desirability of the company 
maintaining a reputation for high 
standards of business

• Multiple external quality accreditations

• Refresh of the Audit Committee and extension of its remit to cover 
Risk

34 

45

(f) The need to act fairly between 
members of the company

• Stakeholder engagement

• Primary Bid participation in the December 2020 equity placing

39 

25
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Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report
Supporting clients to make a positive ESG contribution
Ideagen’s software empowers clients to achieve their own ESG priorities. At the core of our customer proposition is a range of 
solutions to help enterprises navigate areas of regulation and compliance effectively and efficiently. Our quality, audit and risk 
software helps customers to build responsible and resilient businesses wherever they are in the world supported by collaboration 
tools that enable secure, efficient working across and within organisations. 

Social impact
Ideagen has a range of initiatives in place to deliver on our purpose of contributing where it matters for our customers, our people 
and in our local communities. The role we are able to play as a rapidly growing, compliance business has many societal benefits: 
businesses are safer, people prosper and communities thrive. We are able to deliver this both through our core business and also 
through our range of social programmes – from apprenticeships to support for community groups and charities.

In light of the challenges caused by social restrictions and remote working, we adapted our approach slightly this year and 
focused on supporting our work with local schools focusing on 3 core areas:

• Bridging the skills gap between Business and Education, led by Ben Dorks, who is an active Enterprise Advisor in the Midlands

• On-going projects encouraging more women to consider and understand careers in technology

• The donation of laptops to local primary schools to enable continued learning during the national lockdowns

Think Big 
As part of our future plans to make a significant impact on our local community in Nottingham, Ideagen has committed to a five 
year Think Big community partnership with Nottingham Forest Football Club.

The programme’s mission statement is:

“Motivating young people to be excited by Tech - inspiring them to think big about future 
employment in the Tech industry” 

By combining the resources, know-how and reputation of Ideagen and Nottingham’s primary football club, we aim to address 
social mobility, employability and tech skills on a large scale within the area surrounding our global HQ.

Delivered by a dedicated Think Big Delivery Team, the programme will cover:

• Think Big presentation: with video content, guest  
speakers from Nottingham Forest and Ideagen 
delivered to an estimated 26,750 students per year 
across over 100 schools;

• Think Big Tech Workshops, a bespoke programme that 
brings core technology skills to life by showcasing the 
use of technology in sport.  Examples include player 
profiling, VAR and match analysis. With dedicated 
resources these workshops will cover 1,600 students 
across over 100 local schools; and

• Think Big Masterclass: Delivered by Ideagen at 
Ideagen HQ covering real life experiences in the Tech 
industry with guest tech speakers. Application process 
to join with places offered to attendees from the over 
100 local schools we are working with.  The masterclass 
will culminate in 5 Ideagen apprenticeships being 
offered to attendees.
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 The programme is exciting and ambitious in its scale and outcomes. It involves allocation of substantial cash funding as well as 
time commitment from senior personnel within the organisation. We feel the scheme captures the essence of our ESG ambitions 
– using our resources and knowhow to make a contribution that counts in our local community. 

Employees
Our people are key to our success and we want them to be successful as individuals and in operational teams. We engage 
employees through regular surveys, recognition schemes and CEO town halls, which bring to life company strategy and include 
update on key company news and targets to provide in-depth detail of our strategy and objectives. 

The Board receives regular reports about a range of factors and issues affecting our team members to ensure that appropriate 
consideration is given and early action taken where necessary. Employee impact assessments are made ahead of key decisions, 
such as M&A activity. The Board also regularly considers matters and initiatives as part of its commitment to promote diversity 
and equality across all of our teams.   

We continue to strive for improvements in employee engagement as we see very clearly that employees are key to the success 
of our business.  In addition to aiming to be a responsible employer in our approach to pay and benefits, we continue to engage 
with our teams to ascertain which training and development opportunities should be made available. We continue to invest in 
our People and Culture team, delivering over 1,800 hours of in-house training and coaching plus over 3,000 hours of external 
development in the last year. We further extended the Ideagen Learning Prospectus and continued the Ideagen Sales Excellence 
Academy, which is externally certified to level-4.  

We continued to invest in employee wellbeing to create and encourage an inclusive culture within the organisation. Our employee 
engagement programme gives detailed, regular snapshots of engagement across the Group right down to individual manager 
level.  We have also introduced a more formal approach to objective setting and performance management to support personal 
development across the organisation. Employee goals are reviewed on an ongoing basis through our OKRs (objectives and key 
results) initiative and we hold weekly hangouts as an informal way to gather real-time feedback and develop engagement.

Our culture invites different perspectives, new ideas and opportunities for growth. We work hard to ensure employees feel 
welcome and are valued and recognised for their hard work. The regular CEO town halls give all employees the opportunity to 
ask questions and understand financial performance, progress against strategy and latest acquisitions.

We actively seek out diversity within our workforce and are proud to be a community richer for its differences. 20 disclosed 
ethnicities, across 26 nationalities, make up the 697 employees in post at the year-end and 56 years covers the youngest and 
oldest employee within the Group.

12 apprentices joined the company this year, each on our bespoke 3 year programme that comprises formal and ‘on the job’ 
training. Ideagen continues to make significant investment into its Leadership Academy to ensure the next generation of 
managers are equipped to drive and maintain momentum.  

The Ideagen Personal Performance Plans (IPPP) in place with a golden thread to the Corporate OKRs. We also run Instant Reward 
and Recognition schemes to acknowledge best practice and behaviours.

We have a full programme of health and well-being courses, adapted for the various lockdowns, but still inclusive of mental well-
being classes all the way through to yoga and pizza-making.
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Environmental sustainability
We recognise that our global operations have an environmental impact and we are committed to monitoring and reducing 
our greenhouse gas emissions. To date, we have measured our scope 1, 2 and core scope 3 GHG emissions, going beyond 
what is required from a regulatory perspective in the UK. In 2021, we will broaden our scope even further to include 100% of our 
scope 3 value chain emissions. This will allow us to set a comprehensive, transparent GHG baseline that accounts for our entire 
operational and value chain impact.

We are focused on achieving net zero GHG emissions by 2030, through an ambitious reduction in our GHG emissions in the first 
instance, and an investment in GHG removal projects to neutralise our residual GHG emissions. To drive this decarbonisation, 
we will establish science-based GHG reduction targets. These targets are aligned with the Paris Agreement and the scale of 
decarbonisation required to limit global warming to 1.5°c. All reductions will be measured against the pre-covid impacted year 
ended 30 April 2020.

This starts with a commitment to build back greener and maintain as much of the per employee Covid 19 emission reductions 
in 2020/21 as possible. This includes a review of our travel policy to encourage more remote working and fewer flights when we 
return to office working.

Performance in the year 
The impact of Covid has driven down our absolute carbon footprint in the year, despite the growth of our business. The Group 
had very little business travel and energy usage at our offices declined. Our goal is to lock-in environmental benefits and find 
lower environmental impact ways of working that are sustainable in the long term.
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This year we have calculated our environmental impact across the required scope 1, 2 and 3 (selected categories) emissions 
sources, for the first time capturing the entirety of our global operations. Our emissions are presented on both a location and 
market basis. On a location basis our emissions are 307 tCO2e, which is an average impact of 0.04 tCO2e per m2 and 0.48 tCO2e 
per FTE, and on a market basis our emissions are 235 tCO2e. We have calculated emission intensity metrics on both an employee 
and floor area basis, which we will monitor to track performance in our subsequent environmental disclosures.

Energy and carbon action
At Ideagen we are mindful of the impact that our buildings and vehicle use have on the environment. As such over the course of 
the last year we have taken steps to meet our environmental responsibilities through: 

• Full energy audit complying with the requirements of the Energy Savings Opportunities Scheme (ESOS), through which we 
have identified several energy efficiency measures that are under review and will be implemented as practicable 

• Reaccreditation of ISO14001:2015 – to continue to minimise our environmental impact and manage our resources more 
efficiently. This demonstrates our continued commitment to protecting the environment 

• Working towards ISO26001 accreditation - focusing on Corporate Social Responsibility, where one of the core subjects is the 
environment. 

•  Installation of electric vehicle charging points at our UK headquarters

•  Purchase of non-fossil fuel energy - switching to non-fossil fuel (i.e. nuclear energy) contracts at the new headquarters in 
Ruddington with the intention to then switch to renewable energy (i.e. wind energy) upon contract renewal.
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Results for the year
The methodology used to calculate the GHG emissions is in accordance with the requirements of the World Resources Institute 
(WRI) Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol (revised version) and Defra’s Environmental Reporting Guidelines: including Streamlined 
Energy and Carbon Reporting requirements (March 2019).  Emissions have been calculated using the DEFRA 2019 and DEFRA 2020 
issue of the conversion factor repository. Electricity emissions for non-UK countries have used the 2019 and 2020 IEA emission 
factors.

Our calculated GHG emissions from business activities for the period 1 May 2020 to 30 April 2021 are as follows: 

Emissions 
Source

2019/20 (tC02e)2 2020/21 (tC02e) Total 
Percentage 
Change to 
2019/20

UK Global 
(Excluding UK) UK Global 

(Excluding UK)

Scope 1 Natural gas 1 0 2 0 100%

Refrigerant 6 0 0 0 -100%

Total Scope 1 7 0 2 0 -71%

Scope 2 Electricity 244 119 194 80 -25%

Total Scope 2 244 119 194 80 -25%

Scope 3 Electricity 
transmission 
and distribution

21 8 17 5 -24%

Employee cars 75 16 6 <1 -93%

Rail 9 0 <1 0 -100%

International 
Rail

0 <1 0 0 -100%

Public transport 2 <1 1 0 -50%

Business flights 956 157 <1 2 -100%

Paper <1 <1 0 <1 -97%

Total Scope 3 1,063 181 24 7 -98%

Total (Market Based) 1,391 305 147 88 -86%

1,696 235

Total (Location Based) 1,314 301 219 88 -81%

1,615 307

Total Energy Usage (kWh)3 1,269,157 199,163 853,820 138,191 -32%

Normaliser tCO2e per FTE 2.86 0.48 -83%

Normaliser tCO2e per FTE 0.26 0.04 -85%

Office facilities
Ideagen is an acquisitive business and an important part of its integration programme is to rationalise the network of office 
locations, facilitating remote working where appropriate and over time looking to centralise our physical locations to a smaller 
number of regional headquarters, UK (Nottingham), Asia (Kuala Lumper) and the USA (Blacksberg, VA). In addition to reducing our 
environmental impact, this approach helps foster our ‘One Company’ ethos whilst allowing flexibility for our staff and thoughtful 
travel decisions.  

Our operations team undertakes regular audits of all Group office locations to ensure compliance with HSE requirements. Single 
use plastics have been eradicated from all Group sites, paper usage has been substantially reduced and recycling facilities are 
well established.  
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Governance 
As a business with compliance at its core, we recognise the importance of trust in meeting or exceeding the expectations of our 
customers, employees, investors and other stakeholders. The Board expects the highest standards of business conduct and has 
overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. Our adherence to all applicable 
laws and regulations is of paramount importance, not just to ourselves, but also to our clients, and all other stakeholders. Our 
customers are looking for suppliers that meet the highest levels of ethical and business conduct standards. The Board’s intention 
is to behave responsibly and to ensure that the management team operates the business in a responsible manner, acting with 
high professional and ethical standards and the high quality governance expected of a business like ours.  In doing so, we believe 
we will achieve our long-term business strategy and further develop our reputation in our sector.

Operating with long-term vision 
At Ideagen we seek to build long term relationships and depend on the trust and confidence of our wide-ranging stakeholder 
base to operate sustainably in the long term. To do this, it is essential that the Board makes decisions which are in the best 
interests of the Group in the long term.  These decisions are focused on long-term success, not short-term gains.  Examples 
of this include the long-term capital investment being made by the business into its products, the appraisal and execution 
of acquisitions through which we seek to enhance the long term growth of the business and the investment in our new global 
headquarters in Nottingham, England, creation of a new US headquarters in Blacksberg, Virginia and planned investment in the 
Kuala Lumper office.  

Suppliers
As a global business, we work with a wide range of suppliers both in the UK and around the world. We remain committed to being 
fair and transparent in our dealings with all of our suppliers. In April 2021 we became signatories of the Prompt Payment Code, 
formalising our commitment to paying suppliers promptly and evidencing our practical approach to corporate responsibility. 
The Group has procedures requiring due diligence of suppliers as to their internal governance, including for 
example, their anti-bribery and corruption practices, data protection policies and modern slavery matters.

In-house Quality Management 
As a global organisation operating in highly regulated industries we seek to follow best practices and take our responsibilities very 
seriously. By ensuring that we meet critical standards in our operations including software development, IT and the environment, 
our customers have confidence that their data is fully secure and that our software meets the highest quality management 
standards.

As an acquisitive company, we are committed to integration of acquisitions within a year which includes ISO processes. As well as 
a number of certifications, we regularly engage with industry groups and are active members of several organisations to ensure 
we keep up to date. 

Our in-house quality and compliance team are highly experienced in ISO certifications and offer audit services across the Group 
as required as well as championing continuous improvement and a culture of raising standards as we grow.   

Certifications

• ISO 9001:2015

•  ISO 14001:2015 

•  ISO 27001:2013

•  ISO 45001:2018

•  NHS connecting for health information governance (CfH IGT)

•  Connection to HSCN (formally NHS N3 network)

•  G-Cloud 9 digital marketplace framework
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Memberships

• The Digital Health and Care Institute

• Chartered Quality Institute

• The Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA)

• ScotlandIS

• ADS

• Flight Safety Foundation

• UK Flight Safety Committee

• The Institute of Biomedical Science (IBMS)

• Scottish Life Science Association (SLA)

•  Airports Council International Europe (ACI)

IT Security and Governance 
To achieve the high standards required by customers we need to ensure our software, hosting environments and corporate 
technology infrastructure is secured, managed and subject to a high degree of compliance and diligence. To this end, we 
maintain dedicated Cyber Security and Compliance teams who work to a continuous improvement and adherence plan. This 
ensures we maintain our ISO27001, FedRAMP and GSA Approved status as well as meeting requirements of the regulatory and 
compliance regimes for approval to UK GovCloud and for the supply of ITAR compliant products into US defence contractors 
and suppliers. 

The infrastructure for both our customer facing products and internal corporate technology estate is under constant monitoring 
for intrusion detection and prevention as well as being monitored inwardly and outwardly for prevention of Cyber Attack and the 
security of customer data and services. In addition, we run intensive security and compliance scanning on our software source 
code and regular external accredited penetration testing and remediation cycles to ensure continuous compliance.



Ideagen Plc | Annual Report 2021

35 

Board of Directors 
Richard Longdon – Non-Executive Chairman (65)

Richard was appointed as a Director of Ideagen in November 2019. He has enjoyed a highly successful 
career in the technology sector, having spent 33 years with AVEVA Group plc where he was Chief 
Executive Officer for 17 years. During his time with AVEVA, the company successfully grew from a £7m 
management-buyout to a public listing valued at £1.4bn when Richard retired from the Board. 

As well as AVEVA, Richard has also previously held positions of senior independent Non-Executive 
Director at Fidessa Plc and Alfa Financial plc. Richard has also worked successfully with private 
equity backed businesses serving as a Non-Executive Director at Prometheus Inc and Non-Executive 
Chairman at Process Systems Enterprise Ltd.

As part of his role at Ideagen, Richard is Chair of the Nomination Committee. His time commitment 
to Ideagen is typically one to two days per month.

Ben Dorks – Chief Executive Officer (47)
Ben was appointed Chief Executive Officer in 2018 having previously served as Chief Customer 
Officer for Ideagen. As CCO, Ben was responsible for the total relationship with Ideagen’s customers 
through the management of global sales, marketing, product and professional services. 

As CEO, Ben is responsible for the overall performance of the business with specific focus on 
operational excellence, customer acquisition and retention and product development. Ben joined 
Ideagen in 2013 via the acquisition of Plumtree Group where he served as Sales and Marketing 
Director and previously worked as a Sales Manager at TSF and Applied Group. He joined the Board 
of Ideagen in January 2017.

Emma Hayes – Chief Financial Officer (40)
Emma joined Ideagen as Chief Financial Officer in July 2020. She joined Ideagen from Severn Trent 
PLC, where she was Group Finance Director – Capital Delivery & Commercial. Emma began her 
working life in audit with BDO before moving onto Corporate Finance at Deloitte. As a Director at 
Deloitte, she worked with a diverse range of corporate and private equity clients on M&A transactions. 

Emma brings a wealth of experience in financial management, corporate finance and accounting, 
as well as senior leadership within a listed company environment, to Ideagen. Her understanding 
of financial operations, her leadership experience and her ability to set financial strategy make her 
a valuable addition to the Board of Ideagen. A graduate of the University of Sheffield, where she 
gained a first-class degree in English Literature, Emma is also a member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales.

Alan Carroll – Non-Executive Director (69)
Alan has 33 years’ experience in the information systems industry during which he has worked in a 
senior capacity in the development of the Ministry of Defence’s Information System Strategy. He 
has also been a senior sales manager and advisor to a number of major companies. He is currently 
managing director of Ultris Limited and Ultris Information Services Limited which are focused on the 
UK confidential government market. He is also a Non-Executive Director with Malvern International 
Plc and Goal Group Limited.  Alan was voted Non-Executive Director of the year in the Mello 2019 
awards. Alan has an MSc in Design of Information Systems from Cranfield Institute of Technology. He 
was appointed to the Board in June 2012. Alan is the Chair of the Remuneration Committee. His time 
commitment to Ideagen is typically two to three days per month.
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Tony Rodriguez – Non-Executive Director (51)
Tony is an experienced technology entrepreneur and software developer. After an early career in a 
number of blue-chip technology companies, he founded Avellino Technologies Limited in 1997, and 
personally led the development of its data profiling software product, now known as TS Discovery, 
before its acquisition in 2004 by Harte Hanks Trillium. Subsequently he founded X88 Software, 
since acquired by Experian in 2014, where he led, as CEO and CTO, the development of its data 
management product (now known as Experian Pandora), which was recognised as visionary by 
Gartner. His time commitment to Ideagen is typically two to three days per month.

Julian Clough - Non-Executive Director (61)
Julian has wide-ranging commercial and advisory experience gained over an extensive career in 
finance with the last 23 years spent in partnership with international accounting firms, latterly with 
Mazars LLP. Having gained experience in audit, financial accounting and operational finance both 
in the UK and overseas he specialised in corporate finance establishing and leading teams focused 
on the provision of high quality financial due diligence to acquisitive businesses and independent 
advice and counsel to listed companies through the IPO process and beyond.  Julian is a chartered 
accountant. He joined Ideagen in November 2020 as a Non-Executive Director.  Julian is Chair of the 
Audit and Risk Committee. His time commitment to Ideagen is typically two to three days per month.

 

Gemma Gill - Company Secretary (41)
Gemma Gill joined Ideagen in November 2019 as Group Finance Manager – Statutory & Tax and 
took on the Company Secretary role in March 2021.  Gemma has a degree in Mathematics & Physics 
from the University of York and 20 years’ experience working in Corporate and International tax. 
Gemma trained as a chartered accountant with Deloitte before moving to RSM where she worked 
as an Associate Director in Corporate Tax, advising a large portfolio of international clients, including 
Ideagen. Gemma is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales 
and also a member of the Chartered Institute of Taxation where she holds both the CTA and ADIT 
qualifications.  

The Strategic Report, comprising the Group overview, Non-Executive Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s Review, the 
Chief Financial Officer’s Review, the ESG Report and the section 172 Report, were approved by the Board and signed on its behalf 
by

 

Ben Dorks 
Director 
22 July 2021
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An introduction from our Non-Executive Chairman
I have pleasure in introducing the corporate governance report, my first since taking on the role of Non-Executive Chairman of 
the Group. In this section of our annual report we have set out our approach to governance and provided further information 
on how the board and its committees operate. We recognise that applying sound governance principles is essential to the 
successful running of the Group. 

As outlined in detail below, we have three principal committees: Audit and Risk, Remuneration and Nominations and their 
composition. During the year Julian Clough was appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Director and chair of the Audit and 
Risk Committee. Following the retirement of David Hornsby and my moving into the position of Non-Executive Chairman, the 
number of Non-Executive Board members is now four with a further two Executive Board members.  

Succession and Board and committee effectiveness continue to be important considerations for us. 

At our AGM this year, as usual, all of our continuing directors will be seeking reappointment. 

Best regards. 

Richard Longdon  
Non-Executive Chairman

Highlights
• • 51% of all new recruits during the year were female

• • Glass Door 3.4 (out of 5)

• • 29% - female board representation

• • 7.5 – employee engagement score (out of 10)

• • 100% Non-Executive board independence

• • Board Strategy Day attended by all Board members as well as the Executive Leadership Team

Board changes
• David Hornsby retired on 13th May after three years as Executive Chairman and 9 years as Chief Executive Officer 

• Richard Longdon appointed from Senior Independent Non-Executive Director to Non-Executive Chair on 13th May 2021

• Julian Clough appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director on 12 November 2020

• Barnaby Kent retired from the Board on 12 November 2020

• Emma Hayes appointed CFO and joined the board on 1 July 2020

• Graeme Spenceley retired as CFO on 30 June 2020 and as Company Secretary on 31 March 2021
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Governance improvements
• Appointment of a Non-Executive Chairman, replacing an Executive Chairman

• Appointment of an additional Independent Non-Executive Director and retirement of an Executive Director brings the 
balance of the board to 4 Non-Executives and 2 Executives

• Became a signatory of the Prompt Payment Code 

• Reduced the reporting timetable, presenting audited preliminary results to the market within 12 weeks of the financial year 
end 

• Updated terms of reference implemented for the Audit Committee, which also had its remit extended to cover Audit and Risk 

• Julian Clough, a qualified accountant with significant experience took on the role of chair of the Audit and Risk Committee

We pride ourselves on having a high-functioning, well-composed, independent and diverse Board and being transparent in all 
that we do. Maintaining the highest standards of governance is integral to the successful delivery of our strategy. Our governance 
framework ensures that the Board is effective in both making decisions and maintaining oversight, whilst also adhering to our 
well-established culture of operating with honesty and integrity.  

The corporate governance framework which the Group operates is proportional to the size, stage of development and complexity 
of the business. In order to meet the requirements of AIM Rule 26, we have decided to follow the Quoted Companies Alliance 
(“QCA”) guidance for smaller and mid-sized quoted companies.

The QCA Code is constructed around ten broad principles and asks companies to provide an explanation about how they are 
meeting these requirements.  Further information on corporate governance can be found on the Company’s website at www.
ideagen.com.

Establish a strategy and business model which promote long-term value for 
shareholders
The purpose of the Group is to provide Quality, Safety, Audit, Risk and Collaboration solutions to heavily regulated markets such 
as Aviation, Life Sciences, Banking and Finance, Aerospace and Defence, and Automotive. This is distributed through our Ideagen 
Cloud Service architecture (ICSA) and licensed software technology to deliver world class governance, risk and compliance 
outcomes for our customers on a long-term basis.  

Our business model is to deliver this through our own sales, marketing and customer delivery teams within our global network of 
offices in the UK, Europe, Middle East, Asia and the US.

Our strategy is to develop, in conjunction with our 6,000 global customers, leading proprietary software technology that acts as 
a competitive differentiator. This enables us to drive excellent return on investment and world class outcomes for our customers 
while providing high-quality long-term recurring revenue. In addition, we look to make acquisitions in complementary markets 
which deliver high value IP and strong recurring revenue growth.

This will deliver a profitable and highly-valued business with competitive advantages over other providers of similar services.

The key challenges we face include:  

• Maintaining consistently high levels of quality development and market leading roadmap – With approximately one third 
of all employees engaged in our R&D teams we invest heavily in ensuring the continued development of our products. 
Customers have very high standards when it comes to software functionality and innovation. We have implemented 
automated testing wherever possible, and our software is 100% unit tested throughout its lifecycle. Our product roadmaps 
are developed through a 35 person product team that works closely with customers and industry analysts such as Gartner, 
Verdantix and Forrester. This delivers a product roadmap which maintains competitive advantage and ensures our 
continued high rate of customer retention.
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• Customer Success and Loyalty – We continue to invest heavily in customer success and continually measure customer 
sentiment and health through an ongoing programme. This includes voice of the customer survey, transactional 
measurement of customer service and net promoter score as well as a full customer success platform. Additionally, we have 
a customer success team managing recurring revenue, subscriptions and attrition rates.

• Delivering continuous availability – A failure in the group’s systems could lead to an inability to deliver services to our 
customers. This is addressed by operating redundant systems across multiple availability zones using both AWS and Azure 
cloud infrastructure, and a comprehensive business continuity programme. In addition, we have a 24/7 global support 
operation in the UK and Kuala Lumpur which monitors availability and performance.

• Acquisition and Integration – We apply strict criteria to ensure that acquisitions represent value for shareholders. A 
key element is the active integration of all the acquisition’s technology, organisational and sales capability. We have a 
dedicated integration team which actively bring together the integration through our 72-point programme. This is reviewed 
by the senior management and leadership team through regular meetings and the Board on a quarterly basis to ensure this 
is independently checked and verified and that the integration and return on capital is being fully maximised.

• Recruiting and retaining suitable staff – The group’s ability to execute its strategy is dependent on the skills and abilities 
of its staff. We undertake ongoing initiatives to foster good staff engagement and ensure that remuneration packages are 
competitive in the market.  A Chief People Officer has been recruited and will join the business in August 2021.

 

We believe we have the right strategy and service in place to deliver strong growth in sales over the medium to long term and 
we expect to continue growing our base of recurring revenues. This is achieved by increasing the percentage of total revenue 
derived from recurring contracts through the transition from a traditional licence model to a SaaS subscription-based model. 
The Group has successfully completed much of this transition providing improvements to profitability or scope for additional 
investment in new services. This will help us to deliver sustainable shareholder value in the longer term.

Seek to understand and meet shareholder needs and expectations
Responsibility for investor relations rests with the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, supported by the Non-
executive Chairman and wider executive team as required. We maintain an open dialogue with our shareholders.  On a continuing 
basis the Company encourages two-way communication with its institutional and private shareholders and responds promptly 
to queries received verbally, in writing or through the investor relations website. In addition to the annual report and half-yearly 
report, the chairman, CEO and CFO are available to meet and do meet with shareholders and potential shareholders to discuss 
any questions they may have and ensure the Board has a clear understanding of the views of shareholders. Feedback from 
these meetings is shared with and considered by the Board. We try to ensure our shareholders have a good understanding of 
our strategy, business model and culture.

Examples of stakeholder engagement during the last 12 months

• ShareSoc presentations – December 2020 and May 2021 – Engagement with existing and potential retail investors

• US Investor Roadshow (virtual) – 11th - 13th August 2020 – Engagement with new and existing tech focused US investors

• Results Roadshow (virtual) – 22nd - 25th September 2020 – over 30 hours spent with investors on video conference calls in 
open dialogue around the year end results  

• LSE Interim Presentation (virtual) – 26th January 2021 – recorded broadcast with overview of the business and our FY21 
interim trading results

• Trading update (RNS) – 12th November 2020 – following the half year-end

• AGM (virtual) – closed meeting due to CV-19, online Q&A to facilitate shareholder participation

• Placing Roadshows (virtual) – 2nd - 4th December 2020 – Engagement with over 30 new and existing holders ahead of the 
equity placing
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Embed effective risk management, considering both opportunities and threats, 
throughout the organisation 
Risk Governance
Ideagen has implemented strong governance, risk and compliance procedures and effective risk management is integral to 
these. The Board receives a comprehensive annual risk report and reviews a monthly risk dashboard, which are generated using 
the group’s own operational risk product, Pentana Risk. The day-to-day management and reporting of risk are the responsibility 
of each operational business unit supported by the Risk & Compliance function. This approach ensures the consistent application 
of Ideagen’s risk framework, risk management and reporting policies across the business.  Ideagen’s Audit and Risk Committee 
regularly reviews the risk management process and any emerging risks identified by the business.

Risk management framework
Our risk management framework details how the group proactively manages risk in a systematic and structured way and ensures 
appropriate control measures are in place to mitigate risks while maximising opportunity. By facilitating the consideration of risk 
in the decision-making process across all business units the group also identifies new and emerging risks on a continuous basis.

Key elements of risk management process
The risk management process includes an assessment of risks to determine the likelihood of occurrence, potential impact and 
the effectiveness of any mitigation or controls that are in place. All risks are measured on an inherent and residual basis using a 
pre-determined scoring matrix. The potential impact of risks materialising is graded against several key perspectives; financial, 
strategic, reputation & customers, infrastructure & people. Ideagen also performs regular audits on our risk controls to provide 
objective assurance on the effectiveness of our mitigations.

Principal risks & uncertainties
The Group manages 10 strategic ‘principal 
risks’ that represent those areas where 
uncertainty could arise in the pursuit 
of the group’s strategic objectives. The 
management of our principal risks play 
a crucial role in the achievement of our 
objectives.   

Each of the strategic risks has sub-
risks attached that are managed and 
monitored such that the residual position 
is clearly understood.  

By adopting a top-level overview of the 
principal risk areas with a bottom-up 
approach to identifying sub-risks, a holistic 
framework for managing risk is achieved. 
Business units and key stakeholders identify 
sub-risks at an operational level which are 
fed into the principal risk areas. These sub-
risks are managed and reviewed regularly 
and where appropriate are escalated to 
the Board.
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Example of the principal and sub-risk structure

 

Maintaining the Board as a well-functioning, balanced team led by the chair
The Board has a legal obligation to promote the interests of the Group, and the members of the Board are collectively responsible 
for defining the Group’s corporate governance arrangements. Ultimate responsibility for the quality of, and approach to, 
corporate governance lies with the Non-Executive Chairman.

The Board consists of the Chair and five directors of which two are Executives and four are Non-Executives, one of whom, Julian 
Clough, was appointed during the year. Julian brings additional financial expertise and was appointed Chair of the Group’s 
refreshed Audit and Risk Committee. The Board has and will continue to evolve to support the strategic objectives of the Group.  

In May 2021, David Hornsby retired from the role of Executive Chairman and Richard Longdon transitioned from Non-Executive 
Director into the role of Non-Executive chairman. The Board has a clear strategic objective to grow the business both organically 
and through further acquisitions.  Richard has deep experience in high growth, international software having served as the CEO 
of the listed software company AVEVA for 17 years. He has built a strong understanding of Ideagen during his time as a Non-
Executive Director and is ideally placed to fulfil the role of Non-Executive Chairman.

In July 2020 Emma Hayes joined the Board as Chief Financial Officer replacing Graeme Spenceley who retired from the Board. 
Emma joined the Group from Severn Trent plc where she was Group Finance Director, Capital Delivery & Commercial. Previously 
Emma spent 10 years at Deloitte LLP as a Corporate Finance Director and qualified as a chartered accountant with BDO.

Graeme Spenceley continued to serve as Company Secretary until March 2021 when he retired. Graeme was succeeded by 
Gemma Gill. Gemma holds a range of financial qualifications, including ACA, CTA and ADIT.  She joined Ideagen in November 
2019 as Group Finance Manager – Statutory & Tax and transitioned into the role of Company Secretary & Head of Tax in March 
2021.  Gemma has a degree in Mathematics & Physics from the University of York and 20 years’ professional experience working 
in top tier accountancy firms.

The Board has been supported by an Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee for a number of years and introduced 
a Nominations Committee in November 2019. The Nominations Committee is chaired by Richard Longdon and includes Tony 
Rodriguez and Alan Carroll as members. Julian Clough, Alan Carroll and Tony Rodriguez were all considered to be Independent 
Non-Executive Directors during the year ended 30 April 2021.
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During the year ended 30 April 2021, there were seven scheduled Board meetings and other Board meetings as required to 
approve other business such as the acquisition of a business. All directors in post at the date of the meetings attended the 
meetings. In addition to attending Board and Board Committee meetings, non-executive directors are required to be available 
at other times as required for face-to-face and telephone meetings with the executive team and investors.

In addition, there were three Audit and Risk Committee meetings during the year. Alan Carroll attended one meeting as Chair.  
Julian Clough attended the two meetings following his appointment as Chair and Tony Rodriguez attended all three meetings.  
There were two Remuneration Committee meetings both of which were attended by Alan Carroll as Chair and Tony Rodriguez. 
The Nominations Committee oversaw the appointment of Emma Hayes and two committee meetings were attended by Richard 
Longdon and Alan Carroll.

The chairman is responsible for ensuring that directors receive accurate, sufficient and timely information. The Company 
Secretary compiles the board and committee papers which are circulated to directors prior to meetings. The Company Secretary 
also provides minutes of each meeting and every director is aware of the right to have any concerns minuted and to seek 
independent advice at the group’s expense where appropriate.

Director experience, skills and capabilities
The Board considers that it has an appropriate blend of sector, financial and public markets experience and personal skills and 
capabilities to enable it to deliver its strategy. Four members of the Board have been involved in the technology sector for many 
years and three of the directors have substantial public markets experience. Directors are encouraged to attend trade events 
and seminars to ensure that they remain up to date with current developments.

Further information on the experience of each of the directors is provided on pages 35 and 36.

Evaluating Board performance based on clear and relevant objectives, 
seeking continuous improvement
It is recognised by shareholders that the Board has performed well both in terms of the development of an effective business 
strategy and in its day to day execution. The Board has continued to evolve and a number of important personnel changes, 
discussed above, have been implemented to ensure continuous improvement and performance.  

Examples include the introduction of Non-Executive Chairman, bringing independence to this key position as well as substantial 
relevant external experience. The successful Executive Director succession reflects the significant planning that went into the 
recruitment and on-boarding of our new Chief Financial Officer who brings fresh energy and relevant expertise onto the Board.  

Board effectiveness continues to be regularly and closely monitored and was a key area of discussion at the annual Board 
Strategy Day and Board Meetings. A further board evaluation process led by the Executive Chairman took place during the 
year. All directors met with the Chairman about the effectiveness of the Board and provided a self-assessment of their own 
contributions, skillset and future development. The refreshed personnel and terms of reference of the Audit & Risk Committee 
are an example of the outcomes of this process. The identification of development or mentoring needs of individual directors 
is managed via peer reviews and regular feedback sessions. The Non-Executive and Executive Directors monitor, evaluate and 
appraise each other’s performance. The Directors also meet at least once a year to appraise the effectiveness of the committees.  

Promoting a corporate culture that is based on ethical values and behaviours
Ideagen is an organisation built on the three core pillars of People, Customers, and Products. These provide the foundation for 
the company culture and identity, which revolves around investment in our people, to build great products for both existing and 
new customers.  

This simple approach is at the heart of the Group, whereby all the functions and teams believe they contribute to the success of 
Ideagen and feel empowered to contribute to the delivery of the Group’s vision.

Complementing these three pillars are seven shared strategic drivers, which are used to ensure the actions of our employees are 
targeted towards improving the organisation in a sustainable and controlled manner and one that represents Ideagen’s core 
values and beliefs of open communication and transparency.
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In support of all actions within the Group is a strong organisational structure and a comprehensive suite of documented policies 
and processes to ensure all appropriate workflows have rigorous safeguards. However, as an organisation we are conscious to 
strike the balance to create a culture of openness and collaboration, where teamwork in delivering the Group’s objectives is the 
primary driver.

The Group measures employee engagement as one of its key performance indicators. This is looking at all areas of people 
through from learning and development, career opportunity, management and vision and overall satisfaction. We are pleased 
with the progress we continue to make and monitor feedback regularly and provide a people update to the Board on a monthly 
report.

Communicating how the company is governed and is performing by maintaining a dialogue with shareholders and other relevant 
stakeholders.

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee is required to meet not less than twice each year. The remit of this committee was updated during 
the year to encompass oversight of risk as well as audit activities.  It receives and reviews reports from management and from the 
Group’s external auditors relating to the annual accounts and to the internal control procedures in use throughout the Group. It 
also reviews internal risk registers and reviews.  It is responsible for ensuring that the financial performance of the Group is properly 
reported with particular regard to legal requirements, accounting standards and the AIM Rules for Companies. The ultimate 
responsibility for reviewing and approving the annual report and accounts and the interim reports remains with the Board.

The Audit and Risk Committee comprises two independent non-executive directors, Julian Clough (as committee chairman) and 
Tony Rodriguez.

During the year the Committee held meetings with the external auditors on two occasions, prior to and towards the end of the 
annual audit. The members of the Committee also have direct access to the external auditors on an ongoing basis as required.

Further details are provided in the Audit and Risk Committee report on pages 45 to 47.

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee is required to meet not less than twice each year. It is responsible for considering and reviewing 
the terms and conditions of service (including remuneration) of executive directors and senior employees and the design and 
operation of the Company’s share option schemes and making appropriate recommendations to the Board.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two of the independent non-executive directors, Alan Carroll (as committee chairman) 
and Tony Rodriguez. 

Further details are provided in the Remuneration Committee report on pages 48 to 55.

Nominations Committee
The Nominations committee was formed in November 2019 to manage the assessment of the Board in terms of skills and 
experience and to manage the recruitment process of new Board members.

The committee comprises Richard Longdon as Chairman and Alan Carroll and Tony Rodriguez as members. Nominations 
committee members work together to form the best process for nominating and recruiting candidates for Board and leadership 
roles.

All members of the Nominations committee are required to identify potential candidates for current or upcoming vacancies and 
to work diligently toward attracting and securing top talent. Their duties include identifying, recruiting, screening and interviewing 
candidates for Board and management leadership positions. The committee selects the top candidates and recommends them 
to the Board as official nominees.

The Nominations committee will meet as required to meet the needs of the business but no less than twice per year. This year 
the committee was responsible for the recruitment of Emma Hayes as Chief Financial Officer to replace Graeme Spenceley who 
retired from the Board in July 2020 and Julian Clough as a new Non-Executive Director.
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For the Chief Financial Officer process, the Nominations committee utilised the services of a headhunting firm, who drew up a 
shortlist of 5 candidates of which 3 were interviewed. Emma was considered by all committee members and the Chief Executive 
Officer to be the most qualified and was selected for this important Board position.  

In recruiting the new Non-Executive Director, the Committee decided to advertise the post externally as well as utilising its 
professional network to arrive at a shortlist of 3 candidates who were interviewed. Julian was considered to be the most qualified 
and best fit for the requirements of the role and was subsequently appointed to the Board. 

By order of the Board

Richard Longdon 
Non-executive Chairman
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Introduction
As Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee, I am pleased to present the Committee’s report for the year ended 30 April 2021. This 
report covers our work as a Committee since the last Annual Report in fulfilling our responsibilities to provide effective governance 
over the Group’s financial reporting, risk management and internal controls. In meeting these responsibilities, the Committee 
follows the provisions of the QCA Corporate Governance Code which it continues to see as appropriate to the size and nature 
of the Group.

Composition and meetings
I have chaired the Committee since my appointment on 12 November 2020 when I succeeded Alan Carroll in the role. I would like 
to thank Alan on behalf of the Committee for his unstinting work since his appointment in 2012 during which time the Committee 
has kept pace with the exceptional growth achieved by the business.

I am a Chartered Accountant with almost 40 years’ financial, risk and M&A experience working largely in the accounting profession 
advising high growth companies both in private and listed environments. The Board has determined that I meet the requirements 
for the Committee to include at least one member with recent and relevant financial experience. 

I am joined on the Committee by Tony Rodriguez who has been a Committee member since 2017 and brings deep sector and 
business experience. Both Tony and I are independent non-executive directors. The Board is confident that the Committee has 
both recent and relevant financial experience and competence relevant to the sector in which the Company operates. 

The Committee has met three times formally since the last Annual Report to consider the external audit plan, the external 
audit findings, and the annual risk report. Committee members also maintain a regular dialogue outside of these meetings 
with the CFO and the Chief Legal Officer in his capacity as Head of Risk and Compliance and other members of the executive 
and finance teams. This allows the Committee to monitor the programme of continuous improvement to internal controls and 
the risk management review cycle on a timely basis. We are also able to consider a range of other matters as part of this 
dialogue including emerging developments in audit practice and international accounting standards. Other Board members, 
senior members of the finance and risk teams and representatives from the Group’s external auditors, RSM, are invited to attend 
Committee meetings.

During the course of the year, we reviewed the Committee’s terms of reference and determined to adopt the title Audit and Risk 
Committee which we consider better reflects the scope of the Committee’s oversight activities covering risk as well as financial 
and audit matters. The Committee’s terms of reference can be viewed on the Company website www.ideagen.com.

Role and main Committee activities
My role and that of the Committee is to ensure that we fulfil our responsibility to protect the interests of shareholders through 
carefully monitoring the integrity and clarity of the financial statements and other formal financial announcements, overseeing 
the relationship with the external auditors, reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and risk management 
processes and reporting our findings to the Board. 

The Committee’s main activities in discharging these responsibilities have been.

• We have reviewed the annual and interim financial reports, related statements, and other formal financial announcements. 
We reviewed the clarity, accuracy and completeness of disclosures including those for alternative performance measures;

• We approved the annual external audit plan including discussing the risk assessments on which it was based with the 
finance team and the external auditors;

• We approved the level of fees paid to the external auditors for audit services; 

• We discussed the findings of the external audit with the finance team and the external auditors;

• We reviewed the independence, objectivity and assessed the performance of the external auditors;

http://www.ideagen.com.
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• We reviewed the integrity and consistency of the key accounting judgements; 

• We considered whether the Annual Report and the financial statements as a whole present a fair, balanced and 
understandable view;

• We reviewed risk management processes including risk identification and monitoring procedures together with the principal 
risks and responses logged in the risk register;

• We reviewed heads of terms and aspects of internal and external due diligence relating to acquisitions;

• We reviewed the Group’s accounting for corporate acquisitions; 

• We reviewed the assumptions underlying going concern together with associated internal reports; and

• We reviewed the effectiveness and integrity of the internal controls which underpin financial reporting.

As part of the half and full year reporting cycles we carefully considered the key judgements applied in preparation of the 
financial statements including critical accounting estimates and judgements particularly those relating to revenue recognition, 
acquisition accounting, development costs, goodwill impairment and going concern further details of which can be found in note 
1 to the financial statements. The Committee formally reviewed and discussed each of these areas with the CFO, members of the 
finance team and with the external auditors.  

External independent auditors 
We review the independence and objectivity of the external auditors recognising that both the Board and RSM have processes 
in place to ensure auditor independence. RSM have formally confirmed to the Committee its independence as auditors. RSM do 
not provide any services other than audit. 

The Committee reviews the effectiveness of the audit seeking the views of senior finance team members. This assessment 
considers several criteria which include the delivery of a thorough and efficient audit with an appropriate level of challenge; the 
overall quality and scope of the audit; communication and engagement with the Audit Committee including reporting, follow up 
and resolution of issues; and the provision of accurate and insightful advice on key accounting and audit judgements.

A decision has been made to hold a tender process for the role of external auditor. The audit tender process will be led by the 
Audit and Risk Committee (with active consultation with the management team) and is expected to conclude later this year.

Internal audit 
The Company has not had an internal audit function although the Board instituted a cyclical process of audit of principal risk 
areas undertaken by members of the Risk and Compliance team with third party input commissioned, as necessary. The Board 
has to date taken the view that the internal controls processes would not be significantly enhanced by an internal audit function 
given the size of the Group, significant executive involvement in the Group’s operations and the risk management procedures 
referred to above. However, following the exceptional and sustained growth in the business and recognising its current and 
prospective size, scope and international reach, the Committee has recommended the creation of an internal audit function and 
a process is currently under way to recruit a Head of Internal Audit.

Risk management
The Committee oversees the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management processes and monitors principal risks. Risks are 
assessed on a departmental basis and captured on a group wide basis through Ideagen’s operational risk product, Pentana 
Risk. This enables the continuous review and financial evaluation of principal and emerging risk areas. The Committee reviews 
a monthly dashboard which facilitates ongoing dialogue and visibility of emerging risks and formally reviews the Annual Risk 
Report. Further information regarding the risk management framework and the principal risks and uncertainties identified is set 
out on pages 40 to 42. 
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Looking forward
This year the Group has delivered strong growth both organically and through acquisition despite the difficult trading conditions 
due to COVID-19. The Committee recognises this performance to be testament to the executive team’s ability to respond 
effectively to a changing risk landscape exhibiting above all resilience.

We also recognise that the Group is committed to a process of continuous improvement in its control environment to meet the 
challenges which will come with the increasing complexity, scope and international reach of the business. The Committee has 
been kept fully appraised of these plans and we are confident in the processes in place to support the ongoing monitoring of 
risk, internal control and financial reporting.

 

Julian Clough 
Non-Executive Director, Chairman Audit & Risk Committee. 
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Introduction
This report is for the year ended 30 April 2021. It sets out the Group’s remuneration policy and the remuneration details for the 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors of the Group. Although Ideagen is not required to comply with Schedule 8 of the Large 
and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008, the Company is committed to maintaining 
high governance standards and a transparent and effective remuneration structure. The following information is unaudited 
except where stated. 

In fulfilling its duties as in previous years, the Remuneration Committee considers the wider economy, the markets in which 
the Group operates and the overall performance of the Group. The remuneration of each Executive Director is determined on 
behalf of the Board by the Remuneration Committee in accordance with the relevant provisions of the guidance from QCA. The 
committee also draws widely from the BDO annual report on Directors Pay, comparator companies, the view of the Company’s 
brokers and publicly available guidance from Glass Lewis and ISS. 

Remuneration policy aims to reward and incentivise the Executive Management Team in pursuit of the Company’s strategic aims 
and to align these with long-term shareholder value. The Non-Executive Chairman and the CEO have been consulted in the 
course of producing remuneration policy.

Group performance and decisions taken on remuneration 
Ideagen has continued to achieve strong growth in FY20/21 despite the COVID-19 pandemic, with revenue increasing by 16% 
to £65.6M and adjusted EBITDA increasing by 24% to £22.9M. Earnings per Share grew by 15% to 6.2p per share. As a software-
as-a-service (SaaS) business, the board considers recurring revenue as its primary metric, with annualised recurring revenue 
recognised during the year rising to £54.2m from £43.1m a 27% increase, representing 83% of total revenues, up from 76% in the 
prior year.  In addition, the Company completed the successful earnings and capability enhancing acquisitions of Qualsys, 
Huddle and Qualtrax in the USA. Workrite acquired in March 2020 was also earnings enhancing in the FY.

As a result of Ideagen’s performance in year, and in light of the exceptional circumstances arising from COVID-19, the Board 
having foregone bonus payments in the previous year, along with all employees did receive bonus payments in FY 20/21. In line 
with plan pay increases delayed from 1 May to 1 November 2020 were implemented. This change in date will remain in place for 
FY21/22. The principal details and changes for FY21/22 will be:

• Remuneration during FY 21/22 will be in line with the policy laid out in the table below. The figures in brackets reflect the 
annualised rises being put in place from 1 November 2021. Executive Director salaries for FY21/22 will be set at: CEO - 
£280,000 (£310,000), CFO £180,000 (£200,000). 

• The maximum bonus opportunity for the CEO will be £200,000, and the CFO £80,000. These respectively amount to 63% 
and 40% of base salary.

• Bonuses will be paid to the CEO on achievement of the revenue and EBITDA targets, earnings and capability enhancing 
acquisitions, and cash generated by operations being at least 90% of EBITDA (representing 40%, 40% and 20% of bonus 
opportunity respectively), and to the CFO on achievement of the cash generated by operations being at least 90% of 
EBITDA (50% of bonus opportunity), EBITDA target (representing 30% of bonus opportunity), and earnings and capability 
acquisitions (20%). These bonuses are awarded in recognition of highly demanding targets. Ideagen does not have a 
‘stretch’ target element recognising performance over and above forecast.  For the avoidance of doubt ‘in line’ with targets 
will be assessed at a maximum variable of 3% unless the Remuneration Committee believes exceptional circumstances 
warrant a review of this figure. 
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Composition and responsibilities of the Committee 
The Committee comprises of two independent, Non-Executive directors, with myself as Chair together with Tony Rodriguez. 
Two meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held during the year along with numerous other exchanges on the subject 
with the CEO, Chairman, and our advisors.

The Committee has discharged its responsibilities during FY 20/21 by: 

• Conducting a market review of comparator companies;

• Evaluating independent remuneration reports for relevant comparator AIM companies;

•  Considering executive salary increases; 

•  Considering and approving bonus measures;

•  Considering and approving the extension of LTIP 2018 to key Persons Discharging Managerial Responsibilities (PDMRs);

•  Engaging in an ongoing dialogue with the Non Executive Chairman and CEO on all aspects of Board remuneration;

•  Considering and approving the exercise of Executive Director share options and the sales of shares by the Executive 
Directors; and

•  Formulating a new LTIP (LTIP 21) to replace the previous LTIP completed in December 2020.  In doing so the Committee 
consulted guidance notes from ISS, Glass Lewis, the publicly available detail for comparator companies and the Company 
brokers.  LTIP 2021 covers Executive Directors, the Executive Leadership and Leadership teams.

We recognise the need to foster good relations with our shareholders and encourage open dialogue.  The Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee is available for discourse with institutional investors concerning the Company’s approach to 
remuneration at any time. We trust you will find this Report to be informative and look forward to receiving your support at our 
forthcoming AGM. 

Alan M Carroll 
Non-Executive Director, Chairman Remuneration Committee.
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Director Remuneration Policies
Our remuneration policy is formulated to attract and retain high calibre executives and motivate them to develop and 
implement our business strategy to optimise long-term shareholder value. It is the intention that this policy should conform to 
best practice standards and that it will continue to apply for FY20/21 and subsequent years, subject to appropriate ongoing 
review. The policy is framed around the following key principles:

• total rewards as part of a continuing process are set at levels that are sufficiently competitive to enable the recruitment and 
retention of high calibre executives; 

• total incentive-based rewards are earned through the achievement of demanding performance conditions consistent with 
shareholder interests;

• incentive plans, performance measures and targets are structured to operate soundly throughout the business cycle;

• the design of long-term incentives, whilst challenging is prudent and will not expose shareholders to unreasonable financial 
risk;

• in considering the market positioning of reward elements, account will be taken of the performance of the Group and of 
each individual Executive Director.

When formulating the scale and structure of remuneration levels, the Remuneration Committee considers market rates, drawn 
from external market data, for the level of remuneration offered to directors of comparable type and seniority in other companies 
whose activities are similar to Ideagen. In addition, we also consider the pay and employment conditions of our employees when 
determining Directors’ remuneration. It merits emphasis that whilst employees at Ideagen continue to enjoy strong comparator 
rates, the Executive Directors’ base pay and bonuses continue to significantly lag comparator companies. Notwithstanding the 
decisions taken in response to COVID-19, the Committee has been progressively addressing this in recent years and will continue 
to do so. 

Each Executive Director’s remuneration package consists of basic salary, bonus, share options, health insurance and car 
allowance benefits, prolonged disability insurance and pension contributions. An appropriate balance is maintained between 
the fixed and performance related remuneration elements. The details of individual components of the remuneration packages 
for the year ended 30 April 2021 and details of service contracts are provided on page 53. The policy on each element of 
remuneration and how it operates, is detailed in the following table. 
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Element
Link to 

Remuneration 
Policy/Strategy

Key Features / 
Operation Potential value Performance metrics

Base salary To attract and retain 
high calibre executives.

Reviewed annually, 
changes effective from 
1 November. Executive 
Director’s experience, 
responsibilities and 
performance taken into 
consideration. 

Effective 1 May 2021: 
CEO £280,000; 
CFO £180,000. 
 
Effective 1 Nov 2021 
CEO £310,000; 
CFO £200,000.

Market comparator

Benefits To provide an 
attractive package 
alongside basic salary 
to attract and retain 
executives.

Benefits include but 
are not limited to a car 
allowance and private 
medical insurance, 
excluding fuel benefit 
and dental insurance.

Car allowance £6,000 
per annum paid 
monthly and medical 
insurance benefit 
(average £1,000 pa per 
director).

Market comparator

Pension Contributions are made 
to the Group’s pension 
scheme. 

Contribution rate set at 
5% for both employer 
and the individual.  

Market comparator

Performance 
related bonus

To incentivise 
achievement of 
acquisitions, Group 
profit targets and 
other near-term 
strategic objectives.

Based on performance 
against targets 
related to acquisitions, 
achievement of 
adjusted EBITDA and 
cash generated by 
operations targets set 
at beginning of the 
year.

For FY21/22 payments 
will be capped at 63% 
(£200,000) of salary for 
CEO 
 
For CFO at  40% 
(£80,000).

CEO & CFO both 
measured against 
achievement of adjusted 
EBITDA target, cash 
generated by operations 
of at least 90% of adjusted 
EBITDA and acquisitions.

Long Term 
Incentive Plan 
(“LTIP 2021”)

To align executives 
to the interests of 
shareholders and to 
incentivise long term 
financial performance.

See notes below CEO – 219,614 options 
 
CFO - 88,554 options

The principles underpinning 
the 2018 LTIP are similar to 
the previous LTIP – see the 
notes below for detail

Notes

As announced on 21 May 2021 the Company implemented a new long term incentive plan (the “2021 LTIP”) following the conclusion 
of Ideagen’s 2018 LTIP earlier that year. The principles underpinning the 2021 LTIP are similar to the previous LTIPs, insofar as 
the performance criteria is challenging and closely aligned to the Company’s evolving business strategy aimed at delivering 
shareholder value. The Board’s experience is that previous LTIPs have been a significant factor in attracting, motivating and 
retaining the high quality executive and senior management teams leading the Company.

Awards under the 2021 LTIP will be made across the Group’s executive directors and senior leadership team on an annual basis 
over the next 3 years, commencing from the start of FY21/22 and awarded as options over ordinary shares of 1 pence each in the 
Company (“Options”). The performance targets for each annual grant will be set by the Remuneration Committee to align the 
delivery of shareholder value with the business strategy of the Group against the performance framework outlined below. The 
Board are also mindful of the guiding principle that potential shareholder dilution as a result of any awards should be carefully 
considered and maintained at an appropriate low level.  With this in mind, the maximum number of Options that could be issued 
under the 2021 LTIP will be of the order of 0.4% of Ideagen’s current issued share capital as at the initial award date (this level will 
be subject to regular review by the Remuneration Committee). The Company recognises that all share plan awards will be below 
the maximum 10% of the company’s issued share capital in any 10-year rolling period.

Options awarded under the 2021 LTIP are priced at 282p this being the average price of Ideagen’s ordinary shares on a volume 
weighted average price, over the 50 business days preceding the award date, with a vesting period of three years and cannot 
be exercised until the fourth anniversary of any such award. Options will expire on the seventh anniversary following vesting. 
Vesting criteria will be based on a mix of revenue, earnings, cash generation, ESG and shareholder return targets aligned with 
the Group’s internal budget and plan.
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Each participant’s maximum award is based on a percentage of base salary on an annualised basis, ranging from a maximum 
200% of base salary for the Group CEO, 125% for the executive leadership team of which Emma Hayes is a member and 50% for 
the leadership team.  The awards have been made at the beginning of FY21/22, and will vest at year end subject to meeting the 
requisite performance criteria.

Non-Executive Director Fees
The Non-Executive Director fees for the year commencing 1 May 2021 have been changed to reflect market norms and are set at:

Richard Longdon   £125,000

Alan Carroll  £45,000

Tony Rodriguez  £45,000

Julian Clough  £45,000

Performance Share Plan (PSP)
The company currently does not operate a PSP for employees but all members of the Executive Leadership and Leadership 
Teams are included in LTIP 2021. 

Ideagen also operates a Share Incentive Plan (SIP) for qualifying employees.

Consideration of Employment Conditions Elsewhere in the Group 
The Committee considers pay and conditions of employees throughout the Group when determining remuneration. The 
Committee considers the relationship between Executive Director rewards and broader changes to UK employee’s remuneration. 
The company invested in the leading employee engagement platform PEAKON some 2 years ago. The Net Promoter Score 
results from regular independent surveys embracing pay and conditions through the platform show Ideagen to be favourably 
positioned in the software sector.  Ideagen believes in the principle of a broad remuneration strategy, specific to geography, but 
relevant and motivating to all roles and career stages.

Service Contracts 
The service contracts of the Executive Directors are all rolling contracts containing notice periods of 6 months. There are no 
special provisions for compensation in the event of loss of office.
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Salary or 
fees

Benefits in 
kind Bonuses

National 
insurance on 
share options

Pension Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

David Hornsby 220 7 130 - 11 368

Ben Dorks 265 7 50 181 13 516

Emma Hayes* 146 5 30 57 7 245

Graeme Spenceley* 28 1 - - 1 30

Barnaby Kent* 91 4 30 113 5 243

Alan Carroll 31 2 - - - - 31

Tony Rodriguez 32 2 - - - - 32

Richard Longdon 65 - - - - 65

Julian Clough* 21 - - - - 21

899 24 240 351 1 37 1,551

*Figures for these Directors reflect the period during which they held office during the year, each having served only a portion of the year ended 30 April 2021 

Salary or fees Benefits in 
kind Bonuses Pension Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

David Hornsby 220 7 - 11 238

Ben Dorks 250 7 - 12 269

Graeme Spenceley 170 6 - 9 185

Barnaby Kent 170 7 - 9 186

Alan Carroll 30 - - - 30

Jonathan Wearing 18 - - 1 19

Tony Rodriguez 25 - - - 25

Richard Longdon 32 - - - 32

915 27 - 42 984

Notes:
1. The Group paid the employer’s national insurance costs outlined above in respect of the gains arising on non-tax-efficient 
share options exercised during the year ended 30 April 2021. The associated income tax and employee national insurance costs 
were paid by the individual directors.

2. The remuneration for Alan Carroll was paid to Ultris Limited and the remuneration for Tony Rodriguez was paid to X88 Ltd for 
the period up to 31 March 2021 as set out in note 29 to the accounts. 

The following information is audited. The emoluments of each of the directors of the Company during the year 
ended 30 April 2021 were as follows:
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Directors’ interests
The following information has been audited. Options over ordinary shares in the Company granted to the Directors which 
remained outstanding at 30 April 2021 were as follows:

Director
Notes  
(see 

below)

Balance 
at 30 April 

2020

Granted 
in the 
year

Exercised 
in the 
year

Lapsed
Balance 

at 30 April 
2021

Option 
exercise 

price 
(pence)

Dates 
exercisable

Ben Dorks a 1,200,000 - 600,000 - 600,000 1.0 2021 - 2023

1,200,000 - 600,000 - 600,000

Graeme Spenceley b,c 750,000 - 187,500 562,500 - 1.0 2021 - 2024

750,000 - 187,500 562,500 -

Barnaby Kent b 750,000 - 375,000 375,000 1.0 2022 - 2024

750,000 - 375,000 - 375,000

Emma Hayes d - 562,500 187,500 375,000 1.0 2021 - 2025

562,500 187,500 - 375,000

Notes: 

a. options were granted on 22 October 2018 under the Company’s 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan. None of these options were 
exercisable at 30 April 2021.

b. options were granted on 28 March 2019 under the Company’s 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension. None of these options 
were exercisable at 30 April 2021.

c. on 1 July 2020, this award was reduced by 562,500 options to 187,500 options (all on the basis of the 196p share price vesting 
condition) when Graeme Spenceley retired as a director of Ideagen plc. 

d. 562,500 options over the shares of the Company were awarded to Emma Hayes on her appointment as CFO on 1 July 2020.



Ideagen Plc | Annual Report 2021

55 

Remuneration Committee Report for the year ended 30 April 2021

During the year ended 30 April 2021, 1,318 (30 April 2020: 1,342) “Free” shares were awarded to each of David Hornsby, Ben Dorks, 
Graeme Spenceley and Barnaby Kent under the Company’s Share Incentive Scheme.

There have been no other changes to Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company from the end of the year to the 
date of this report .  David Hornsby retired from the Company and his role as Executive Chairman on 13 May 2021 when he was 
succeeded by Richard Longdon who assumed the role of Non Executive Chairman.

Further information on the Group’s share option schemes can be found in note 24 to the accounts.

Directors’ beneficial interests in shares
The following information is unaudited. Set out below are the beneficial interests of the Directors in the share capital of the 
Company at the beginning and end of the year.

30 April 2021 30 April 2020

David Hornsby 7,636,549 10,224,754

Ben Dorks 2,653,216 2,351,888

Emma Hayes 93,750 -

Alan Carroll 204,421 204,311

Tony Rodriguez - -

Julian Clough - -

Richard Longdon - -
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The directors are pleased to present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2021.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Group are the development and supply of software solutions and the provision of associated 
professional and support services.

Results and dividends
A review of the results for the year and the financial position of the Group is included in the Strategic Report on pages 4 to 36 and 
details are set out in the financial statements on pages 68 to 138.

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2020 of 0.216 pence per ordinary share was paid to shareholders on 25 
November 2020. The total cost of this dividend was £ 489,981.

An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2021 of 0.12 pence per ordinary share (2020: 0.104) was paid to 
shareholders on 17 March 2021. The total cost of this dividend was £302,550 (2020: £235,408).

The directors propose a final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2021 of 0.25 pence per share (2020: 0.216) payable 
on 24th November 2021 to shareholders on the register on 5th November 2021. This is subject to approval by shareholders at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.  

The total proposed dividend per share in respect of the year ended 30 April 2021 is therefore 0.37 pence per share (2020: 0.32).

In accordance with S414c(ii) of the Companies Act 2006, the Group has chosen to set out in the Group’s Strategic Report, 
information required by the Large and Medium Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 Sch.7 to be 
contained in the Director’s Report.

Directors
The directors who held office were as follows:

David R K Hornsby (Executive Chairman)  (retired 13 May 2021) 

Richard Longdon (Non-Executive Chairman)  (transitioned from Non-Executive Director to Non-Executive Chairman on  
      to 13 May 2021)

Benjamin C Dorks (Chief Executive Officer)

Emma J Hayes (Chief Financial Officer)  (appointed 1 July 2020)

Barnaby L Kent (Chief Operating Officer)  (retired 12 November 2020)

Alan M Carroll (Non-Executive Director)

Tony Rodriguez (Non-Executive Director)

Graeme P Spenceley (Chief Financial Officer)  (retired 30 June 2020)

Julian S Clough (Non-Executive Director)  (appointed 12 November 2020)

Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company
The interests of the directors in the share capital of the Company are set out in the Remuneration Committee Report on pages 
48 to 55.
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Directors’ indemnity and insurance
The Group maintained insurance cover during the year for its Directors and Officers and those of subsidiary companies under a 
Directors and Officers liability insurance policy against liabilities which may be incurred by them while carrying out their duties.

Employees
‘People’ remains one of the three core pillars within Ideagen, alongside ‘Customers’ and ‘Products’. The evolution of how Ideagen 
manages, engages, and rewards its teams has progressed well over the last 12 months. All the primary benefits such as Life 
Insurance, contributory pension, Private Medical, and the Share Incentive Plan (SIP) have continued and, where appropriate, been 
expanded. In addition, Ideagen seeks to be creative in the use of soft benefits such as Personal Financial Planning initiatives, 
mental health workshops, holiday buy/sell, and informal flexi-time, all of which are supported by the full-time in-house Employee 
Engagement Officer.

The Group has a targeted employee net promoter score (eNPS) provided through the leading employee engagement platform 
Peakon. This anonymous survey every 8 weeks allows the Group to understand the pulse of each office / function / demographic, 
thereby ensuring that a broad and comprehensive plan can be established that touches all employees around the globe.

Recruitment in the UK continues to be a competitive market, but Ideagen invests heavily to ensure all employees benefit from 
great facilities, excellent Learning & Development and best of breed tools, whilst enjoying a framework that aims to deliver 
#bestversionofyou in a stable, fulfilling environment.

Although employee turnover is inevitable in an acquisition focused Technology company, the Board remains pleased that non-
acquisition employee turnover of 10.5% is considerably better than the wider technology market where all indicators suggest it 
is 15%+.

Ideagen is an equal opportunities employer and it is our policy to treat all employees, job applicants, customers and suppliers 
equally regardless of their age, disability, gender reassignment, marital status, pregnancy, race (including nationality, ethnic or 
national origins), religion or religious beliefs, sex or sexual orientation.

The Group is committed to a policy of recruitment and promotion on the basis of aptitude and ability without discrimination of 
any kind. Management actively pursues both the employment of disabled persons whenever a suitable vacancy arises and the 
continued employment and retaining of employees who become disabled whist employed by the Group. Particular attention 
is given to the training, career development and promotion of disabled employees with a view to encouraging them to play an 
active role in the development of the Group.

Events after the end of the reporting period
On 4 May 2021, the Group entered into a revised Revolving Credit Facility Agreement with National Westminster Bank and 
Santander.  This is a £100 million facility of which £75 million is committed and a further £25 million is approved but remains 
uncommitted until a draw-down request is made.    

On 9 July 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Opsbase Limited, an early stage but technologically complete 
health and safety software compliance platform.  Consideration was £1.9 million.     

On 16 July 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Advanced Digital Systems Inc, a company incorporated and 
domiciled in the United States of America and trading as Mi-Co.   Consideration was £3.1 million.  The acquisition will strengthen 
the Group’s technology offering providing a no- and low-code mobile application development platform to support the capture, 
collation and submission of data to facilitate regulatory compliance.

Due to the recent timing of the acquisitions and the availability of information, a full assessment of the fair values of assets and 
liabilities acquired has not yet been completed. 

The acquisitions were funded from the Group’s cash resources and its Revolving Credit Facility.

Financial instruments
Disclosure of the exposure of the Group to liquidity, foreign exchange, credit and interest rate risk are disclosed in notes 1, 20 and 
25 to the financial statements. 
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Research and development
During the year ended 30 April 2021 the Group incurred research and development expenditure of £10,374,000 (2020: £8,734,000). 
The group capitalised £3,884,000 (2020: £3,929,000) as disclosed in notes 3 and 9 to the financial statements. 

Substantial shareholdings
As at 30 April 2021, the Company was notified of the following interests which represented 3% or more of the ordinary share 
capital of the Company. 

Number of 
shares held at 30 

April 2021

Percentage of 
shares held at 30 

April 2021
Liontrust Asset Management 35,158,100 13.9%

Investec Wealth & Investment 20,384,821 8.1%

Capital Group 20,183,901 8.0%

Vind LV AS 16,467,162 6.5%

Canaccord Genuity Wealth Management 9,193,085 3.6%

David Hornsby 7,636,549 3.0%

Stakeholder engagement
We recognise the importance of engaging with stakeholders to help inform our strategy and Board decisions. By giving 
consideration to key stakeholder groups and aligning activities with our strategic objectives, culture and values, we aim to act 
fairly, transparently and in the best interests of the Company over the long term. See section 172 statement for further details.

The Board, our Executive and Senior Management Teams make decisions with a long-term view in mind and with the highest 
standards of conduct in line with Group policies and good corporate governance. Key and material decisions are carefully 
considered with regard to the likely consequences on all stakeholders and, where appropriate, these matters are discussed with 
the affected stakeholder group so that their views and feedback is understood and factored into the decision process. 

Reports are regularly made to the Board about the strategy, performance and key decisions taken which provides the Board with 
assurance that proper consideration is given to stakeholder interests in decision-making and also that the Board is consulted on 
those matters and decisions that require it’s support and approval.

Auditor
In accordance with the Companies Act 2006 a resolution proposing the appointment of auditor will be put to the members at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.  As noted in the Audit and Risk Committee Report, a decision has been made to tender 
the audit with the outcome expected to be known by the Annual General Meeting.

Disclosure of information to the auditor
So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditor is unaware. Additionally, the 
directors have taken all the necessary steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of all 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditor is aware of that information.

Going concern
Our business model and strategy are core to the understanding of our future outlook and details on both of these areas can be 
found in the Strategic Report along with a review of the financial position of the Group. Our strategy has been consistent over a 
number of years and has underpinned the growth and consistent delivery of strong financial results over the last decade.   

We consider in-year performance and longer term prospects through a cycle of planning and budgeting.  These assess revenue, 

EBITDA, cash flows and funding as well as other key metrics, specifically those relevant to our SaaS business model.
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COVID-19
In light of the ongoing uncertainty triggered by the global COVID-19 pandemic, our approach to assessing going concern has 
been augmented this year.  We have undertaken enhanced reviews of macro market dynamics, current financial condition of the 
business and operational information such as customers and business risks.  

Our decisions and actions during the pandemic have been based on the principles of protecting our people, ensuring our 
business remains strong and working collaboratively with our customers through the challenges they face.   

Steps have been taken to allow our staff to be able to work on an agile and predominantly remote basis in order to follow social 
distancing, lockdown and self-isolation measures whilst mitigating the impact on client service.  The entire customer journey is 
being managed remotely; from winning and deploying new customer solutions, serving the needs of clients and managing cash 
collection.  

The results of this strategy have been highly effective.  As noted in the Chief Executive’s report, customer retention has remained 
at 95% and we have continued to add new clients.  Employee engagement has also remained strong.  All of these factors 
combined with tight cost control and realisation of savings from the COVID-19 cost-reduction programme support the Directors’ 
view that the business is very well positioned to prosper.  

Current trading is strong, with robust cash generation and positive indicators of growth. The Group has a strong balance sheet 
with a conservative level of gearing with sufficient liquidity and funding facilities. 

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and Group have adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual 
financial statements.

Further information is provided in note 1 to the financial statements.

Future developments
The Strategic Report on pages 4 to 36 refers to the Group’s ongoing strategy and future development. In addition, the directors 
will continue to seek to acquire businesses with strong intellectual property and recurring revenues operating within appropriate 
markets.

Strategic Report
The Group has chosen, in accordance with section 414C(11) of the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’ Report) 
Regulations 2013, to set out in the Group’s Strategic Report certain information required by Schedule 7 of the Large and Medium-
sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 to be contained in the Directors’ Report.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Ben Dorks 
Director 
22 July 2021
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The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and Company financial statements for each financial year. The directors 
have elected under company law and are required by the AIM rules of the London Stock Exchange to prepare Group financial 
statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006 and have elected under company law to prepare the company financial statements in accordance with International 
Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements are required by law and International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006 to present fairly the financial position of the Group and the Company and the financial performance of the 
Group. The Companies Act 2006 provides in relation to such financial statements that references in the relevant part of that Act 
to financial statements giving a true and fair view are references to their achieving a fair presentation.

Under company law the directors must not approve financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the Group and Company financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and 
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the 
Ideagen plc website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of the financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Ideagen plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year 
ended 30 April 2021 which comprise the group statement of comprehensive income, group and company statements of financial 
position, group and company statements of changes in equity, group and company statements of cashflows and notes to the 
financial statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006 and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 2006.

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 30 
April 2021 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in 
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Accounting 
Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and as applied in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the group and parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and parent 
company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

• understanding how the cash flow forecasts for the going concern period had been prepared and the assumptions adopted;

• testing of the integrity of the forecast model to ensure its mathematical accuracy;

• challenging the key assumptions within the forecast with agreement to supporting data where appropriate; and

• review and challenge of the appropriateness of the sensitivity analysis performed by management, supplemented by our 
own stress testing, followed by consideration of the need for available actions should performance be behind expectations. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections 
of this report.
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Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters Group

• Revenue recognition
• Acquisition accounting
• Development costs

Parent Company

• There were no key audit matters specifically related to the parent company in the 30 April 
2021 financial statements.

Materiality Group

• Overall materiality: £811,000 (2020: £612,000)
• Performance materiality: £608,000 (2020: £459,000)

Parent Company

• There were no key audit matters specifically related to the parent company in the 30 April 
2021 financial statements.

Scope Our audit procedures covered 84% of revenue, 85% of total assets and 92% of Adjusted EBITDA.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the group 
and parent company financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on the overall audit 
strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the group and parent company financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Revenue recognition

Key audit matters Refer to accounting policies in note 1.

Revenue recognition is subject to inherent complexities in the software industry. The revenue 
recognition criteria varies for each income stream as they have different performance 
obligations. There is a risk that revenue is not recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 “Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers” for customer agreements, particularly as these arrangements 
often cover a number of periods and span the year end.

How the matter was 
addressed in the audit

We considered the processes and controls over the recognition of revenue and whether these 
continued to be appropriate and consistently applied. 

We determined whether revenue had been recognised in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policies by performing controls testing and substantive tests of detail. This included 
checking whether revenue had been appropriately deferred or accrued in the Group statement 
of financial position with regard to the specific income stream and the associated performance 
obligations. 

We considered the adequacy of the Group’s revenue recognition accounting policy including  
the treatment of sales commissions in accordance with IFRS15, in particular we challenged 
management’s judgement with respect to identifying which costs of obtaining contracts were 
incremental and in determining the amortisation period.
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Acquisition accounting

Key audit matters Refer to note 21 and the accounting policies and use of estimates and judgements in note 1.

The group has made a number of acquisitions during the year. These transactions fall under the 
scope of IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” which requires management judgement in determining 
the fair value of assets acquired, including intangible assets.

While the group have an established approach, there remains significant judgement in the 
valuation and separation of intangibles. These remain significant events in the year as each 
acquisition differs.

How the matter was 
addressed in the audit

We reviewed and challenged the reasonableness of the methodology and inputs used to 
determine the acquired intangible values.   Our work also included a review of management’s 
other fair value adjustments including those required to apply revenue recognition policies 
consistently.  We also reviewed the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements.

Development costs 

Key audit matter 
description

Capitalised development costs are disclosed in note 9 and within use of estimates and 
judgements in note 1.

The company has incurred expenditure on development of new products which are capitalised if 
certain criteria are met in accordance with IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’. 

We focused on the capitalisation of development costs due to the impact on reported earnings 
and the judgements involved in assessing whether the IAS 38 criteria for capitalisation have been 
met. 

How the matter was 
addressed in the audit

We confirmed our understanding of management’s basis for capitalising development costs, 
updated our understanding of key existing and new projects and determined whether the costs 
had been appropriately capitalised in accordance with IAS 38 and the accounting policy in note 1.

Our procedures included an assessment over the appropriateness of any management 
judgements including the future expected economic benefit of capitalised projects and 
substantive procedures to assess the costs capitalised. We also assessed the reasonableness of 
the amortisation policies in place and potential impairment. 



Ideagen Plc | Annual Report 2021

64 

Independent Auditor’s report to the members of Ideagen Plc

Our application of materiality
When establishing our overall audit strategy, we set certain thresholds which help us to determine the nature, timing and extent 
of our audit procedures. When evaluating whether the effects of misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements 
as a whole, could reasonably influence the economic decisions of the users we take into account the qualitative nature and the 
size of the misstatements. Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality as follows:

Group Parent Company

Overall materiality £811,000 (2020: £612,000) £325,000 (2020: £519,000)

Basis for determining 
overall materiality

3.5% of adjusted EBITDA 1% of net assets, restricted for the group audit

Rationale for benchmark 
applied

Adjusted EBITDA is considered to be 
the metric used by users of the financial 
statements to review the performance of the 
group.

Holding company with some trading activity.

Performance materiality £608,000 (2020: £459,000) £243,000  (2020: £389,000)

Basis for determining 
performance materiality

75% of overall materiality 75% of overall materiality

Reporting of 
misstatements to the 
Audit Committee

Misstatements in excess of £40,000 and 
misstatements below that threshold that, in 
our view, warranted reporting on qualitative 
grounds. 

Misstatements in excess of £16,000 and 
misstatements below that threshold that, in 
our view, warranted reporting on qualitative 
grounds. 

An overview of the scope of our audit
The group consists of 19 components. The coverage achieved by our audit procedures was:

 
Full scope audits were performed for 9 components, specific audit procedures for 1 component and analytical procedures at 
group level for the remaining 9 components. 

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our 
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether 
this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

Full scope

Specific audit procedures

Analytical procedures
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We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

• the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

• the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report 
to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or

• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 60, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

The extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations.  The objectives of our audit are to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding compliance with laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the determination 
of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, to perform audit procedures to help identify instances of 
non-compliance with other laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements, and to respond 
appropriately to identified or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations identified during the audit.  

In relation to fraud, the objectives of our audit are to identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of the financial 
statements due to fraud, to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the assessed risks of material misstatement 
due to fraud through designing and implementing appropriate responses and to respond appropriately to fraud or suspected 
fraud identified during the audit.  
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However, it is the primary responsibility of management, with the oversight of those charged with governance, to ensure that 
the entity’s operations are conducted in accordance with the provisions of laws and regulations and for the prevention and 
detection of fraud.

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud, the group audit engagement 
team: 

• obtained an understanding of the nature of the industry and sector, including the legal and regulatory framework that 
the group and parent company operates in and how the group and parent company are complying with the legal and 
regulatory framework;

• inquired of management, and those charged with governance, about their own identification and assessment of the risks of 
irregularities, including any known actual, suspected or alleged instances of fraud;

• discussed matters about non-compliance with laws and regulations and how fraud might occur including assessment of 
how and where the financial statements may be susceptible to fraud.

The most significant laws and regulations were determined as follows:

Legislation / Regulation Additional audit procedures performed by the Group audit engagement team included: 

IFRS and Companies Act 
2006

Review of the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation;

Completion of disclosure checklists to identify areas of non-compliance.

Tax compliance 
regulations

Inspection of advice received from external tax advisors

Consideration of whether any matter identified during the audit required reporting to an 
appropriate authority outside the entity. 

ISO Compliance ISAs limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and 
regulations to inquiry of management and where appropriate, those charged with governance 
(as noted above) and inspection of legal and regulatory correspondence, if any.

The areas that we identified as being susceptible to material misstatement due to fraud were:

Risk Audit procedures performed by the audit engagement team:  

Revenue recognition See key matters above. In addition, we reviewed revenue journals for appropriateness. 

Management override of 
controls 

Testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; 

Assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a 
potential bias; and

Evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the 
normal course of business.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Ian Wall (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of RSM UK Audit LLP, Statutory Auditor 

Chartered Accountants 
Suite A, 7th Floor 
East West Building  
2 Tollhouse Hill 
Nottingham 
NG1 5FS 
22 July 2021

Independent Auditor’s report to the members of Ideagen Plc
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for the Year Ended 30 April 2021

 
2021 2020

NOTES £’000 £’000

Revenue 2 65,644 56,565

Cost of sales (5,252) (5,125)

Gross profit 60,392 51,440

Operating costs 3 (37,499) (32,917)

Profit from operating activities before depreciation, amortisation, share-
based payment charges, costs of acquiring businesses, RDEC grant income, 
restructuring costs and exceptional items

22,893 18,523

Depreciation and amortisation 3 (16,703) (12,927)

Costs of acquiring businesses 8,21 (1,277) (402)

Restructuring costs 8 (406) (830)

RDEC grant income 8 260 -

Share-based payment charges 8,24 (2,997) (1,710)

Exceptional impairment of financial assets 8,14 - (1,989)

Operating profit 1,770 665

Net finance costs 5 (991) (799)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 779 (134)

Taxation 7 (156) (59)

Profit/(loss) for the year 623 (193)

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (1,949) 508

Corporation tax on exercise of options 551 1,447

Total other comprehensive income (1,398) 1,955

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of the 
parent company 

(775) 1,762

Earnings per share Pence Pence

Basic 8 0.26 (0.09)

Diluted 8 0.26 (0.09)
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Group Statement of Financial Position at  
30 April 2021

2021 2020

NOTE £’000 £’000

Assets and liabilities

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 9 174,937 113,788

Property, plant and equipment 10 3,488 1,404

Right of use assets 11 7,063 8,312

Lease receivables 12 299 412

185,787 123,916

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 14 20,425 18,441

Lease receivables 12 77 80

Derivative Financial instruments 20 - 92

Cash and cash equivalents 8,954 8,216

29,456 26,829

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 6,793 6,941

Current income tax liabilities 65 588

Lease liabilities 11 1,027 1,039

Derivative Financial instruments 20 121 116

Borrowings 17 20,000 25,000

Deferred revenue 34,662 22,799

Deferred consideration on business combinations 19 1,903 525

64,571 57,008

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 11 6,659 7,725

Deferred income tax liabilities 7 18,094 9,103

Provisions 18 307 -

25,060 16,828

Net assets 125,612 76,909

(Registration number: 02805019)
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Group Statement of Financial Position as at 30 April 2021

2021 2020

NOTES £’000 £’000

Equity

Issued share capital 22 2,523 2,266

Share premium account 22 102,924 55,364

Merger reserve 22 1,658 1,658

Share-based payments reserve 24 2,216 2,370

Foreign currency translation reserve (600) 1,349

Retained earnings 16,891 13,902

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent 125,612 76,909

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 22 July 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Ben Dorks   Emma Hayes      
Director    Director

(Registration number: 02805019)
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 30 April 2021
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 30 April 2020
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Group Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 April 2021
2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities NOTES £’000 £’000

Profit/(loss) for the year         623 (193)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 688 614

Amortisation of intangible non-current assets 9 14,637 11,268

Depreciation of right of use assets 11 1,377 1,045

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 81 -

Share-based payment charges 24 2,997 1,710

Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss 5 991 799

Taxation charge/(credit) recognised in profit or loss 7 156 59

Business acquisition costs in profit or loss 21 1,277 402

Restructuring costs in profit or loss 406 830

Exceptional impairment of financial assets 14 - 1,989

Loss on transfer to sublease 12 - 5

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables        1,226 (2,217)

Decrease/(increase) in financial instruments debtor          92 (92)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables     (2,054) 31

Increase in derivative financial instruments creditor              5 116

Increase in deferred revenue liability 2,471 1,691

Cash generated by operations 24,973 18,057

Net finance costs paid (777) (1,002)

Income tax (paid)/received (1,097) 58

Business acquisition costs paid (1,545) (877)

Restructuring costs paid (954) (218)

Employer’s national insurance paid on share-based payments (705) (20)

Net cash generated from operating activities 19,895 15,998

Cash flows from investing activities

Net cash outflow on acquisition of businesses net of cash acquired 21 (52,815) (24,091)

Payments of deferred consideration on business combinations 19 (525) (1,269)

Payments of contingent consideration on business combinations - (769)

Payments for development costs 9 (3,884) (3,929)

Payments for property, plant and equipment 10 (2,639) (895)

Purchase of software 9 (329) (35)

Lease debtor receipts 77 11

Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and equipment 13 -

Net cash used in investing activities (60,102) (30,977)
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Group Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 April 2021 (continued)

2021 2020

Cash flows from financing activities NOTES £’000 £’000

Proceeds from placing of equity shares 22 48,725 -

Payments for share issue costs 22     (1,510) -

Proceeds from issue of shares under the share option schemes 22          502 1,307

Proceeds from issue of shares under the share incentive scheme 22 100 92

Cost of shares purchased under the share incentive scheme             (4) (3)

New borrowings 17 23,500 21,250

Repayment of borrowings 17   (28,500) (4,007)

Principal paid on lease liabilities 11 (911) (1,020)

Equity dividends paid 23 (793) (656)

Net cash generated from financing activities 41,109 16,963

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year 902 1,984

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 28 8,216 6,199

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash balances held in foreign currencies (164) 33

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 28 8,954 8,216
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2021 2020

Assets and liabilities NOTES £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 9 - -

Property, plant and equipment 10 2,273 235

Right of use assets 11 5,625 6,662

Investments in subsidiaries 13 139,690 93,672

Deferred income tax asset 7 - 70

147,588 100,639

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 14 26,097 14,359

Derivative financial instruments 20 - 92

Cash and cash equivalents 2,326 1,697

28,423 16,148

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 32,187 14,351

Lease liabilities 11 242 259

Derivative financial instruments 20 121 -

Borrowings 17 20,000 25,000

Deferred revenue 129 148

Deferred consideration on business combinations 19 1,903 525

54,582 40,283

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 11 5,667 6,390

Deferred income tax liabilities 7 144 -

Provisions 18 218 -

6,029 6,390

Net assets 115,400 70,114

Company Statement of Financial Position as at 30 April 2021

(Registration number: 02805019)
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Company Statement of Financial Position as at 30 April 2021 (continued)

2021 2020

NOTES £’000 £’000

Equity

Issued share capital 22 2,523 2,266

Share premium account 22 102,924 55,364

Merger reserve 22 1,709 1,709

Share-based payments reserve 24 2,216 2,370

Retained earnings 6,028 8,405

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent 115,400 70,114

The company has taken advantage of the exemption in s408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present its individual statement 
of comprehensive income and related notes. The Company reported a loss for the year of £4,577,000 (2020: profit £637,000).

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 22 July 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Ben Dorks   Emma Hayes      
Director    Director

(Registration number: 02805019)
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 30 April 2021
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 30 April 2020
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The notes on pages 80 to 138 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Company Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 April 2021
2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities NOTES £’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit for the year (4,577) 637

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 226 96

Amortisation of intangible assets 9 - 26

Depreciation of right of use assets 11 668 351

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 26 - 

Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss 959 774

Taxation (credit)/charge recognised in profit or loss (101) 1,273

Business acquisition costs in profit or loss 21 1,277 402

Restructuring costs in profit or loss 67 - 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (579) 60

Decrease /(increase) in derivative financial instruments debtor 214 (92)

Movement in intra-group balances 7,897 8,348

Decrease in trade and other payables (366) (63)

Decrease in deferred revenue (19) (675)

Cash generated from operations 5,692 11,137

Net finance costs paid (746) (976)

Business acquisition costs paid (1,548) (877)

Net cash generated from operating activities 3,398 9,284

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for investments in subsidiaries 21 (41,822) (26,346)

Payment of deferred consideration on business combinations 19 (525) (500)

Payments for property, plant and equipment 10 (2,290) (110)

Net cash used in investing activities (44,637) (26,956)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from placing of equity shares 22 48,725 -

Payments for share issue costs 22 (1,510) -

Proceeds from issue of shares under the share option schemes 22 502 1,307

Proceeds from issue of shares under the share incentive scheme 22 101 92

Cost of shares purchased under the share incentive scheme (4) (3)

New borrowings 17 23,500 21,250

Repayment of borrowings 17 (28,500) (3,750)

Principal paid on lease liabilities 11 (153) (309)

Equity dividends paid 23 (793) (656)

Net cash generated from financing activities 41,868 17,931

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year 629 259

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 28 1,697 1,438

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 28 2,326 1,697
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
1 | Accounting policies
Reporting entity, principal activities and basis of preparation
Ideagen plc is a public limited company, incorporated and domiciled in England & Wales. The ordinary shares of the Company 
are traded on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.  

The principal activities of the Group are the development and sale of information management software to businesses in highly 
regulated industries and the provision of associated professional services and support.

The business has a track record of organic and acquisitive growth, having made 18 acquisitions before 30 April 2020 and a 
further 3 in the year ended April 2021. There is an established process for the execution and integration of acquisitions, both from 
an operational and financial perspective. This includes a 72-point checklist and staff members across the business with deep 
integration experience.   The approach to accounting for goodwill and intangibles is set out in the Accounting Policies note below.        

The Group and Parent Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting 
Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, being the functional currency of the Group, generally rounded to 
the nearest thousand. The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for derivative 
financial instruments which are carried at fair value. 

The Group financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiary undertakings made 
up to 30 April 2021. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All intra-group balances and transactions 
are eliminated. The financial statements of all subsidiaries are prepared up to the same date as the parent Company with 
the exception of Ideagen EOOD in Bulgaria which makes its financial statements up to 31 December each year as required by 
Bulgarian law.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best 
knowledge of current events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.

Going Concern
Our going concern assessment and related disclosure has been enhanced this year in view of the ongoing uncertainty around 
the COVID-19 pandemic, and its potential macroeconomic impact.  The approach focuses on a review of the following factors:

• External market dynamics and any changes or trends likely to impact demand or the competitive landscape

•  Current financial condition of the business, including recurring revenue, profitability and cashflow trends and forecasts

•  Banking facilities and liquidity position

•  Customer relationships

•  Other business risks

A comprehensive assessment is made of each area taking into account all available information – internal and external – and 
focused on a one year period from approval of the financial statements.  

Our decisions and actions during the pandemic have been based on the principles of protecting our people, ensuring our 
business remains strong and working collaboratively with our customers through the challenges they face.   Management of this 
transition has been effective and due to systems and processes established prior to the pandemic has had a limited impact on 
the operational performance of the Group.  
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1 | Accounting policies (continued)
At the outset of the pandemic in the UK, the directors reviewed the business and took the strategic decision to reduce cost via a 
targeted redundancy programme. These decisions were both an acceleration of strategic initiatives in moving towards a digital 
marketing function and a reshaping of the operational cost base. The savings provided additional financial resilience at a point 
when COVID-19 was starting to unfold.  

The year ended 30 April 2021 was unprecedented in terms of macro-economic turbulence and the long term economic impact 
is still unknown. The Board is encouraged by the buoyancy shown in terms of trading results and has monitored key indicators 
such as customer attrition rates, cash collection and new business wins more closely than ever this year. Given the Group’s 
large recurring revenue base and relatively predictable costs, we are able to forecast with a reasonable degree of confidence. 
These uncertain times also present opportunities. Some of the Group’s core sectors have seen growth and there is scope to take 
advantage of market share and acquisition opportunities.  

The Group has sufficient liquidity and funding facilities.  As at 30 April 2021 the Group was £20 million drawn down against its 
total Revolving Credit Facility (“RCF”) and had cash on hand of £9.0 million. Immediately after the year end, a refinancing was 
completed to extend the Group’s available credit facilities. The new RCF has £75 million of committed funding and a further £25 
million of funding that is approved but currently uncommitted.   

The Directors have prepared trading and cash flow forecasts for a period of one year from the date of approval of these financial 
statements.  The base case assumptions make allowance, where relevant, for the anticipated ongoing impact of COVID-19. 
These have been subject to sensitivity analysis which considered reasonable downside scenarios and further stress testing of 
the forecasts.

The Board is satisfied that even under these scenarios there remains sufficient headroom for both liquidity and covenants through 
the period considered. This also assumed no mitigating actions which would be in the Group’s control, but the situation where 
this would occur is considered unlikely.

While the future macro-economic outlook remains uncertain, profitable current trading, cash generation, positive indicators of 
growth, and sufficient facilities means that the Directors remain confident that the Group is in a secure financial position and 
well placed to achieve its plans. The Directors therefore have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have adequate cash 
and covenant headroom for the foreseeable future. On this basis, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring services or goods to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the Group: identifies the contract with a 
customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; determines the transaction price; allocates the transaction 
price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or 
service to be delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts 
the transfer to the customer of the services or goods promised.

Revenue from the sale of perpetual software licences or software development kits on a ‘right of use’ basis, where no customisation 
of the software is required, is recognised at a point in time once the licence has been delivered to the customer and the customer 
can obtain benefit from the licence or kit.

Revenue from the sale of perpetual software licences on a ‘right of use’ basis, where customisation of the software is required in 
order for the customer to obtain benefit from the licence, is recognised over the period of time during which the customisation 
work is carried out in a manner which reflects the varying level of effort involved.

Revenues from the provision of customisation, configuration or training services are recognised over a period of time as these 
services are delivered to the customer.

Revenues from supporting perpetual software licences and revenues from the sale of software on a ‘right of access’ basis 
including software as a service, software hosting and software sold on a subscription basis are recognised over the period of 
time that the customer benefits from the provision of these services.

Revenues from the sale of third-party hardware are recognised once the associated performance obligation has been satisfied 
which will be once the hardware has been delivered and the customer is able to benefit from it.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021

1 | Accounting policies (continued)
Software as a service, software hosting, software sold on a subscription basis and support for perpetual licences are invoiced in 
advance. A deferred revenue liability is recognised in the statement of financial position to represent the element of the service 
or support revenue deferred to be recognised as revenue in the future. 

Sales Commissions 
The group incurs commission costs in respect of its contracts with customers, some of which contain performance obligations 
satisfied over time. The commission is being expensed as incurred. The group has applied the practical expedient where it 
applies, the remaining commissions are considered to be immaterial.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial information of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the date of those transactions. At the end of the financial year, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that 
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of the consolidated financial information, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into 
sterling using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each financial year. Income and expenses are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in a foreign currency translation reserve within equity.

Leases
Leases – company as lessee

At inception of the contract, the group and company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. It recognises a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee. The right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities are presented as separate line items in the statement of financial position. 

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the contractual payments due to the lessor over the lease term, with 
the discount rate determined by reference to the rate inherent in the lease unless (as is typically the case) this is not readily 
determinable, in which case the group’s and company’s incremental borrowing rate on commencement of the lease is used.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, plus lease payments made on 
or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and plus any initial direct costs. They are subsequently 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation. Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the term of the respective lease.

All leases are accounted for by recognising a right-of-use asset and a lease liability except for:

• Leases of low value assets; and

• Leases with a duration of 12 months or less.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group and company uses foreign currency forward contracts to reduce its exposure to risks from foreign exchange movements. 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured 
at fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in profit or loss, within operating costs.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets not measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income are classified as financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss. Typically, such financial assets will be either: (i) held for trading, where they are acquired 
for the purpose of selling in the short-term with an intention of making a profit, or a derivative; or (ii) designated as such upon 
initial recognition where permitted. Fair value movements are recognised in profit or loss.
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1 | Accounting policies (continued)
Exceptional items
The Group presents as exceptional items on the face of the Statement of Comprehensive Income those material items of 
income and expense which, because of the nature and expected infrequency of the events giving rise to them, merit separate 
presentation to allow shareholders to better understand the elements of financial performance in the year, so as to facilitate 
comparison with prior years.

Taxation
The tax charge or credit is based on the result for the year and comprises current and deferred income tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the year-end date and includes any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred income tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
included in the financial statements and the tax base of those assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax assets are recognised 
only to the extent that the directors consider that it is probable that there will be suitable taxable profits in the future against 
which an asset can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at tax rates that are expected to apply to their respective period of realisation, 
provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the year-end date. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax 
liabilities arising in different tax jurisdictions are not offset.

Provisions
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Group and Company a legal or constructive obligation 
that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefit, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

Provisions are charged as an expense to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year that the Group and Company 
becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the Statement of Financial Position date of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties. 

When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Pensions and post-retirement benefits
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme which is available to all employees. The assets of the scheme are 
held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds. Payments are made by the Group to this scheme 
and contributions are charged in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as they become payable.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on business combinations is initially measured at cost being the excess of the fair value of the consideration paid 
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. Costs of acquiring businesses are 
expensed as incurred. Goodwill is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed annually for impairment. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit which contains the goodwill. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is 
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed annually with the effect of any 
changes being reflected on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their 
fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are 
reported at their initial fair value less amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021

1 | Accounting policies (continued)
Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on a project is only 
recognised if management considers that it is technically feasible and that there are sufficient resources available to complete 
the asset so that it will be available for use or sale, that it intends to complete and is able to sell or use the asset to generate future 
economic benefits and that the costs of the development project can be measured reliably. Following the initial recognition of 
the expenditure, the asset will be carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Amortisation is applied once the asset is available for use to write off the cost over the period which is expected to benefit from 
the sale of the asset.

The annual amortisation rates applied to the Group’s intangible assets on a straight-line basis are as follows:

Software   20% 

Development costs  20%

Customer relationships  10%

Amortisation charges are included in ‘Depreciation and amortisation’ in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Company’s investments in subsidiaries
The Company recognises its investments in subsidiaries at cost less any impairment in its separate financial statements. Costs 
of acquiring businesses are expensed as incurred. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the 
investment. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.

The recoverable amount is determined using a value in use methodology based on discounted cash flow projections.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Depreciation is 
calculated at the annual rates shown below so as to write off the cost, less any estimated residual values, over the expected 
useful economic lives of the assets concerned:

• Office equipment at 15% - 33% on a straight-line basis

•  Motor vehicles at 25% - 33% on a reducing balance basis

•  Leasehold improvements over the remaining lease term

•  All other plant and equipment assets at 15% - 33% on a straight-line basis.

The remaining useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment are reassessed by the directors each year.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any indication exists, the carrying values are written down to the recoverable 
amount.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets if there is a triggering event to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of 
its recoverable amount provided that this does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.
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1 | Accounting policies (continued)
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less any allowance for expected credit losses.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue. The expected 
loss rate against certain balances is adjusted where there are specific indicators that the trade receivable is either irrecoverable 
or the risk of loss is high. Indicators include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group 
or a failure to make contractual payments for a period greater than 120 days past due.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand. For the purpose of the 
Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents as defined above are stated net of any outstanding bank overdrafts.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

Contract liabilities are recognised when payment from a customer is received in advance of performance obligations being 
satisfied. Contract liabilities are shown as deferred revenue within trade and other payables. 

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Equity and debt instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and borrowings which are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.

An equity instrument is any contract which evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group, such as share capital and share premium, are recognised at the proceeds 
received net of direct issue costs.

Contingent consideration
Contingent consideration is initially measured at fair value at the date of completion of the acquisition.

The accounting for changes in the fair value of contingent consideration arising on business combinations that do not qualify 
as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that 
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates and the 
corresponding gain or loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Share-based payments
The cost of equity settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value on the date they are granted. 
Where there are no market conditions attaching to the exercise of the options, the fair value is determined using a range of inputs 
into a Black-Scholes pricing model. Where there are market conditions attaching to the exercise of the options a trinomial option 
pricing model is used to determine fair value based on a range of inputs.  The value of equity-settled transactions is charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period in which the service conditions are fulfilled with a corresponding credit 
to a share-based payments reserve in equity.

On the exercise of share options, an amount equal to the fair value of the option at the date it was granted is transferred from 
the share-based payments reserve into retained earnings.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021

1 | Accounting policies (continued)
The Group has a Share Incentive Scheme under which all eligible employees can be awarded free shares. The fair value of shares 
awarded under the Scheme is the market value of those shares at the date of grant which is then recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period. The free shares awarded are issued at nominal value and held in a trust managed by a third-party 
trustee. On vesting, an amount equal to the fair value of the shares at the date the shares were awarded is transferred from the 
share-based payments reserve into retained earnings. 

Dividends
Dividends distributed to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the period in 
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders or, in the case of interim dividends, when they are paid.

New and amended standards adopted by the group – 
The group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual reporting period commencing 
1 May 2020:

• Definitiion of Material – amendments to IAS1 and IAS 8

• Definition of a Business – amendments to IFRS 3

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to 
significantly affect the current or future periods. 

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective – 
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 April 2021 reporting 
periods and have not been early adopted by the Group and Company.  

• IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements – classification of liabilities 

• IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets (Amendment – Onerous contracts – cost of fulfilling a contract)

• Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The Group and Company does not believe that the above changes will have a significant impact on the financial statements 
of the Group.

Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported for assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. However, the nature of estimation means that actual outcomes 
could differ from those estimates.

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements and estimates which have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Acquisition intangibles

The Group initially measures the separable intangible assets acquired in a business combination at their fair value at the date of 
acquisition. Management judgement is required in deriving a number of assumptions which are used in assessing the fair value 
of each acquisition intangible including the timing and amount of future incremental cash flows expected to be generated by 
the asset and in calculating an appropriate cost of capital. Management judgement is also required in assessing the useful 
economic lives of these assets for the purposes of amortisation.

Deferred income tax assets

Management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred income tax assets that can be recognised, based 
on the likely timing and level of future taxable profits. Details of the deferred income tax assets recognised in respect of trading 
losses and share-based payments are given in Note 7.
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1 | Accounting policies (continued)
Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
at the date at which they are granted. Judgement is required in determining the most appropriate valuation model and the most 
appropriate inputs into the model including the level of volatility and the expected life of the option. Further information is given 
in Note 24.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis in line with the accounting policy noted above. This involves 
judgement regarding the future development of the business and the estimation of the level of future growth, cash flows and an 
appropriate discount rate to support the carrying value of goodwill. 

Trade and other receivables

Management judgement is required in considering the recoverability of debts and in the estimation of expected credit losses 
which may be incurred. Further information is provided in notes 14 and 25.

Impairment of other assets

The Group reviews the carrying value of all other assets for indications of impairment at each period end. If indicators of 
impairment exist, the carrying value of the asset is subject to further testing to determine whether its carrying value exceeds its 
recoverable amount. This process will usually involve the estimation of future cash flows which are likely to be generated by the 
asset.

Development costs

Management judgement is required in assessing the fair value of development costs capitalised including the future economic 
benefit expected to be generated by those assets and in calculating the attributable costs. Management judgement is also 
required in assessing the useful economic lives of these assets for the purposes of amortisation. Further information is provided 
in note 9.

Revenue recognition

Management judgement is required in assessing the point at which revenue should be recognised. Revenue is recognised at 
the point when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer through the satisfaction of performance 
obligations. 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021

2 | Revenue
The directors consider that the Group has a single business segment, being the sale of information management software to 
highly regulated industries. The operations of the Group are managed centrally with group-wide functions covering sales and 
marketing, development, professional services, customer support and finance and administration.

An analysis of revenue by product or service is given below.

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Recurring software subscription/SaaS 32,183 22,092

Recurring support & maintenance 22,009 20,993

Total recurring revenues 54,192 43,085

Software – new licences & development kits 6,283 7,189

Professional services 5,169 5,910

Other revenues - 381

65,644 56,565

Revenue recognised on an “Over a period of time” basis 59,361 48,995

Revenue recognised on a “Point in time” basis 6,283 7,570

65,644 56,565

An analysis of external revenue by location of customers and non-current assets by location of assets is given below:

External revenue by location 
of customers

Non-current assets by 
location of assets*

2021 2020 2021 2020

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

United Kingdom 29,195 24,205 151,802 101,775

North America 23,321 18,861 27,471 15,094

Europe 7,064 6,548 3,658 4,010

Middle East 1,880 2,379 3 29

Rest of the World 4,184 4,572 762 712

Unallocated - - 2,091 2,296

65,644 56,565 185,787 123,916

*Non-current assets exclude deferred income tax assets.

The following table shows a split of revenue between brought-forward contract liabilities (deferred revenue) that were 
subsequently recognised and the satisfaction of in-period performance obligations.

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Revenue recognised in the period relating to brought forward contract liabilities 22,495 18,323

Revenue related to performance obligations satisfied during the year 43,149 38,242

65,644 56,565
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2 | Revenue (continued)
As at 30 April 2021 the value of contract liabilities relating to contracts with customers was £34,662,000 (30 April 2020: £22,799,000), 
defined as deferred revenue on the Statement of Financial Position. Contract liabilities have increased by £11,863,000 partly as 
a result of acquisitions in the year (see note 21) and an increase in overall contract activity. 98% of the deferred revenue balance 
as at 30 April 2021 will be recognised as revenue in the year ended 30 April 2022. 

 No single customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenue in either year.

3 | Operating costs

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries (note 4) 26,947 22,929

Lease charges – land & buildings 48 166

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 81 -

Foreign exchange losses 16 3

Net losses on financial instruments measured at FVTPL 121 24

Other operating costs 10,286 9,795

37,499 32,917

Depreciation and amortisation:

Amortisation of acquisition-related intangible assets 12,072 9,454

Amortisation of software 85 -

Amortisation of other intangible assets 2,481 1,814

Total amortisation of intangible assets 14,638 11,268

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 688 614

Depreciation of right of use asset 1,377 1,045

Total depreciation and amortisation 16,703 12,927

Total research and development costs 10,374 8,734

Less: development costs capitalised (3,884) (3,929)

Research and development costs expensed 6,490 4,805

Auditor’s remuneration

  - The audit of the consolidated and parent company’s annual accounts 12 12

Fees payable for other services provided by the Auditor and its related entities:

 - The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries’ annual accounts 192 141

 - Tax compliance and advisory services - 31

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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4 | Particulars of employees
The average number of staff, including directors, employed by the Group during the year, analysed by category, was as follows:

2021 2020

Number Number

Administrative staff 83 57

Sales and marketing 161 147

Technical and support 368 333

612 537

There were no staff employed by the Company in the year. 

The aggregate payroll costs of these employees were as follows:

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 27,016 23,466

Social security costs 2,988 2,578

Other pension costs (note 27) 827 814

30,831 26,858

Less: internal development costs capitalised (3,884) (3,929)

26,947 22,929

Share based payment costs (note 24)

 - on options granted 1,777 1,248

 - on share incentive scheme 515 442

 - national insurance 704 20

29,943 24,639

5 | Net finance costs

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Borrowing facility fees amortised 138 108

Interest payable on bank borrowings 764 656

Bank interest receivable (1) (14)

Interest expense on lease liabilities 98 53

Interest income on lease receivables (8) (4)

991 799
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6 | Directors’ remuneration and share options
The total remuneration of the directors (including fees) for the year was as follows:

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Directors’ remuneration 1,514 942

Directors’ pension contributions 37 42

Total per Remuneration Committee report on page 53 1,551 984

Aggregate gains made by directors on the exercise of share options 2,546 7,138

The remuneration of the highest paid director during the year ended 30 April 2021 was £516,000 (2020: £257,000). Details of the 
remuneration of individual directors is included in the Remuneration Committee report on page 53.

7 | Taxation
The taxation charge recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income can be analysed as follows:

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Current income tax

UK corporation tax on profit for the current year 598 1,521

Overseas income tax charge for the current year 699 664

Adjustments in respect of prior period – UK      (31) (76)

Adjustments in respect of prior period – Overseas      (14) (222)

Aggregate gains made by directors on the exercise of share options 1,252 1,887

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax credit for the current year (1,096) (1,828)

Total taxation charge recognised in the current year 156 59

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021



Ideagen Plc | Annual Report 2021

92 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021

7 | Taxation (continued)
The taxation for the year is higher than (2020: higher than) the average rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2020: 19%). The 
differences are reconciled below: 

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Profit/(loss) before taxation 779 (134)

Tax on profit/(loss) at average standard rate of 19% (2019: 19%) 148 (25)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 114 144

Enhanced R&D tax relief -     (494)

Effect on deferred tax from change in current tax rate - 519

Different tax rates in overseas jurisdictions 48 26

Movement in deferred tax not recognised (182) 40

Withholding tax expense 90 182

Withholding tax expense relief (17) (35)

Adjustment in respect of prior period      (45) (298)

Taxation charge recognised for the current year 156 59

A further taxation credit of £166,000 (2020: (£1,050,000)) in respect of share-based payment charges was reflected directly in 
equity reserves.

The movements in recognised deferred income tax assets during the year were as follows:

Deferred income tax assets: Group
Trading 

losses
Share-based 

payments Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 May 2019 - - -

On acquisition of businesses 841 - 841

Recognised in equity - (1,050) (1,050)

Offset against deferred tax liabilities (841) 1,050 209

     

At 30 April 2020 - - -

On acquisition of businesses - - -

Recognised in equity - 166 166

Offset against deferred tax liabilities - (166) (166)

At 30 April 2021      -      - -
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7 | Taxation (continued)

Deferred income tax assets: Company

Trading 
losses

Short term 
timing 

differences
Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 May 2019 70 - 70

     

At 30 April 2020 70 - 70

Recognised in profit or loss (70) 31 (39)

Offset against deferred tax liabilities - (31) (31)

At 30 April 2021      -      - -

At the 2021 Budget, the government announced an increase in the rate of corporation tax from 19% to 25% from 1 April 2023. This 
legislation has not yet been enacted so has not been considered in the determination of deferred tax. 

The deferred income tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is considered probable that they can be recovered 
against future taxable profits based on profit forecasts for the foreseeable future.

At 30 April 2021 the Group also had unrecognised deferred income tax assets in respect of trading losses of £1,965,000 (2020: 
£688,000) in the Group and £420,000 (2020: £427,000) in the Company. The unrecognised trading losses arise in entities where 
there is sufficient uncertainty on the ability to be offset against taxable income in the foreseeable future. These losses can be 
carried forward indefinitely. 

The movements in deferred income tax liabilities during the year were as follows:

Group

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances
Intangibles Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 May 2019 - (7,344) (7,344)

Recognised in profit or loss - 1,828 1,828

Recognised on business combinations - (3,312) (3,312)

Foreign exchange differences - (66) (66)

Offset against deferred tax assets - (209) (209)

At 30 April 2020 - (9,103) (9,103)

Recognised in profit or loss (176) 1,272 1,096

Recognised on business combinations - (10,506) (10,506)

Foreign exchange differences - 253     253

Offset against deferred tax assets - 166 166

At 30 April 2021 (176) (17,918) (18,094)

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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7 | Taxation (continued)

Deferred income tax assets: Company Total

£’000

At 1 May 2020 -

Recognised in profit or loss (175)

Offset against deferred tax assets 31

At 30 April 2021 (144)

The deferred tax liabilities at 30 April 2021 are expected to crystallise as follows:

Company Group

£’000 £’000

Within 1 year         (7) (2,056)

After more than 1 year (137) (16,038)

(144) 18,094)

8 | Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing 
the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year as adjusted for the effect of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The following tables set out the computations for basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year ended 30 April 2021

Earnings

Weighted 
average 

number of 
shares

Per-share     
amount

£’000 Pence

Basic EPS

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 623 236,926,552 0.26

Effect of dilutive securities: share options - 2,625,022

     

Diluted EPS

Profit of the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 623 239,551,574 0.26



Ideagen Plc | Annual Report 2021

95 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021

8 | Earnings per share (continued)

Year ended 30 April 2020

Earnings

Weighted 
average 

number of 
shares

Per-share     
amount

£’000 Pence

Basic EPS

Loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent (193) 223,167,142 (0.09)

Diluted loss per share

The weighted average number of shares and the loss for the year for the purposes of calculating diluted loss per share are the 
same as for the basic loss per share calculation. This is because the outstanding share options would have the effect of reducing 
the loss per share and would not, therefore, be dilutive under the terms of IAS 33.

Adjusted EPS

In order to better demonstrate the performance of the Group, an adjusted earnings per share calculation has been presented 
below which adds back or deducts items outlined in further detail below, which are typically adjusted for by users of financial 
statements. The calculations of the adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share amounts are based on the following information:

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Profit / (loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 623 (193)

Adjustments:

Costs of acquiring businesses 1,277 402

Share-based payment charges 2,997 1,710

Restructuring costs 406 830

Exceptional impairment of financial assets (trade receivables) - 1,989

RDEC grant income (260) -

Tax on RDEC grant income 49 -

Deferred taxation on share-based payment charges 88 (121)

Amortisation of acquisition-related intangibles (Note 3) 12,072 9,454

Deferred taxation on amortisation of acquisition-related intangibles (2,368) (1,348)

Current tax on restructuring costs (77) (158)

Current tax on exceptional impairment of financial assets (receivables) - (378)

Adjusted earnings 14,807 12,187

Weighted average number of shares: Basic adjusted EPS calculation 236,926,552 223,167,142

Effect of dilutive securities: share options 2,625,022 4,396,115

Weighted average number of shares: Diluted adjusted EPS calculation 239,551,574 227,563,257
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8 | Earnings per share (continued)

2021 
(Pence)

2020 
(Pence)

Basic 6.25 5.46

Diluted 6.18 5.36

Adjustments to earnings and EBITDA

Share-based payment charges are in respect of the Group’s equity settled share option schemes and the share incentive scheme 
and are excluded in the calculation of adjusted earnings and EBITDA due to their volatility from year to year which impacts on 
the underlying level of profitability.

Restructuring costs relate to redundancy and other costs linked to the COVID-19 pandemic and the closure of offices. Restructuring 
costs and the one-off costs related to the acquisition of businesses such as professional fees and stamp duty are excluded in the 
calculation of adjusted earnings and EBITDA as they are not part of the underlying trading activities of the Group and relate to 
events which are not expected to reoccur.

RDEC grant income is in respect of research and development relief. This is excluded in the calculation of adjusted earnings and 
EBITDA it is not part of the underlaying trading activities of the Group. 

The exceptional impairment of receivables in the prior year has not recurred in the year.  
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9 | Intangible assets

Group Goodwill Software Customer 
relationships Brand Development 

costs Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 May 2019 41,818 25,022 42,444 - 10,652 119,936

Acquisition through business combinations 
(note 21)

12,337 4,946 12,592 - - 29,875

Foreign exchange differences 211 79 178 - - 468

Additions - 35 - - - 35

Additions from internal development - - - - 3,929 3,929

At 30 April 2020 54,366 30,082 55,214 - 14,581 154,243

Acquisition through business combinations 
(note 21)

21,368 24,405 27,063 567 - 73,403

Foreign exchange differences (829) (294) (707) - - (1,830)

Additions - 329 - - - 329

Additions from internal development - - - - 3,884 3,884

At 30 April 2021 74,905 54,522 81,570 567 18,465 230,029

Amortisation

At 1 May 2019 - 14,537 10,750 - 3,900 29,187

Amortisation expense - 4,347 5,107 - 1,814 11,268

At 30 April 2020 - 18,884 15,857 - 5,714 40,455

Amortisation expense - 5,613 6,480 63 2,481 14,637

At 30 April 2021 - 24,497 22,337 63 8,195 55,092

Net carrying amount

At 30 April 2021 74,905 30,025 59,233 504 10,270 174,937

At 30 April 2020 54,366 11,198 39,357 - 8,867 113,788

 
Goodwill 

The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to the following Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”):

£’000

GRC CGU 73,655

Content & Clinical CGU 1,250

74,905

The GRC CGU comprises the businesses of the acquisitions of Gael, Pentana, Covalent, Pleasetech, IPI Solutions, Logen, Ideagen 
Software, Ideagen Capture, Proquis, Medforce, InspectionXpert, Morgan Kai, Scannell Solutions, Redland, Optima, Workrite, 
Qualsys, Huddle and Qualtrax.

The Content & Clinical CGU comprises the businesses of the acquisitions of Plumtree, MSS and EIBS.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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9 | Intangible assets (continued)
These goodwill amounts were tested for impairment at 30 April 2021 by comparing the carrying value of the cash generating unit 
with the recoverable amount. The carrying value of the cash generating unit comprises acquired intangibles (goodwill, software 
and customer relationships) and working capital. The recoverable amount was determined using a value in use methodology 
based on discounted cash flow projections. The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations were as follows:

(i) The operating cash flows for these businesses for the year to 30 April 2021 are taken from the budget approved by the 
Board which is closely linked with recent historical performance and current sales opportunities. The operating cash 
flow budget is most sensitive to the level of new business sales;

(ii) No growth has been assumed in operating cash flows for the remainder of the value in use calculation period;

(iii) A pre-tax discount rate of 9% (2020: 10%) has been used;

(iv) The use of cash flow projections over longer than a 5 year period is considered appropriate as many of the businesses 
comprising both of the CGUs have been operating for over 15 years, have strong recurring revenue bases and the 
Group continues to invest in the development of the products in both CGUs.

GRC CGU

On the basis of the above assumptions and using projection periods of 10 years, 15 years and in perpetuity, the recoverable 
amount of the CGU, based on a value in use methodology, is estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU by the 
amounts shown in the table below. Future annual operating cash inflows, which are most sensitive to the level of new business 
sales, would need to be consistently lower than the no-growth assumption used in the value in use calculation to reduce the 
recoverable amount of the CGU to below the carrying amount. Based on the historic sales performance of the business and 
actions being taken to grow the business, the directors do not currently expect this reduced level of future annual operating cash 
flows to occur.

Any significant change in assumptions would not lead to an impairment. 

Content & Clinical CGU

On the basis of the above assumptions and using projection periods of 10 years, 15 years and in perpetuity, the recoverable 
amount of the CGU, based on a value in use methodology, is estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU by the 
amounts shown in the table below. Future annual operating cash inflows, which are most sensitive to the level of new business 
sales, would need to be consistently lower than the no-growth assumption used in the value in use calculation by the percentages 
shown in the table below to reduce the recoverable amount of the CGU to below the carrying amount. Based on the historic 
sales performance of the business and actions being taken to grow the business, the directors do not currently expect this 
reduced level of future annual operating cash flows to occur.

Projection period in value in use 
calculations

In perpetuity 15 years 10 years

Amount by which recoverable amount of the CGU, based on value in use, 
exceeds the carrying amount (£’000)

2,943 1,759 1,008

Reduction in annual operating cash flows below the no-growth assumption 
used in value in use calculations required to reduce the recoverable amount 
of the CGU below the carrying amount

75% 65% 51%
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9 | Intangible assets (continued)
Development costs

Development costs are internally generated. At 30 April 2021, the carrying amount of ongoing development projects on which 
amortisation has not yet commenced was £2,730,000 (2020: £2,541,000). At 30 April 2021, the carrying amount of completed 
development projects on which amortisation is being charged was £7,540,000 (2020: £6,326,000). The weighted average 
remaining amortisation period of these assets at 30 April 2021 is years 2.44 (2020: 2.65 years).

The remaining amortisation periods and carrying amounts of the Group’s other intangible assets are as follows:

Remaining amortisation 
period (years)

Carrying amount (£’000)

2021 2020 2021 2020

Customer relationships

Ideagen Capture - 0.2 - 8

Ideagen Software - 0.9 - 39

Proquis 0.7 1.7 28 70

Plumtree 1.6 2.6 178 286

MSS 2.2 3.2 76 111

Pentana 2.5 3.5 397 553

EIBS 3.2 4.2 316 417

Gael 3.7 4.7 3,309 4,203

Covalent 5.3 6.3 1,108 1,318

Logen 5.3 6.3 94 111

IPI Solutions 5.6 6.6 1,535 1,809

Pleasetech 5.9 6.9 3,248 3,797

Medforce 6.9 7.9 2,330 2,920

InspectionXpert 7.3 8.3 1,798 2,237

Morgan Kai 7.4 8.4 7,330 8,319

Scannell Solutions 7.7 8.7 1,248 1,410

Redland 8.1 9.1 6,551 7,359

Optima 8.4 9.4 951 1,063

Workrite 8.8 9.8 2,988 3,327

Qualsys 9.3 - 5,309 -

Huddle 9.7 - 14,150 -

Qualtrax 9.8 - 6,289 -

59,233 39,357

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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9 | Intangible assets (continued)
Remaining amortisation 

period (years)
Carrying amount (£’000)

2021 2020 2021 2020

Software

EIBS - - - -

Gael - - - -

Covalent 0.3 1.3 53 251

IPI Solutions 0.6 1.6 199 526

Pleasetech 0.9 1.9 632 1,328

Medforce 1.9 2.9 690 1,148

InspectionXpert 2.3 3.3 509 795

Morgan Kai 2.4 3.4 1,805 2,377

Scannell Solutions 2.7 3.7 356 488

Redland 3.1 4.1 1,944 2,570

Optima 3.4 4.4 349 450

Workrite 3.8 4.8 1,003 1,265

Qualsys 4.2 - 4,326 -

Huddle 4.7 - 14,659 -

Qualtrax 4.8 - 3,337 -

Gael - addition 4.1 - 163

30,025 11,198

Software
Development 

costs
Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 May 2019, 30 April 2020 and 30 April 2021 121 489 610

Amortisation

At 1 May 2019, 30 April 2020 and 30 April 2021 121 489 610

Net carrying amount

At 30 April 2021 - - -

At 30 April 2020 - - -
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10 | Property, plant and equipment

Group
Fixtures 

and 
fittings

Office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Leasehold 
improvements

Loan 
equipment Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 May 2019 485 1,907 8 251 43 2,694

Additions 59 430 - 406 - 895

Acquisition through business 
combinations (note 21)

16 30 15 - - 61

Foreign currency exchange 
differences

(1) (1) - (7) - (9)

At 30 April 2020 559 2,366 23 650 43 3,641

Additions 66 394 - 2,179 - 2,639

Acquisition through business 
combinations (note 21)

- 170 25 62 - 257

Disposals (202) (214) (15) (245) - (676)

Foreign currency exchange 
differences

(5) (29) (1) (16) - (51)

At 30 April 2021 418 2,687 32 2,630 43 5,810

Depreciation

At 1 May 2019 275 1,152 8 147 43 1,625

Depreciation expense 86 440 1 87 - 614

Foreign currency exchange 
differences

- (1) - (1) - (2)

At 30 April 2020 361 1,591 9 233 43 2,237

Depreciation expense 83 396 - 209 - 688

Disposals (171) (208) (1) (202) - (582)

Foreign currency exchange 
differences

(3) (16) - (2) - (21)

At 30 April 2021 270 1,763 8 238 43 2,322

Net carrying amount

At 30 April 2021 148 924 24 2,392 - 3,488

At 30 April 2020 198 775 14 417 - 1,404
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10 | Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Company
Fixtures 

and 
fittings

Office 
equipment

Lease 
Improvements Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 May 2019 30 339 153 522

Additions - 48 62 110

At 30 April 2020 30 387 215 632

Additions 56 55 2,179 2,290

Disposals (30) (174) (154) (358)

At 30 April 2021 56 268 2,240 2,564

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 May 2019 26 199 76 301

Depreciation expense 1 46 49 96

At 30 April 2020 27 245 125 397

Depreciation expense 7 56 163 226

Disposals (29) (174) (129) (332)

At 30 April 2021 5 127 159 291

Net carrying amount

At 30 April 2021 51 141 2,081 2,273

At 30 April 2020 3 142 90 235

At 30 April 2021 the Group and the Company had capital commitments of £72,000 (2020: £2,000,000).

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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11 | Leases – Group as lessee
The Group has a number of leased office premises. Under IFRS 16, a Lease liability and a Right of use asset have been recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Position in respect of the leases set out below which represent the majority of the Group’s leased 
office premises.

Right of Use Assets
The Right of Use Assets in respect of these leased office premises were as follows.

Group Company

£’000 £’000

At 1 May 2019 2,403 1,168

Additions in respect of new leases 7,248 5,845

On acquisition of businesses (note 21) 195 -

Depreciation (1,045) (351)

Transfer of asset subject to sublease (494) -

Foreign exchange movements 5 -

At 30 April 2020 8,312 6,662

On acquisition of businesses (note 21) 277 -

Dilapidations provision 258 216

Lease reassessment (332) (586)

Depreciation (1,377) (667)

Foreign exchange movements (75) -

At 30 April 2021 7,063 5,625

 
Lease liabilities
The lease liabilities in respect of these leased office premises were as follows.

Group Company
£’000 £’000

At 1 May 2019 2,327 1,113

Additions in respect of new leases 7,248 5,845

On acquisition of businesses (note 21) 191 -

Interest expense 53 15

Lease payments (1,073) (324)

Foreign exchange differences 18 -

At 30 April 2020 8,764 6,649

On acquisition of businesses (note 21) 277 - 

Lease reassessment (332) (586)

Interest expense 98 59

Lease payments (1,009) (214)

Foreign exchange differences (112) -

At 30 April 2021 7,686 5,908

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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11 | Leases - Group as lessee (continued)
The maturity of the Group’s lease liabilities is as follows.

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Less than one year 1,027 1,039

One to two years 857 1,290

Two to five years 1,824 1,976

Over five years 3,978 4,459

7,686 8,764

Analysed as:

Non-Current Liabilities 6,659 7,725

Current Liabilities 1,027 1,039

7,686 8,764

The following incremental borrowing rates were used in the calculation of these lease liabilities:

UK leases   1.00%

US leases  2.00%

Other overseas leases  2.75%

The Group’s lease arrangements do not include variable payments. The total cash outflow for leases in the year was £1,009,000 
(2020: £1,073,000). 

The maturity of the company’s lease liabilities is as follows.

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Less than one year 242 259

One to two years        401 562

Two to five years 1,286 1,416

Over five years 3,979 4,412

5,908 6,649

Analysed as:

Non-Current Liabilities 5,666 6,390

Current Liabilities 242 259

5,908 6,649
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12 | Lease receivables 
During the year ended 30 April 2020, the Group sub-let office premises in Chicago for a lease period of 5.8 years representing the 
remaining period of the lease. The Group has classified the sub lease as a finance lease. 

The following table sets out the maturity analysis of the lease receivable: 

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Less than one year 83 89

One to two years 86 91

Two to three years 88 94

Three to four years 90 96

Four to five years 46 99

Over five years - 50

Total undiscounted lease payments receivable 393 519

Unearned finance income (17) (27)

Net investment in the lease 376 492

The timing of the recoverability of the net investment in the lease is as follows.

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Recoverable after 12 months 299 412

Recoverable within 12 months 77 80

376 492

The timing of lease payments receivable on an undiscounted basis is as follows.

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Recoverable after more than 12 months 310 430

Recoverable within 12 months 83 89

393 519

A loss of nil (2020: £5,000) on the transfer of the Chicago office premises lease from a Right of Use Asset to a lease receivable has 
been charged through the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year.  

Finance income of £8,000 (2020: £4,000) on this sublease has been recognised in net finance costs (note 5).

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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13 | Fixed asset investments
Company

Shares in 
subsidiaries

Cost £’000

As at 1 May 2019 71,767

Additions in the year 26,871

Transfer of shares to other group companies (6,656)

Capital contributions to subsidiary companies 1,690

As at 30 April 2020 93,672

Additions in the year 43,726

Transfer of shares to other group companies -

Capital contributions to subsidiary companies 2,292

As at 30 April 2021 139,690

Net carrying amount

As at 30 April 2021 139,690

As at 30 April 2020 93,672

At 30 April 2021 the Company held 100% of the nominal value of all classes of the share capital of the companies set out below. 
All of these companies are incorporated in England & Wales with the exception of Ideagen Gael Limited and Gael Products 
Limited which are incorporated in Scotland, Ideagen Inc, Ideagen Software Inc, Medforce Technologies Inc, Covalent Software 
Inc, InspectionXpert Corp, Morgan Kai Group Inc and Ocean Cloud Software Inc which are incorporated in the United States of 
America, Ideagen EOOD which is incorporated in Bulgaria and Scannell Solutions Limited which is incorporated in the Republic 
of Ireland.

Name of subsidiary Nature of business Class of shares

Ideagen Gael Limited Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary and ‘B’ Ordinary

Ideagen Software Limited Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary and ‘B’ Ordinary

Pleasetech Limited Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary

Ideagen EOOD Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary

Ideagen Software Inc. Non-trading holding company based in the USA Ordinary
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Name of subsidiary Nature of business Class of shares

Ideagen Inc. Sale of software licences, software maintenance and 
related professional services

Ordinary

Medforce Technologies Inc. Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary

Ideagen MK Limited Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary

Ideagen MK Group Limited UK-based holding company for the Morgan Kai 
companies

Ordinary and Cumulative 
Preference shares

Morgan Kai Group Inc. Sale of software licences, software maintenance and 
related professional services

Ordinary

InspectionXpert Corp. Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary A and Ordinary B 
shares

Scannell Solutions Limited Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary, B Ordinary and 
Convertible Preference shares

Ideagen Redland Business 
Solutions Limited 

Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

A Ordinary and B Ordinary 
shares

Ideagen Optima Diagnostics 
Limited 

Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary

Ocean Cloud Software Inc Sale of software licences, software maintenance and 
related professional services

Ordinary

Qualsys Limited Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

A Ordinary and B Ordinary 
shares

Harmony UK Holdings Limited Intermediate holding company Ordinary shares, A-1 Preference 
shares, A-2 Preference shares

Harmony UK Intermediate 
Holdings Limited

Intermediate holding company Ordinary shares

Ideagen Huddle Limited 
(formerly Ninian Solutions 
Limited)

Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary shares 

Huddle Inc Sale of software licences, software maintenance and 
related professional services

Ordinary shares 

Huddle SW PTY Limited Dormant Ordinary shares 

Qualtrax Inc Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary shares 

Ideagen Workrite Limited Dormant Ordinary shares 

IPI Solutions Limited Dormant Ordinary, A Ordinary and B 
Ordinary

Covalent Software Limited Dormant Ordinary, A Ordinary and B 
Ordinary

Covalent Software Inc. Dormant Ordinary

Filebutton Limited Dormant ‘A’ Ordinary and ‘B’ Ordinary

Ideagen Solutions Limited Dormant Ordinary

13 | Fixed asset investments (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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Name of subsidiary Nature of business Class of shares

Pentana Limited Dormant Dormant

EIBS Limited Dormant Dormant

MSS Management Systems 
Services Limited

Dormant Dormant

Ideagen Capture Limited Dormant Ordinary

Proquis Limited Dormant Ordinary

Root3 Systems Limited Dormant Ordinary

Ideagen Systems Limited Dormant Ordinary

Gael Products Limited Dormant Ordinary

The registered office address of each of the above subsidiaries is One Mere Way, Ruddington Fields Business Park, Nottinghamshire, 
NG11 6JS except for the following:

Ideagen Gael Limited, Gael Products Limited Orion House, Bramah Avenue, SE Technology Park, East Kilbride, G75 0RD

Ideagen Inc. Suite 2000, 11710 Plaza America Drive, Reston, Virginia 20190, USA

Ideagen Software Inc. 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware 19808, USA

Medforce Technologies Inc. Suite 410, 2 Executive Boulevard, Suffern, NY10901, USA

Covalent Software Inc. 4505 Chimney Creek Drive, Sarasota, FL34235, USA

Ideagen EOOD Office 14, 140 GS Rakovski Street, 1000 Sofia, Bulgaria

InspectionXpert Corp. 1 Glenwood Avenue, 5th Floor WeWork, Raleigh, NC 27603, USA

Morgan Kai Group Inc. 191 N. Wacker Drive, Chicago, Illinois 60606, USA

Scannell Solutions Limited National Software Centre, Mahon, Cork, Republic of Ireland T12 R29P

Ocean Cloud Software Inc. 116 Pine Street, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17101, USA

Huddle Inc 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware 19808

Huddle SW Proprietary Limited Spaces, 4th Floor, 21 Dreyer Street, Clarmont, Cape Town 7700

Qualtrax Inc 105 E Roanoke Street, Blacksburg, VA 24060
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14 | Trade and other receivables

Group 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Trade receivables 16,117 15,304

Prepayments 3,689 2,470

Accrued income 619 667

20,425 18,441

Trade receivables includes £nil (2020: £nil) which falls due for payment after more than one year.

Company 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Trade receivables 387 684

Prepayments 1,626 892

Accrued income 6 20

Other taxes and social security 120 - 

Amounts receivable from subsidiaries 23,958 12,763

26,097 14,359

The majority of sales invoices are due for payment 30 days after the date of the invoice however, in a small number of cases 
the due date for payment is extended by specific agreement with the customer. Where customers delay making payment, an 
assessment of the potential loss of customer goodwill arising from the enforcement of contractual payment terms may take 
place when considering actions to be taken to secure payment.

Amounts receivable from subsidiaries are payable on demand and do not bear any interest.

The carrying value of trade receivables approximates to their fair values.

An analysis of trade receivables ageing based on due date together with an allowance for expected credit losses is set out 
below.

Group 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Not yet due 10,586 7,860

1 – 30 days overdue 2,056 1,811

30 – 60 days overdue 1,039 1,690

>60 days overdue 3,576 5,258

17,257 16,619

Allowance for expected credit losses (1,140) (1,315)

16,117 15,304

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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14 | Trade and other receivables (continued)

Company 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Not yet overdue 279 365

1 – 30 days overdue 68 77

30 – 60 days overdue 7 35

>60 days overdue 51 343

405 820

Allowance for expected credit losses (18) (136)

387 684

The credit loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

The expected rate of credit loss in respect of all debts except those more than 60 days overdue at 30 April 2021 is 1.1% (2020: 
0.5%) of the gross balances and amounted to £156,000 (2020: £57,000) in the Group and £1,000 (2020: £2,000) in the Company.

The expected rate of credit loss for all debts more than 60 days overdue at 30 April 2021 in the Group was 28% (2020: 24%) and in 
the Company was 29% (2020: 39%) of the gross balances. This amounted to £984,000 (2020: £1,258,000) in the Group and £17,000 
(2020: £134,000) in the Company.

Trade receivables are shown net of an allowance for expected credit losses, movements on which are set out below.

Group 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Balance at the start of the year 1,315 1,417

On acquisition of businesses 194 60

Impairment losses recognised - exceptional - 1,989

Impairment losses recognised - other 751 281

Amounts utilised (1,087) (2,453)

Foreign currency exchange differences (33) 21

Balance at the end of the year 1,140 1,315

Company 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Balance at the start of the year 136 125

Impairment losses recognised 18 16

Amounts utilised (136) (5)

Balance at the end of the year 18 136
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14 | Trade and other receivables (continued)
 In the year ended 30 April 2020 there was an exceptional non-recurring impairment of receivables of £1,989,000. Due to COVID-19 
related uncertainties, the directors re-assessed the recoverability of certain trade receivables and those with customers operating 
in markets such as aviation and other impacted industrial sectors. It was concluded that specific balances in respect of three 
customers, which had originally been recognised in previous periods, had an increased risk of recoverability and would therefore 
not be pursued and were written off. Additional expected credit losses were also recognised for customers in markets expected 
to be impacted. The exceptional impairment was excluded in the calculation of adjusted earnings and EBITDA as it was not 
expected to reoccur.

15 | Trade and other payables

Group 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Trade payables 1,115 2,337

Other taxes and social security 2,660 2,481

Accruals 3,018 2,123

6,793 6,941

Company 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Trade payables 473 338

Other taxes and social security - 601

Amounts payable to subsidiaries 30,894 12,668

Accruals 820 744

32,187 14,351

The carrying value of trade payables and accruals approximates to their fair values. Amounts payable to subsidiaries are payable 
on demand and do not bear any interest.

16 | Contingencies 
For the year ended 30 April 2021, the subsidiary companies listed below are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006 relating to the audit of individual financial statements by virtue of section 479A. As a result, the Company guarantees all 
outstanding liabilities to which the subsidiary companies are subject.

Name of undertaking
Country of incorporation 
or registration

Company 
registration number

Ideagen MK Group Limited England and Wales 04694811

Ideagen MK Limited England and Wales 03528524

Ideagen Optima Diagnostics Limited England and Wales 04009163

Ideagen Redland Business Solutions Limited England and Wales 04170392

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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17 | Borrowings
On 5 May 2021, the Group extended it’s total debt facilities to £100 million through a new three year Rolling Credit Facility.  £75 
million of the facility is approved and committed with an accordion facility of up to £25 million that is approved but uncommitted. 
Security for borrowings under the facility is provided by way of a debenture over the assets of the Company and the majority of 
its subsidiaries.  

Group 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Balance at the start of the year 25,000 7,500

New borrowings 23,500 21,250

Loan acquired on acquisition of Workrite Ltd (note 21) - 257

Amounts repaid (28,500) (4,007)

20,000 25,000

The £257,000 loan acquired with Workrite Ltd was repaid immediately after the completion of the acquisition.

Company 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Balance at the start of the year 25,000 7,500

New borrowings 23,500 21,250

Amounts repaid (28,500) (3,750)

20,000 25,000

The carrying value of Borrowings approximates to their fair value. 

All of the group’s borrowings are in respect of a flexible revolving credit facility which currently has a 3-year term ending in 
April 2024 and accordingly it is not considered to be meaningful to include a maturity analysis of borrowings. All of the group’s 
borrowings on the revolving credit facility have been included within Current Liabilities.

18 | Provisions

Dilapidations provision Group Company

£’000 £’000

Balance at the start of the year - -

Additional provisions in the year    260 218

Transfers      47          -

307 218

The dilapidation provision covers the estimated costs of returning leasehold property to its original state at the expiration of the 
lease. It is anticipated that this provision will be used over the period up to 2035.
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19 | Deferred consideration on business combinations

Group 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Redland Business Solutions Limited - 500

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Workrite Limited - 25

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Qualsys Limited 1,570 -

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Harmony UK Holdings Limited 333 -

1,903 525

The £257,000 loan acquired with Workrite Ltd was repaid immediately after the completion of the acquisition.

Company 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Redland Business Solutions Limited - 500

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Workrite Limited - 25

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Qualsys Limited 1,570 -

Deferred consideration of the acquisition of Harmony UK Holdings Limited 333 -

1,903 525

No interest is payable on these deferred consideration balances and they are not subject to any performance criteria. The 
deferred consideration amounts on the acquisitions of Workrite Limited and Redland Business Solutions Limited were paid in May 
2020 and June 2020 respectively. The deferred consideration in relation to Qualsys Limited and Harmony UK Holdings Limited is 
payable in the year ended 30 April 2022. 
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20 | Financial instruments
Classification and measurement

Group 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Financial assets

At amortised cost:

Trade receivables 16,117 15,304

Lease receivables 77 80

Cash 8,954 8,216

Total current 25,148 23,600

Lease receivables – non-current 299 412

25,447 24,012

At fair value through profit or loss:

Derivatives: Forward foreign exchange contracts - 92

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost:

Trade payables 1,115 2,337

Accruals 3,018 2,123

Lease liabilities 1,027 1,039

Borrowings 20,000 25,000

Deferred consideration 1,903 525

Total current 27,063 31,024

Lease liabilities – non current 6,659 7,725

33,722 38,749

At fair value through profit and loss:

Forward foreign exchange contracts 121 116
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20 | Financial instruments (continued)

Company 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Financial assets

At amortised cost:

Trade receivables 387 684

Cash 2,326 1,697

2,713 2,381

At fair value through profit or loss:

Forward foreign exchange contracts - 92

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost:

Trade payables 473 338

Accruals 820 744

Lease liabilities 242 259

Borrowings 20,000 25,000

Deferred consideration 1,903 525

Total current 23,438 26,866

Lease liabilities – non current 5,667 6,390

29,105 33,256

The derivative assets and liabilities included above are not included in hedge accounting relationships.
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21 | Business combinations
Acquisition of Qualsys Limited
On 7 August 2020, the Group acquired 100% of all classes of the issued ordinary share capital of Qualsys Limited, a company 
incorporated in England, for total consideration of £15,763,000. The acquisition will strengthen the Group’s position in the Electronic 
Quality Management Software (‘EQMS’) market providing both a SaaS-native cloud platform and a range of SME and Global 
Tier 1 customers. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are summarised in the table 
below.

£’000

Non-current assets

Customer relationships intangible 5,739

Software intangible 5,090

Property, plant and equipment 8

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 389

Cash and cash equivalents 233

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (422)

Deferred revenue (1,659)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities (2,059)

Net identifiable assets acquired 7,319

The fair value of the consideration at the date of acquisition is as follows: £’000

Cash paid at completion 14,193

Deferred consideration 1,570

15,763

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is as follows: £’000

Fair value of consideration at date of acquisition 15,763

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (7,319)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 8,444

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Qualsys Limited as the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts 
in relation to the benefit of revenue growth, expected synergies and the assembled workforce. These benefits are not recognised 
separately from goodwill because they do not meet the criteria for recognition as identifiable intangible assets. None of this 
goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 
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21 | Business combinations (continued)
The costs of the acquisition of £363,000 have been expensed within a separate line in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 April 2021 and included within operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows. The Group 
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2021 includes revenue of £2,784,000 and profit after taxation, 
excluding amortisation of relevant acquisition intangibles, of £420,000 in respect of the business acquired. 

Disclosure of information on revenue and profit or loss for the combined entity as though the acquisition of Qualsys Limited had 
been completed on 1 May 2020 is impracticable as the accounting reference date of this company was previously 28 February 
and it did not prepare comparable revenue and profit information on a monthly basis.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Qualsys Limited: £’000

Consideration paid in cash 14,193

Less: cash acquired in subsidiary  (233) 

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 13,960

Acquisition of Harmony UK Holdings Limited 
On 30 December 2020, the Group acquired 100% of all classes of the issued ordinary share capital of Harmony UK Holdings 
Limited, a company incorporated in England, together with its 100% owned subsidiaries, Harmony UK Intermediate Holdings 
Limited a company incorporated in England, Ninian Solutions Limited a company incorporated in England, Huddle Inc a company 
incorporated and domiciled in the United States and Huddle SW PTY Limited a company incorporated and domiciled in South 
Africa,  for total consideration of £27,962,000. The acquisition is expected to enhance the Group’s document collaboration and 
compliance product suite. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are summarised in the table 
below.

£’000

Non-current assets

Customer relationships intangible 14,638

Software intangible 15,706

Brand intangible 567

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 2,209

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (1,984)

Bank overdraft (54)

Deferred revenue (4,876)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities (5,873)

Net identifiable assets acquired 20,333

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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21 | Business combinations (continued)
The fair value of the consideration at the date of acquisition is as follows: £’000

Cash paid at completion 27,884

Deferred consideration 333

Insurance claim (255)

27,962

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is as follows: £’000

Fair value of consideration at date of acquisition 27,962

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (20,333)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 7,629

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Harmony UK Holdings Limited as the consideration paid for the combination effectively 
included amounts in relation to the benefit of revenue growth, expected synergies and the assembled workforce. These benefits 
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the criteria for recognition as identifiable intangible 
assets. None of this goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

The acquisition costs of £459,000 have been expensed within a separate line in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 April 2021 and included within operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows. The Group Statement 
of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2021 includes revenue of £3,536,000 and profit after taxation, excluding 
amortisation of relevant acquisition intangibles, of £1,074,000 in respect of the business acquired. Disclosure of information on 
revenue and profit or loss for the combined entity as though the acquisition of Harmony UK Holdings Limited had been completed 
on 1 May 2020 is impracticable as the accounting reference date of this company was previously 31 December and it did not 
prepare comparable revenue and profit information on a monthly basis.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Harmony UK Holdings Limited: £’000

Consideration paid in cash 27,884

Add: Bank overdraft acquired in subsidiary    54

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 27,938
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21 | Business combinations (continued)
Acquisition of Qualtrax Inc 
On 9 March 2021, the Group acquired 100% of all classes of the issued ordinary share capital of Qualtrax Inc, a company 
incorporated and domiciled in the United States, for total consideration of $14,513,000 (£10,995,000). The acquisition is expected 
to enhance the Group’s existing business in the Global QHSE market and expands the Group’s US presence. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are summarised in the table 
below.

£’000

Non-current assets

Customer relationships intangible 6,686 

Software intangible 3,609 

Property, plant and equipment 249 

Right of use asset 277

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 1,253 

Cash and cash equivalents 78 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (765) 

Deferred revenue (2,837) 

Lease liability           (106)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities  (2,573) 

Lease liability           (171)

Net identifiable assets acquired 5,700 

The fair value of the consideration at the date of acquisition is as follows: £’000

Cash paid at completion 10,995 

Deferred consideration - 

10,995 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is as follows:: £’000

Fair value of consideration at date of acquisition 10,995 

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired        (5,700) 

Goodwill arising on acquisition 5,295 

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Qualtrax Inc as the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts in 
relation to the benefit of revenue growth, expected synergies and the assembled workforce. These benefits are not recognised 
separately from goodwill because they do not meet the criteria for recognition as identifiable intangible assets. None of this 
goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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21 | Business combinations (continued)
The costs of the acquisition of £147,000 have been expensed within a separate line in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 April 2021 and in operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows. The Group Statement 
of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2021 includes revenue of £670,000 and profit after taxation, excluding 
amortisation of relevant acquisition intangibles, of £21,000 in respect of the business acquired. Disclosure of information on 
revenue and profit or loss for the combined entity as though the acquisition of Qualtrax Inc had been completed on 1 May 2020 is 
impracticable as the accounting reference date of this company was previously 31 December and it did not prepare comparable 
revenue and profit information on a monthly basis.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Qualtrax Inc: £’000

Consideration paid in cash 10,995

Less: cash acquired in subsidiary             (78)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 10,917 

 
Business combinations completed during the year ended 30 April 2020

Acquisition of Redland Business Solutions Limited 
On 7 June 2019, the Group acquired 100% of all classes of the issued ordinary share capital of Redland Business Solutions Limited, 
a company incorporated in England, for total consideration of £18,039,000. The acquisition enhances the Group’s presence in 
the financial services market and the combination of Redland’s Insight platform with Ideagen’s Pentana product provides a 
compelling proposition covering internal audit, risk management, certification and SMCR compliance. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are summarised in the table 
below.

£’000

Non-current assets

Customer relationships intangible 8,083

Software intangible 3,131

Property, plant and equipment 35

Deferred income tax assets 743

Right of use asset 148

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 226

Corporation tax recoverable 127

Cash and cash equivalents 1,746

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (429)

Deferred revenue (1,402)

Lease liability (49)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities (2,131)

Lease liability (95)

Net identifiable assets acquired 10,133 
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21 | Business combinations (continued)
The fair value of the consideration at the date of acquisition is as follows: £’000

Cash paid at completion 17,539

Deferred consideration 500

18,039 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is as follows:: £’000

Fair value of consideration at date of acquisition 18,039

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (10,133)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 7,906 

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Redland Business Solutions Limited as the consideration paid for the combination effectively 
included amounts in relation to the benefit of revenue growth, expected synergies and the assembled workforce. These benefits 
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the criteria for recognition as identifiable intangible 
assets. None of this goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

The costs of the acquisition of £204,000 have been expensed within a separate line in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 April 2020 and in operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows. The Group Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2020 includes revenue of £4,120,000 and profit after taxation, excluding 
amortisation of relevant acquisition intangibles, of £666,000 in respect of the business acquired. Disclosure of information on 
revenue and profit or loss for the combined entity as though the acquisition of Redland Business Solutions Limited had been 
completed on 1 May 2019 is impracticable as the accounting reference date of this company was previously 31 March and it did 
not prepare comparable revenue and profit information on a monthly basis.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Redland Business Solutions Limited: £’000

Consideration paid in cash 17,539

Less: cash acquired in subsidiary (1,746)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 15,793 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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21 | Business combinations (continued)
Acquisition of Optima Diagnostics Limited  
On 10 October 2019, the Company acquired 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of Optima Diagnostics Limited, a company 
incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom, together with its 100% owned subsidiary, Ocean Cloud Software Inc., a 
company incorporated and domiciled in the United States, for total consideration of £2,176,000. The acquisition enhances the 
Group’s Quality, Health, Safety and Environmental (“QHSE”) offering. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are summarised in the table 
below.

£’000

Non-current assets

Customer relationships intangible 1,126

Software intangible 506

Property, plant and equipment 4

Right of use asset 47

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 51

Cash and cash equivalents 372

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (180)

Corporation tax (4)

Deferred revenue (321)

Lease liability (26)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities (310)

Lease liability (21)

Net identifiable assets acquired 1,244 

The fair value of the consideration at the date of acquisition is as follows: £’000

Cash paid at completion 2,176 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is as follows:: £’000

Fair value of consideration at date of acquisition 2,176

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (1,244)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 932 

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Optima Diagnostics Limited as the consideration paid for the combination effectively 
included amounts in relation to the benefit of revenue growth, expected synergies and the assembled workforce. These benefits 
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the criteria for recognition as identifiable intangible 
assets. None of this goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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21 | Business combinations (continued)
The costs of the acquisition of £76,000 have been expensed within a separate line in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 April 2020 and in operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows. The Group Statement 
of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2020 includes revenue of £726,000 and profit after taxation, excluding 
amortisation of relevant acquisition intangibles, of £271,000 in respect of the business acquired. Disclosure of information on 
revenue and profit or loss for the combined entity as though the acquisition of Optima Diagnostics Limited had been completed 
on 1 May 2019 is impracticable as the accounting reference date of this company was previously 31 December and it did not 
prepare comparable revenue and profit information on a monthly basis.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Optima Diagnostics Limited: £’000

Consideration paid in cash 2,176

Less: cash acquired in subsidiary (372)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 1,804 

Acquisition of Workrite Limited 
On 4 March 2020, the Group acquired 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of Workrite Limited, a company incorporated in 
England, for total consideration of £6,656,000. The acquisition is a key component of the Ideagen cloud proposition providing 
a content rich, scalable e-learning solution supporting the Group’s strategy as a consolidator within the Global QHSE market.

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are summarised in the table 
below..

£’000

Non-current assets

Customer relationships intangible 3,383

Software intangible 1,309

Property, plant and equipment 22

Deferred income tax assets 98

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 148

Cash and cash equivalents 137

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (79)

Borrowings (257)

Deferred revenue (733)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities (871)

Net identifiable assets acquired 3,157 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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21 | Business combinations (continued)
The fair value of the consideration at the date of acquisition is as follows: £’000

Cash paid at completion 6,631

Deferred consideration 25

6,656 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is as follows:: £’000

Fair value of consideration at date of acquisition 6,656

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (3,157)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 3,499 

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Workrite Limited as the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts 
in relation to the benefit of revenue growth, expected synergies and the assembled workforce. These benefits are not recognised 
separately from goodwill because they do not meet the criteria for recognition as identifiable intangible assets. None of this 
goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

The costs of the acquisition of £122,000 have been expensed within a separate line in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 April 2020 and in operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows. The Group Statement 
of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2020 includes revenue of £720,000 and profit after taxation, excluding 
amortisation of relevant acquisition intangibles, of £517,000 in respect of the business acquired. Disclosure of information on 
revenue and profit or loss for the combined entity as though the acquisition of Workrite Limited had been completed on 1 May 
2019 is impracticable as the results of this business were not previously separately reported under its previous ownership. 

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Workrite Limited: £’000

Consideration paid in cash 6,631

Less: cash acquired in subsidiary (137)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 6,494
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22 | Equity share capital, share premium and other reserves

Group and Company 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Issued and fully paid share capital:

252,298,765 ordinary shares of £0.01 each (2020: 226,583,386 shares) 2,523 2,266

Share premium account 102,924 55,364

Group and Company 2021 2020

Number Number

Number of shares in issue at beginning of the year 226,583,386 219,784,656

Issued on exercise of share options 2,572,000 6,427,167

Issued under the share incentive scheme 480,784 371,563

Issued on share placing at 215 pence 22,662,595 -

Number of shares in issue at end of the year 252,298,765 226,583,386

The total share issue costs during the year ended 30 April 2021 of £1,510,445 (2020: £nil) have been deducted from the share 
premium account.

Ordinary shares issued during the year ended 30 April 2021 on the exercise of share options were as follows:

Date shares issued Number of shares issued Issue price (pence) Share premium account (£)

19 June 2020 25,000 112.00 27,750

30 September 2020 90,000 35.00 30,600

13 October 2020 60,000 45.50 26,700

15 October 2020 30,000 112.00 33,300

4 November 2020 75,000 35.00 25,500

12 November 2020 1,850,000 1.00 0

12 November 2020 150,000 112.00 166,500

12 November 2020 25,000 141.00 35,000

12 November 2020 100,000 50.00 49,000

22 February 2021 167,000 50.00 81,830

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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22 | Equity share capital, share premium and other reserves (continued)
Ordinary shares issued during the year ended 30 April 2020 on the exercise of share options were as follows:

Date shares issued Number of shares issued Issue price (pence) Share premium account (£)

23 August 2019 10,000 35.00 3,400

16 September 2019 1,000,000 22.38 213,800

30 September 2019 225,000 35.00 76,500

4 October 2019 10,000 35.00 3,400

17 October 2019 1,333,333 9.00 106,667

17 October 2019 500,000 22.38 106,900

17 October 2019 380,000 37.63 139,194

20 November 2019 800,000 9.00 64,000

20 November 2019 1,795,000 22.38 383,771

29 November 2019 83,000 112.00 92,130

27 January 2020 50,000 50.00 24,500

27 January 2020 25,000 112.00 27,750

7 April 2020 7,500 35.00 2,550

27 April 2020 125,000 35.00 42,500

27 April 2020 83,334 50.00 40,834

Details of outstanding options over the shares of the Company are provided in note 23.

Merger reserve 2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Group 1,658 1,658

Company 1,709 1,709

The merger reserve is in respect of the premium arising on shares issued as part of the consideration provided on business 
combinations.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings of both the Group and the Company include an amount of £1,336,000 (2020: £1,336,000) which does not 
represent a realised profit and is not distributable.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve records the cumulative exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of overseas subsidiaries. 
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23 | Dividends
A final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2020 of 0.216 pence per ordinary share (in respect of the year ended 30 April 
2019: 0.188 pence) was paid to shareholders on 25 November 2020. The total cost of this dividend was £489,981 (in respect of the 
year ended 30 April 2019: £420,345).

An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2021 of 0.12 pence per ordinary share (2020: 0.104 pence) was paid to 
shareholders on 18 March 2020. The total cost of this dividend was £302,550 (2020: £235,408).

The directors have proposed the payment of a final dividend of 0.25 pence per ordinary share (2020: 0.216 pence) on 24 November 
2021 subject to approval by shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The total proposed dividend per share in respect of the year ended 30 April 2021 is 0.37 pence per share (2020: 0.32).

24 | Share-based payments, share options and share incentive scheme
At 30 April 2021 share options granted to directors and employees remain unexercised under four different arrangements. In 
addition, the Company has issued shares under a Share Incentive Scheme into a separate trust, which is managed by an external 
trustee, for the benefit of employees.

The share option arrangements are an Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme, the 2016 Share Option Scheme, the 2017 Long 
Term Incentive Plan, the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan and the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension. All options granted 
under the 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan had been exercised at 30 April 2019.

Ideagen Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme
The Company has an Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme which permitted the grant to directors and staff of share options 
in respect of ordinary shares in the Company. Since September 2015, no further options can be granted under this scheme. 
Some of the options granted under this scheme do not have the tax benefits normally associated with Enterprise Management 
Incentive options however these options are identical in all other respects. 

The Scheme is an equity-settled arrangement and options granted under the scheme have a maximum life of 10 years from the 
date of grant. Options are capable of being exercised in stages. One third can be exercised one year after grant date, a further 
third can be exercised two years after grant date and all options are capable of being exercised three years from the grant date. 
All options can be exercised in the event of a takeover of the Company. There are no other vesting conditions except to note that 
the options will lapse on leaving employment with the Group.

The following is a summary of the movements in outstanding share options under the Ideagen Enterprise Management Incentive 
Scheme.

Year ended 30 April 2021

Number of options
Weighted average 

exercise price (pence)

Outstanding at 1 May 2020 392,500 38.6

Exercised during the year (225,000) 37.8

Outstanding at 30 April 2021 167,500 39.7

Exercisable as at 30 April 2021 167,500 39.7

Of the options outstanding at 30 April 2021, 92,500 (2020: 257,500) options have an exercise price of 35 pence, and 75,000 (2019: 
135,000) options have an exercise price of 45.5 pence.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding at 30 April 2021 was 4.2 years (2020: 5.2 years).

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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24 | Share-based payments, share options and share incentive scheme (cont.)

The fair values of the options exercised during the year at the date they were granted and the price of Ideagen plc ordinary 
shares on the date of exercise were as follows.

Number of options exercised Exercise price Ideagen plc share price on 
date of exercise

Fair value per option at 
date of grant

Pence Pence Pence

90,000 35.00 190.00 10.16

60,000 45.50 208.00 13.20

75,000 35.00 215.00 10.16

225,000

Year ended 30 April 2020

Number of options
Weighted average 

exercise price (pence)

Outstanding at 1 May 2019 6,578,333 20.6

Exercised during the year (6,185,833) 19.5

Outstanding at 30 April 2020 392,500 38.6

Exercisable as at 30 April 2020 392,500 38.6

Of the options outstanding at 30 April 2020, nil (2019: 2,133,333) options have an exercise price of 9 pence, nil  (2019: 3,295,000) 
options have an exercise price of 22.38 pence, 257,500 (2019: 635,000) options have an exercise price of 35 pence, nil (2019: 
380,000) options have an exercise price of 37.63 pence and 135,000 (2019: 135,000) options have an exercise price of 45.5 pence.
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24 | Share-based payments, share options and share incentive scheme (cont.)
The fair values of the options exercised during the year at the date they were granted and the price of Ideagen plc ordinary 
shares on the date of exercise were as follows.

Number of options exercised Exercise price Ideagen plc share price on 
date of exercise

Fair value per option at 
date of grant

Pence Pence Pence

10,000 35.00 145.50 10.16

1,333,333 9.00 147.00 4.60

500,000 22.38 147.00 11.80

1,000,000 22.38 148.00 11.80

380,000 37.63 147.00 13.69

225,000 35.00 146.00 10.16

10,000 35.00 148.00 10.16

800,000 9.00 150.00 4.60

1,795,000 22.38 150.00 11.80

7,500 35.00 175.20 10.16

125,000 35.00 170.55 10.16

6,185,833

Ideagen 2016 Share Option Scheme
This scheme was introduced in the year ended 30 April 2017 to replace the Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme as no 
further option awards can be made under that scheme.

The Scheme is an equity-settled arrangement and options granted under the scheme have a maximum life of 10 years from the 
date of grant. Options are normally capable of being exercised in stages unless otherwise agreed by the Board. One third can 
be exercised one year after grant date, a further third can be exercised two years after grant date and all options are capable 
of being exercised three years from the grant date. All options can be exercised in the event of a takeover of the Company. There 
are no other vesting conditions except to note that the options will lapse on leaving employment with the Group if they have not 
been exercised.

The following is a summary of the movements in outstanding share options under the Ideagen 2016 Share Option Scheme.

Number of options
Weighted average 

exercise price (pence)

Outstanding at 1 May 2019 983,334 84.7

Granted during the year 500,000 141.0

Exercised during the year (241,334) 77.7

Outstanding at 30 April 2020 1,242,000 108.7

Granted during the year 250,000 171.0

Exercised during the year (497,000) 80.2

Outstanding at 30 April 2021 995,000 138.6

Exercisable as at 30 April 2021 278,333 119.4

Exercisable as at 30 April 2020 275,331 67.0

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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24 | Share-based payments, share options and share incentive scheme (cont.)
During the year ended 30 April 2021, tranches of 25,000, 30,000, 275,000 and 167,000 options were exercised when the Ideagen 
plc share price was 186 pence, 205 pence, 220 pence and 285 pence. During the year ended 30 April 2020, tranches of 83,334, 
83,000 and 75,000 options were exercised when the Ideagen plc share price was 170.55 pence, 180 pence and 190.5 pence. 

During the year, 250,000 (2020: 500,000) options were granted under this scheme with an exercise price of 171 pence (2020: 141 
pence) each. The fair values of the options granted were estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing 
model. The key inputs to the option pricing model in respect of any options which remained outstanding at 30 April 2021 are 
summarised below.

Year ended 30 April 2021 30 April 2020 30 April 2019 30 April 2018

Number of options granted in the year 250,000 500,000 550,000 300,000

Date of grant 20 May 2020 7 May 2019 3 May 2018 2 May 2017

Share price at grant date 171 pence 141 pence 112 pence 88.5 pence

Exercise price 171 pence 141 pence 112 pence 50 pence

Expected volatility 31% 33% 33% 33%

Expected dividend yield 0.17% 0.18% 0.20% 0.21%

Expected option life 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years

Risk-free interest rate 0.08% 0.95% 1.11% 0.51%

Fair value of option 46.51 pence 42.90 pence 33.73 pence 44.46 pence

Future share price volatility was estimated by using historic share price volatility over the most recent period commensurate with 
the expected life of the option.

The average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding at 30 April 2021 was 8.0 years (2020: 8.2 years).

Ideagen 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan
On 22 October 2018, the Company introduced the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan and 1,200,000 share options were granted 
under the plan at an exercise price of 1 penny to Ben Dorks, Chief Executive Officer.

600,000 of these options were eligible to vest on the Company’s share price reaching 196 pence over 30 consecutive business 
days with the remainder becoming eligible to vest on the Company’s share price reaching 259 pence over 30 consecutive 
business days.

Any shares issued in respect of the exercise of any of these options cannot be sold until the fourth anniversary of the grant date, 
except to cover the taxation charges arising on exercise, and are subject to continued service throughout. All options will lapse 
if the eligibility criteria are not satisfied or the options are not exercised within 5 years of the date of grant of the options. In the 
event of a takeover of the Company, different rules would apply and all of these options may become exercisable at that point. 

The fair value of the options granted were estimated at the date of grant using a trinomial option pricing model. The inputs to 
the option pricing model are summarised in the following table.    
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24 | Share-based payments, share options and share incentive scheme (cont.)

196 pence share price 
exercise condition

259 pence share price 
exercise condition

Number of options granted on 22 October 2018 600,000 600,000

Share price at grant date 156.5 pence 156.5 pence

Exercise price 1 penny 1 penny

Share price condition (barrier) 196 pence 259 pence

Expected volatility 32% 32%

Expected dividend yield 0.15% 0.15%

Expected option life 3 years 3 years

Risk-free interest rate 0.66% 0.66%

Fair value of option 118.6 pence 72.4 pence

Future share price volatility was estimated by using historic share price volatility over the most recent period commensurate with 
the expected life of the option.

No further options were granted under the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan during the year ended 30 April 2021.

During the year ended 30 April 2021, 600,000 options were exercised when the 196p share price exercise condition was met. 

At 30 April 2021, 600,000 options with a 259p share price exercise condition had not been exercised. 

Ideagen 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension
On 28 March 2019, the Company introduced the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension and 2,500,000 share options were 
granted under the plan at an exercise price of 1 penny to certain directors and senior managers.

1,250,000 of these options were eligible to vest on the Company’s share price reaching 196 pence over 30 consecutive business 
days with the remainder becoming eligible to vest on the Company’s share price reaching 259 pence over 30 consecutive 
business days.

 Any shares issued in respect of the exercise of any of these options cannot be sold until the fourth anniversary of the grant date, 
except to cover the taxation charges arising on exercise, and are subject to continued service throughout. All options will lapse 
if the eligibility criteria are not satisfied or the options are not exercised within 5 years of the date of grant of the options. In the 
event of a takeover of the Company, different rules would apply and all of these options may become exercisable at that point. 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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24 | Share-based payments, share options and share incentive scheme (cont.)
The fair value of the options granted were estimated at the date of grant using a trinomial option pricing model. The inputs to 
the option pricing model are summarised below.

196 pence share price 
exercise condition

259 pence share price 
exercise condition

Number of options granted on 28 March 2019 1,250,000 1,250,000

Share price at grant date 146.5 pence 146.5 pence

Exercise price 1 penny 1 penny

Share price condition (barrier) 196 pence 259 pence

Expected volatility 32% 32%

Expected dividend yield 0.17% 0.17%

Expected option life 3 years 3 years

Risk-free interest rate 0.66% 0.66%

Fair value of option 100.6 pence 58.9 pence

Future share price volatility was estimated by using historic share price volatility over the most recent period commensurate with 
the expected life of the option.

On 1 July 2020, 562,500 options were granted to Emma Hayes, Chief Financial Officer. 

The fair value of the options granted were estimated at the date of grant using a trinomial option pricing model. The inputs to 
the option pricing model are summarised below.

196 pence share price 
exercise condition

259 pence share price 
exercise condition

Number of options granted on 1 July 2020 187,500 375,000

Share price at grant date 182 pence 182 pence

Exercise price 1 penny 1 penny

Share price condition (barrier) 196 pence 259 pence

Expected volatility 31% 31%

Expected dividend yield 0.16% 0.16%

Expected option life 3 years 3 years

Risk-free interest rate 0.00% 0.00%

Fair value of option 166.4 pence 108.6 pence
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24 | Share-based payments, share options and share incentive scheme (cont.)
The following table summarises the movements in the LTIP awards during the year:

2021 

No. of options

2020 

No. of options

Outstanding at beginning of year 2,500,000 -

Granted 562,500 2,500,000

Exercised (1,250,000) -

Forfeited (812,500) -

Outstanding at end of year 1,000,000 2,500,000

Ideagen 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension 2
On 2 February 2021, the Company introduced the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension 2 and 500,000 share options were 
granted under the plan at an exercise price of 1 penny to certain directors and senior managers.

The options become eligible to vest on the Company’s share price reaching 259 pence over 30 consecutive business days.

Any shares issued in respect of the exercise of any of these options cannot be sold until the fourth anniversary of the grant date, 
except to cover the taxation charges arising on exercise, and are subject to continued service throughout. All options will lapse 
if the eligibility criteria are not satisfied or the options are not exercised within 5 years of the date of grant of the options. In the 
event of a takeover of the Company, different rules would apply and all of these options may become exercisable at that point. 

The fair value of the options granted were estimated at the date of grant using a trinomial option pricing model. The inputs to 
the option pricing model are summarised below.

259 pence share price 
exercise condition

Number of options granted on 2 February 2021 500,000

Share price at grant date 283 pence

Exercise price 1 penny

Share price condition (barrier) 259 pence

Expected volatility 31%

Expected dividend yield 0.11%

Expected option life 3 years

Risk-free interest rate 0.03%

Fair value of option 283  pence

Future share price volatility was estimated by using historic share price volatility over the most recent period commensurate with 
the expected life of the option.

At the year end 500,000 options remained outstanding. 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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24 | Share-based payments, share options and share incentive scheme (cont.)
Share Incentive Scheme
All employees are eligible to join the Company’s Share Incentive Scheme once they have been employed by the Group for six 
months. Subject to the Group achieving certain profit targets, “Free Shares” are awarded to all eligible employees. During the 
year ended 30 April 2021, up to £3,000 worth of Free Shares were awarded to eligible employees when the Ideagen share price 
was 227.5 pence (2020: 149 pence). There are no vesting conditions attached to the Free Shares other than being continuously 
employed by the Group for 3 years from the date of award. If an employee leaves the Group within the 3-year period, in certain 
cases the shares will vest and in other cases they will be forfeited. In addition, employees are able to purchase “Partnership 
Shares” at prevailing market rates out of their pre-tax income, subject to an annual HMRC limit of £1,800. No share-based 
payment charge arises in respect of the Partnership Shares. All Free Shares and Partnership Shares are held in a trust which is 
managed by an external trustee. On leaving employment with the Group the employee must take all of their shares out of the 
trust.

Details of the movements of Free Shares in the Share Incentive Scheme were as follows:

Number of Free Shares 

Outstanding at 1 May 2020 913,401

Granted during the year 415,310

Vested during the year (204,299)

Forfeited during the year (29,705)

Outstanding at 30 April 2021 1,094,707

Outstanding at end of year -

Effect of share options and the Share Incentive Scheme on the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income and Equity reserves

The total share-based payment charge in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income was as follows:

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Enterprise Management Incentive Share Option Scheme - -

2016 Share Option Scheme 145 199

2017 Long Term Incentive Plan Share Option Scheme - -

2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Share Option Scheme 495 383

2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension Share Option Scheme 1,137 666

1,777 1,248

Share Incentive Scheme 515 442

National insurance costs on exercise of share options 682 20

Apprenticeship levy costs on exercise of share option 23 - 

2,997 1,710
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24 | Share-based payments, share options and share incentive scheme (cont.)
With the exception of the national insurance and apprenticeship levy costs, these charges have been credited to a share-based 
payment reserve within equity. The balance on this reserve at 30 April 2021 amounted to £2,216,000 (2020: £2,370,000).

The total fair value at the date the share options were granted of the options exercised during the year ended 30 April 2021 was 
£2,315,000 (2020: £636,000). This was transferred from the share-based payment reserve to retained earnings during the year. 
In addition, a further £ 126,000 (2020: £121,000) was transferred from the share-based payment reserve to retained earnings in 
respect of shares which had vested under the rules of the Share Incentive Scheme.

25 | Capital and financial risk management
Liquidity risk and capital management
The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can 
continue to provide a return to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

The capital monitored by the Group consists of all components of equity attributable to owners of the parent as set out in the 
Group Statement of Changes in Equity other than the foreign currency translation reserve, any long or short term borrowings, 
contingent and deferred liabilities arising from business combinations disclosed in Notes 17 and 19 and cash and cash equivalents.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements other than the minimum capital requirements imposed by 
the Companies Act 2006 on all public limited companies.

Management actively review the cash flow position of the Group both in the short and medium term and maintain a level of cash 
and debt finance facilities designed to ensure that the Group has sufficient funds for its operations and its strategic requirements.

The Group and Company currently maintains a capital and debt structure which is appropriate for its needs principally through 
a combination of cash flow management and forecasting, the issue of new shares, primarily in connection with the funding 
of business acquisitions and through debt funding. At 30 April 2021, the Group had a revolving credit facility with National 
Westminster Bank plc of up to £50 million and had drawn borrowings of £20 million from this facility as set out in note 17. In early 
May 2021, the Group entered into a revised Revolving Credit Facility Agreement with National Westminster Bank and Santander.  
This is a £100 million facility of which £75 million is committed and a further £25 million is approved but remains uncommitted until 
a draw-down request is made.      

Foreign currency exchange risk
The greater part of the Group’s revenues and costs are denominated in sterling, however the Group is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk, principally through profits and cash inflows generated in US dollars by the Group’s US subsidiaries and through 
invoicing a proportion of overseas customers in foreign currencies, most notably US dollars and euros. The company does not 
have a material exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. 

The foreign currency exchange risk is partly addressed by maximising costs denominated in US dollars and partly through the use 
of forward contracts as appropriate to reduce this risk.

At 30 April 2021, Group trade receivables included the following amounts designated in currencies other than the functional 
currency: US$9,789,000 (2020: US$:7,215,000), 1,291,000 euros (2020: 1,502,000 euros) and AED 2,207,000 (2020: AED 2,288,000). 
Amounts designated in other currencies were not material.

At 30 April 2021, Group trade payables included the following amount designated in a currency other than the functional currency: 
US$278,000 (2020: US$1,803,000). Amounts designated in other currencies were not material.

At 30 April 2021, Group cash balances included the following amounts designated in currencies other than the functional 
currency: US$3,260,000 (2020: US$4,895,000) and 1,248,000 euros (2020: 835,000 euros). Amounts held in other currencies were 
not material.

To provide an indication of sensitivity, a 5% movement in the US dollar rate would result in a £1,100,000 impact to revenue.  

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021
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25 | Capital and financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk
Credit risk is primarily in respect of trade receivables and is managed on a Group basis. Management assesses the credit quality 
of the customer, taking into account past experience, its financial position and other factors. The Group regularly monitors its 
exposure to bad debts in order to minimise exposure. Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is minimised by placing funds with 
banks with good credit ratings.

Information on expected credit losses in respect of trade receivables is provided in note 14. To provide an indication of the 
sensitivity of the expected credit loss provision rates used as set out in note 14, a 10% increase in the expected credit loss rate 
applied to trade receivables more than 60 days overdue would reduce group operating profits by approximately £358,000 
(2020: £525,000).

Interest rate risk
The Group and Company have exposure to changes in market interest rates in respect of borrowings on its Revolving Credit 
Facility. Interest payable under this facility is currently at a variable rate linked to LIBOR such that any increases in general interest 
rates would increase future interest charges and cash out flows. The Group does not currently use any interest rate hedging 
instruments to minimise its exposure. Management does not currently have a formal policy in respect of how much of the Group’s 
exposure should be at variable or fixed rates however this is an area which is expected to be considered further in the medium 
term. The impact of a 1.0% change in LIBOR would be approximately £200,000.

26 | Short term lease commitments
As at 30 April 2021 the Group had the following aggregate commitments under non-cancellable short term leases in respect of 
land and buildings:

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Within one year 23 50 

23 50

27 | Pension schemes
The Group operated a defined contribution pension scheme for employees during the year. The pension cost charge represents 
contributions payable by the Group into the scheme and amounted to £827,000 (2020: £814,000). At 30 April 2021, trade and 
other payables included £151,000 (2020: £115,000) payable to the Group pension scheme.
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28 | Net debt reconciliation 
The movements in net debt during the year were as follows:

Group
Cash & cash 
equivalents Borrowings Net cash / (debt)

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 May 2020 8,216 (25,000) (16,784)

Cash flow 902 5,000 5,902

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash balances held in 
foreign currencies 

(164) - (164)

At 30 April 2021 8,954 (20,000) (11,046)

Company
Cash & cash 
equivalents Borrowings Net cash / (debt)

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 May 2020 1,697 (25,000) (23,303)

Cash flow 629 5,000 5,629

At 30 April 2021 2,326 (20,000) (17,674)

29 | Related party transactions
Ideagen plc is the parent company of the Group. There was no overall control of Ideagen plc.

Balances between the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, are disclosed in 
notes 14 and 15. During the year, the Company recharged £2,566,000 (2020: £2,767,000) of costs to its wholly owned subsidiaries 
and suffered recharges of £257,000 (2020: £262,000) from its wholly owned subsidiaries. During the year, the Company recharged 
£1,164,000 (2020: £1,717,000 of revenue to its wholly owned subsidiaries and received recharges of £160,000 (2020: £117,000) from 
its wholly owned subsidiaries. Details of transactions between the Company and other related parties are disclosed below. 

At 30 April 2021, trade and other payables in the Company included £nil (2020: £3,000) payable to Ultris Limited, a company 
in which Mr Alan Carroll is a director and major shareholder. This amount is in respect of fees and expenses payable to Mr Alan 
Carroll as a director of the Company. Amounts charged by Tony Rodriguez for his services as a director of the company are 
payable to X88 Limited, a company in which Mr Rodriguez is a director and major shareholder. At 30 April 2021, trade and other 
payables included £nil (2020: £2,500) payable to X88 Limited for these services. The amounts payable to Ultris Limited and X88 
Limited for the services of Mr Carroll and Mr Rodriguez respectively as directors of the Company are as per the remuneration of 
directors disclosed in the Remuneration Committee report.

Bonuses accrued by directors in current and in prior years but not yet paid at 30 April 2021 were as follows: David Hornsby 
£nil (2020: £230,000); Ben Dorks £180,000 (2020: £130,000); Emma Hayes £30,000 (2020: £nil); Graeme Spenceley £nil (2020: 
£30,000); Barnaby Kent £45,000 (2020: £15,000).

Total dividends paid to the directors of the Company during the year were as follows: David Hornsby £31,252 (2020: £29,856), 
Ben Dorks £8,264 (2020: £6,867), Graeme Spenceley £nil (2020: £3,884), Barnaby Kent £6,717 (2020: £7,519), Alan Carroll £687 
(2020: £596), Jonathan Wearing £nil (2020: £7,875) and Emma Hayes £113 (2020:£nil). Tony Rodriguez, Julian Clough and Richard 
Longdon did not hold any shares in Ideagen plc and therefore did not receive any dividends in the year or the preceding year.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021



Ideagen Plc | Annual Report 2021

138 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2021

29 | Related party transactions (continued)
Key management are considered to be the directors of the Company. The remuneration of the directors of the company is 
disclosed in in the Remuneration Committee report. The total remuneration of key management is set out below:

2021 2020

£’000 £’000

Salaries, bonuses and fees and related employer national insurance 1,327 1,057

Share-based payments 1,436 782

2,763 1,839

30 | Events after the end of the reporting period
Borrowing facilities
As referred to in Notes 1 and 17, a new Revolving Credit Facility was signed on 4 May 2021, which provides total debt facilities of 
£100 million. The first drawdown on the new facility which was to repay the previous facility, was on 4 May 2021.  

Acquisitions
On 9 July 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Opsbase Limited, an early stage but technologically complete 
health and safety software compliance platform.  Consideration was £1.9 million.     

On 16 July 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Advanced Digital Systems Inc, a company incorporated and 
domiciled in the United States of America and trading as Mi-Co.   Consideration was £3.1 million.  The acquisition will strengthen 
the Group’s technology offering providing a no- and low-code mobile application development platform to support the capture, 
collation and submission of data to facilitate regulatory compliance.

Due to the recent timing of the acquisitions and the availability of information, a full assessment of the fair values of assets and 
liabilities acquired has not yet been completed. 

The acquisitions were funded from the Group’s cash resources and its Revolving Credit Facility. 
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